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Banco Caminos, S.A. (hereinafter the “Entity”, the “Bank” 
or the “Parent”) is a credit institution that was incorpo-
rated on 2 February 1977 under the name Caja de Cré-

dito del Colegio de Ingenieros de Caminos, Canales y Puer-
tos Sociedad Cooperativa. On 18 June 1990 it changed its 
name to Caja Caminos, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito, as 
agreed at the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Assembly.  

At the Entity’s Extraordinary General Assembly held on 29 
June 2007, the following items were approved: 

The conversion of Caja Caminos, Sociedad Cooperativa 
de Crédito from a credit cooperative (Sociedad Coopera-
tiva de Crédito) into a corporation (Sociedad Anónima), in 
this case a bank, whereupon it would adopt the name 
of Banco Caminos, S.A. and its articles of association 
would be completely amended. 

An increase in the Entity’s share capital by 141,584 sha-
res, as follows: 
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Relocation of the Entity’s registered office to Calle Alma-
gro no. 8, in Madrid. 

The shares were issued at a par value of Euros 60.11 
each and with a share premium of Euros 120.22 per sha-
re, representing a capital increase of Euros 8,511 thou-
sand and a share premium of Euros 17,021 thousand. The 
subscription period for the capital increase ran from 15 
July 2007 to 15 October 2007, the latter date being the 
payment date. 

The capital increase was executed in a public deed on 
15 October 2007, and was subscribed and fully paid up. 
Following this capital increase, the Entity’s share capital 
stood at Euros 21,132 thousand, represented by 351,553 
shares. 

   
The agreements described above were executed in a pu-

blic deed on 8 February 2008, wherein the following infor-
mation was placed on record: 

The conversion of Caja Caminos, Sociedad Cooperativa 
de Crédito from a credit cooperative into a corporation 
(specifically, a bank) did not affect its legal status.  

Share capital was subscribed and fully paid up and for-
mer shares had been duly cancelled. The Entity’s share-
holders received one new share for each old share they 

previously held. To maintain the same proportion, the 
Entity’s share capital, as of the aforementioned date, 
was represented by 351,533 registered shares of Euros 
60.11 par value each. 

The Entity’s equity-capital was sufficient to maintain its 
capital adequacy ratio. 

The conversion agreement was authorised by the Di-
rectorate General of the Treasury and Financial Policy 
on 30 November 2007. 

The mandatory reserve fund of Euros 7,250 thousand 
(as per the balance sheets approved at 28 June 2007 
and 7 February 2008) was transferred to the cooperati-
ve “Almagro Sociedad Cooperativa de Consumidores y 
Usuarios” as approved at the aforementioned Extraor-
dinary General Assembly (see note 21.1). 

Caja Caminos, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito was offi-
cially removed from the Register of Credit Cooperatives on 
25 February 2008, under number 1429-SMT, given that the 
Entity was converted into a corporation named Banco Cami-
nos, S.A. 

On 10 March 2008, following the filing of the related 
public deed at the Mercantile Registry, Banco Caminos, 
S.A. was officially entered on the Register of Banks and 
Bankers under code 0234 and tax identification number 
A28520666. 

Subsequently, in 2009, 2010, and 2011, the changes des-
cribed in note 21.1 were made to the Entity’s share capital. 

On 13 December 2019 the merger of Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U. 
with and into Banco Caminos S.A., in accordance with Law 
3/2009 of 3 April 2009, and as authorised by the Ministry 

RECIPIENTS  SHARES
All shareholders   33,370

Holders of Series C shares   79,898

Personnel and directors   28,316

Total  141,584
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At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank was subject to 
the same general regulations as those governing the activity 
of credit institutions. 

The Entity operates under the name of Banco Caminos, 
S.A. and is governed by the articles of association approved 
at the Extraordinary General Assembly of 29 June 2007, and 
subsequent amendments thereto, and by the Spanish Com-
panies Act and other applicable legal provisions. The Enti-
ty is subject to legislation regulating the following matters, 
among others: 

Maintenance of a minimum level of funds at the natio-
nal central bank of a Euro country to cover the mini-
mum reserve ratio. 

Maintenance of a minimum level of capital. The legisla-
tion basically stipulates the obligation to maintain su-
fficient capital to cover the risks assumed. Compliance 
with the capital adequacy ratio is at consolidated level. 

Annual contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund, 
which serves as an additional guarantee to creditors, 
aside from the Entity’s capital, to cover customer depo-
sits up to Euros 100,000. 

Contribution to the Single Resolution Fund stipulated in 
Law 11/2015 of 18 June 2015 and its implementing le-
gislation, namely Royal Decree 1012/2015 of 6 Novem-
ber 2015, which transposes into Spanish law Directive 
2014/59/EU of 15 May 2014, establishing a framework 
for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions 
and investment firms. 

These consolidated annual accounts were authorised for 
issue by the board of directors of the Bank, Parent of the 
Group, at the meeting held on 3 April 2020 and have been 

of Economy and Business on 29 November 2019, was regis-
tered. Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U. was thus extinguished but not 
liquidated, and its assets and liabilities were transferred en 
bloc to Banco Caminos, S.A., which therefore acquired by 
universal succession all of the rights and obligations of the 
absorbed company. The merger was effective for accounting 
purposes as of 1 January 2019 (see note 15). 

As a result of the merger, the articles of association of 
Banco Caminos were amended to include the provision of 
investment services and activities, and the rendering of anci-
llary services, as envisaged in the Securities Market Law and 
the related implementing legislation.  

   
The standard and regular business activity of the Bank 

is to receive funds from the public in the form of depo-
sits, loans, financial assets temporarily transferred un-
der repurchase agreements or other similar instruments 
that entail repayment obligations, and uses such funds to 
grant loans, credit facilities and other similar operations 
to serve the financial needs of customers. Thus, it may ca-
rry out all types of asset, liability and service transactions 
that credit institutions are entitled to perform. Although 
the Entity primarily conducts its operations throughout 
Spain, it may also perform abroad such operations as are 
legally permitted. Moreover, as a result of the merger of 
Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U. with and into Banco Caminos S.A., the 
articles of association of Banco Caminos were amended 
to include the provision of investment services and activi-
ties, and the rendering of ancillary services, as envisaged 
in the Securities Market Law and the related implemen-
ting legislation.  

The Entity’s registered office is at Calle Almagro no. 8, in 
Madrid, and it conducts its business through two branches 
in Madrid and one in Barcelona, employing 181 people (130 
people in 2018). 
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Details of the companies that form the consolidated Group 

at 31 December 2019, indicating their registered office address, 
their activity and the percentage ownership held, are as follows: 

signed by the directors on the last page hereof. The conso-
lidated annual accounts are pending approval by the sha-
reholders at their general meeting and are expected to be 
approved without significant changes. The consolidated an-
nual accounts for 2018 were approved by the shareholders 
at their general meeting held on 30 May 2019. 

The Banco Caminos Group (hereinafter the “Group”) com-
prises Banco Caminos, S.A. and its subgroups, which together 
form a Group as defined in the current legal provisions.

1.2. Consolidated Group 

Bancofar, S.A. C/ Fortuny, 51. Madrid Credit institution  82.62% - KPMG

Corporación Banco 
Caminos, S.L.U.

Gabinete de Estudio y 
Gestión Jurídica, S.A. (*)

Gespensión Caminos, 
E.G.F.P., S.A.U. (*)

Gestifonsa, S.G.I.I.C., 
S.A.U. (*)

 C/ Almagro, 8. Madrid Asset acquisition and holding  100.00% - KPMG

FAM Caminos, S.A. (*)  C/ Almagro, 42  Related insurance broker  -  80.00%  Eudita AH Auditores 1986

Maxlan, S.A.U.  C/ Almagro, 8. Madrid  Land development, management,  purchase and sale  100.00%  -  Eudita AH Auditores 1986

Servifonsa, A.I.E. (*)  C/ Almagro, 8. Madrid  Administrative, financial and accounting services   87.27%  12.73%  KPMG

Sistemcam, S.A.U. (*)  C/ Almagro, 8. Madrid  IT services -  100.00%  Eudita AH Auditores 1986

(*) Indirect equity investments held through Corporación Banco Caminos, S.L.U. 

 C/ Almagro, 8. Madrid  Asset acquisition, management and sale   64.76%  35.24%  Eudita AH Auditores 1986

 C/ Fernando el Santo, 3. Madrid  Pension fund management  -  100.00%  Eudita AH Auditores 1986

 C/ Almagro, 8. Madrid  CIU management   -  100.00%  Eudita AH Auditores 1986

Registered office IndirectActivity AuditorCompany Direct

Percentage ownershipSubsidiaries and associates of Banco Caminos, S.A. 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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All subsidiaries are fully consolidated. 

The financial year for all of the companies is the same as 
the calendar year. 

Details of the capital and reserves and the carrying 
amounts of these companies that were used in the consoli-
dation process for 2019 are as follows: 

Details of investees at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are 
provided in Appendix I. 

   
The Group, composed of financial and non-financial com-

panies, aims to offer a wide variety of specialised products 
and services to customers, based on the Group’s own pro-
duct and service model. At 31 December 2019, Banco Cami-

Bancofar, S.A. 61,223 101,028 3,657 97,371 44,352

Corporación Banco Caminos, S.L.U. 30,000 39,983 5,241 34,742 30,000

Gespensión Caminos, E.G.F.P., S.A.U. 6,972 12,327 635 11,692 9,203

FAM Caminos, S.A. 481 6,654 1,103 5,551 5,384

Gestifonsa, S.G.I.I.C., S.A.U.  601 4,375               501 3,874 694

Gabinete de Estudio y Gestión Jurídica, S.A.  16,098 29,974 50 29,924 16,099

Maxlan, S.A.U. 13,226 18,681 (178) 18,859 14,522

Servifonsa, A.I.E. 250 250 - 250 250

Sistemcam, S.A.U. 601 1,412 127 1,285 602

Nominal
amount Other equityEquity

Carying 
amountCompany Profit or loss

Thousands of Euros

nos, S.A. has three branches (in Madrid and Barcelona), whi-
le Bancofar, S.A. has 29 branches located throughout Spain. 

The most significant changes in investments in Group 
companies in 2019 and 2018 are outlined in note 15. 
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The Group’s consolidated annual accounts have been 
prepared on the basis of the accounting records of the 
Bank and of the other companies forming the Group. No-
netheless, given that the accounting principles and mea-
surement criteria applied in the preparation of these con-
solidated annual accounts could differ from those used by 
certain Group companies, the necessary adjustments and 
reclassifications have been made on consolidation to har-
monise these principles and criteria and to align them with 
IFRS-EU applied by the Bank. 

In these consolidated annual accounts for 2019 the di-
rectors of the Parent have included comparative figures 
for the prior year. The information referring to 2018 in 
these consolidated annual accounts is presented solely 
for the purpose of comparison with the 2019 information, 
and therefore does not constitute the consolidated an-
nual accounts of the Parent for 2018. Certain insignificant 
changes have been made to the comparative information 
for 2018 disclosed in these consolidated annual accounts 
in order to enhance comparison thereof with the informa-
tion for 2019. 

   
The 2018 figures are not directly comparable with those 

for 2019, in view of the following: 

Leases 

IFRS 16 Leases replaced IAS 17 Leases as of 1 January 
2019 and includes amendments to lessee accounting (see 
notes 2.2.1. and 3.13). The Group has opted to apply the 
modified retrospective approach and, as permitted by this 
standard, has not restated the comparative information for 
prior years. 

The consolidated annual accounts of the Group have 
been prepared on the basis of the accounting records of 
the Group companies in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (IFRS-EU) to give a true and fair view of the conso-
lidated equity and consolidated financial position of the 
Group at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated results 
of its operations, changes in consolidated equity and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended. The me-
asurement criteria and principles applied are described in 
note 3 to the consolidated annual accounts. All mandatory 
accounting principles and measurement criteria having a 
significant effect on the consolidated annual accounts have 
been applied. 

Thus, the consolidated annual accounts of the Group for 
2019 are presented in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (IFRS-EU) and considering the provisions of Banco 
de España Circular 4/2017 of 27 November 2017 to credit 
institutions, on public and confidential financial reporting 
rules and formats (hereinafter “Circular 4/2017”) and sub-
sequent amendments thereto, which embody the develop-
ment and adaptation of IFRS-EU for the Spanish credit ins-
titutions sector. 

II
BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE CON-
SOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND 

OTHER INFORMATION 

2.1. Basis of presentation of the consolidated 
annual accounts 

2.2. Comparative information 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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IFRS 16 requires the lessee to remeasure the lease liability 
to reflect changes to the lease payments after the commen-
cement date due to certain circumstances, including a change 
in the lease term or a revised discount rate applied to lease 
payments. The remeasurement of the lease liability is genera-
lly recognised as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 

The Group has opted to apply IFRS 16 retrospectively to 
leases in which it is the lessee, recognising the cumulative 
effect of initially applying the standard as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of reserves at the date of initial applica-
tion and, as permitted by the standard, has not restated the 
comparative information.  

   
With regard to leases that were classified as finances lea-

ses under the previous standard, the carrying amounts of 
the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at 1 January 2019 
are the same, respectively, as the carrying amounts of the 
lease asset and the lease liability at 31 December 2018, me-
asured applying the criteria from the previous standard. The 
right-ofuse asset and the lease liability have subsequently 
been recognised applying the new criteria for leases intro-
duced by IFRS 16. 

At 1 January 2019 the Group has recognised the following 
items in respect of leases that were classified as operating 
leases under the previous standard: 

A lease liability measured at the present value of the re-
maining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate at that date, amounting to 
Euros 1,731 thousand (see note 18.4). 

A right-of-use asset measured an amount equal to the 
lease liability, recognised as per the preceding paragra-
ph, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued 
lease payments relating to that lease recognised on the 

A) New mandatory standards, amendments and inter-
pretations applicable as of the calendar year commen-
ced 1 January 2019 and thereafter, approved by the Eu-
ropean Union 

The main mandatory standards, amendments and inter-
pretations issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and approved by the European Union, appli-
cable in the annual periods beginning after the calendar 
year commenced 1 January 2019, are as follows: 

• IFRS 16: Leases  

On 1 January 2019, IFRS 16 replaced IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 
amends the lessee accounting criteria. 

It sets out the principles for the recognition, measure-
ment, presentation and disclosure of leases. The standard 
substantially carries forward the lessor accounting treat-
ment from the previous standard, by means of a dual mo-
del that retains the distinction between operating leases 
and finance leases. 

From a lessee perspective, IFRS 16 eliminates the dual 
accounting model and introduces a single model whe-
reby most leases are to be recognised on the balance 
sheet in a similar way to finance leases under the pre-
vious standard. The lessee initially recognises a liability 
representing its payment commitments and an asset re-
presenting the right to use the underlying asset over the 
lease term. The lessee must also recognise an interest 
expense on the lease liability separately from the depre-
ciation charge for the right-to-use asset. The standard 
includes two exemptions for lessees: short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. 

2.2.1. Main regulatory changes in the period from 
1 January to 31 December 2019 
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• Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment 
or Settlement 

IAS 19 outlines how entities should account for changes in de-
fined benefit plans, requiring remeasurement of the present va-
lue of the obligations assumed and the fair value of plan assets. 
Remeasurement requires the use of current assumptions to de-
termine the current service cost and net interest on the net de-
fined benefit liability (assets) resulting from a plan amendment. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 2019 has 
not had a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

• Annual improvements to IFRSs (2015-2017 cycle):  

The improvements included in this cycle affect IFRS 3 Bu-
siness Combinations; IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - clarifi-
cations on accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint 
ventures; IAS 12 Income Taxes - accounting for income tax 
consequences of dividends; and IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 2019 has 
not had a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

B) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet 
in force at 31 December 2019 

At the date of preparation of these consolidated annual 
accounts, new International Financial Reporting Standards 
and interpretations thereof had been published, but were 
not mandatory at 31 December 2019. Although in some 
cases the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
permits early application of the amendments, the Group has 
not early applied these amendments. 

balance sheet, amounting to Euros 1,731 thousand (see 
note 16.1).  

The Bank has also applied the standard to contracts that 
were identified as leases under the previous standard and 
has availed of the exemptions the standard provides for 
short-term leases and leases for which the underlying asset 
is of low value. 

• IFRIC Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax 
Treatments 

This Interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition 
and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is un-
certainty over income tax treatments. In such a circumstan-
ce, an entity shall recognise and measure its current or de-
ferred tax asset or liability applying the requirements in IAS 
12 based on taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates determined applying 
this Interpretation. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 2019 has 
not had a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

• Amendments to IAS 28: Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures 

This amendment clarifies that a company applies IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments to interests in associates and joint 
ventures to which the equity method is not applied and that, 
in substance, form part of the net investment in those asso-
ciates and joint ventures. 

The entry into force of this standard on 1 January 2019 has 
not had a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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ments and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accoun-
ting Estimates and Errors: 

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2020] 

The amendments introduce changes to align the definition 
of material with that contained in the conceptual framework. 
No significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements is expected. 

• IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – Amendments – IBOR reform 

The IBOR reform (phase 1) comprises the amendments to 
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 issued by the IASB to prevent the 
need to discontinue certain hedge accounting in the period 
leading up to the benchmark rate reform. 

In some cases and/or jurisdictions, there could be uncer-
tainty about the future of certain benchmark rates and their 
impact on the contracts held by the entity, which in turn 
leads to uncertainty regarding the timing or amount of the 
cash flows of the hedged instrument or the hedging instru-
ment. Due to this uncertainty, some entities could be requi-
red to discontinue hedge accounting in certain cases or may 
not be able to designate new hedging relationships. 

The amendments thus include several temporary simpli-
fications as regards applying the hedge accounting require-
ments, with respect to all hedging relationships affected by 
the uncertainty arising from the reform. A hedging relations-
hip is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainties about 
the timing or the amount of interest rate benchmark-based 
cash flows of the hedged item or of the hedging instrument. 

   
Inasmuch as the objective of the amendments is to provi-

de temporary exceptions from applying specific hedge ac-

• IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023, and early adoption is permitted] 

IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measu-
rement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts. 
The objective of the standard is to ensure that an entity pro-
vides relevant information that faithfully represents those 
contracts. This information gives a basis for users of finan-
cial statements to assess the effect that insurance contracts 
have on the entity’s financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. 
No significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements is expected. 

• Amendments to the IFRS Conceptual Framework 

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2020] 

The amendments to the conceptual framework include re-
vised definitions of assets and liabilities, as well as new gui-
dance on their measurement, derecognition, presentation 
and disclosure. No significant impact on the Group’s conso-
lidated financial statements is expected. 

• Amendments to IFRS 3: Business Combinations 

[Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2020] 

The amendments clarify the definition of businesses. No 
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial sta-
tements is expected. 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial State-
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The estimation of the need, or not, to recognise provisions 
and the amount thereof where applicable (see notes 3.6 and 
3.16). 

The recoverability of deferred tax assets (see note 23). 

The estimates and assumptions used are based on past 
experience and other factors that are considered the most 
reasonable under the current circumstances, and are re-
viewed periodically. The effect of any change in accounting 
estimates following such a review or due to future events 
is recognised in the consolidated income statement for the 
period of the change and future periods. 

For consolidation purposes, and pursuant to the criteria 
set out in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 
11 Joint Arrangements and IAS 28 Investments in Associa-
tes and Joint Ventures, the Group is formed by four types 
of companies: subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and 
structured entities, which are defined as follows. 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. 
An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the in-
vestee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee. 

To be considered a subsidiary, the following must occur: 

a. Power: An investor has power over an investee when 
the investor has existing rights that give it the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities; i.e. the activities 
that significantly affect the investee’s returns. 

counting requirements, these exceptions will end once the 
uncertainty is resolved or the hedge ceases to exist. 

The amendments apply for annual reporting periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2020, although earlier appli-
cation is permitted. The Group has not early applied these 
amendments at 31 December 2019, on considering that the 
existing uncertainty does not affect its hedging relationships 
to such an extent that some may need to be discontinued. 
No significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements is expected from 2020 onwards. 

The information included in the consolidated annual ac-
counts is the responsibility of the Parent’s directors. The pre-
paration of certain information included in these consolidated 
annual accounts has required the directors of the Parent to 
make judgements and estimates based on assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses and 
obligations. The most significant estimates used in preparing 
these consolidated annual accounts are as follows:  

Impairment losses on financial assets and non-current as-
sets held for sale (see notes 3.7 and 3.13).
 
Impairment losses on and useful lives of tangible and intan-
gible assets (see notes 3.10 and 3.11).
 
The assumptions used in the actuarial calculations perfor-
med to measure post-employment benefit liabilities and 
obligations (see note 3.14). 

The fair value of certain financial assets not quoted on offi-
cial secondary markets (see notes 3.5 and 3.8). 

2.3. Use of judgements and estimates 
when preparing the consolidated financial statements

2.4. Consolidation principles 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Joint ventures 

These are entities over which there is contractually agreed 
sharing of control. A joint arrangement is a contractual 
arrangement giving two or more parties, or “venturers” in a 
joint venture, control over an activity that is subject to joint 
control. In a joint arrangement, no one party has control 
over the arrangement, but rather control is shared with the 
other parties, which implies, contractually, that decisions 
about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control.  

The Group had no interests in joint ventures at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 or 2018. 

Associates 

Associates are entities over which the Bank is in a position to 
exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control.  

This usually occurs when a direct or indirect investment of 
20% or more of the voting rights of the investee is held. At 31 
December 2019 and 2018, there are no entities in which 20% 
or more of the voting rights are held that are not considered 
associates. 

Associates are accounted for using the equity method in 
the consolidated annual accounts. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018 the Group has no invest-
ments in associates. 

Structured entities 

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that 
voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding 
who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate 

b. Returns: An investor is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the in-
vestee when the investor’s returns from its involve-
ment have the potential to vary as a result of the 
investee’s performance. The investor’s returns can 
be only positive, only negative or both positive and 
negative. 

c. Link between power and returns: An investor 
controls an investee if the investor not only has 
power over the investee and exposure or rights to 
variable returns from its involvement with the in-
vestee, but also has the ability to use its power to 
affect the investor’s returns from its involvement 
with the investee. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are fully consoli-
dated with those of the Bank. 

The share of non-controlling interests of subsidiaries in 
the Group’s consolidated equity are presented under mino-
rity interests [non-controlling interests] on the consolidated 
balance sheet, while their share of profit or loss is presented 
under profit or loss for the year - attributable to minority 
interests (non-controlling interests) in the consolidated inco-
me statement. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are 
consolidated only from the date of acquisition to the repor-
ting date. 

Similarly, the results of subsidiaries disposed of during the 
year are consolidated only from the beginning of the year to 
the date of disposal. 

Appendix I contains significant information on these com-
panies at 31 December 2019 and 2018. 



14

rements for credit institutions and investment firms (“Re-
gulation (EU) No 575/2013”) and Directive 2013/36/EU on 
access to the activity of credit institutions and the pruden-
tial supervision of credit institutions and investment firms 
(“Directive 2013/36/EU”) were approved. These came into 
effect on 1 January 2014 with progressive phasing in until 
1 January 2019, repealing the solvency regulations in force 
until then. 

Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 and Directive 2013/36/EU 
regulate capital requirements in the European Union and 
include the recommendations set out in the Basel III, the 
capital adequacy accord, specifically:  

Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, which is directly appli-
cable to Member States, contains prudential require-
ments for credit institutions and covers, inter alia, the 
following: 

The definition of the components of eligible capital, 
establishing the eligibility requirements for hybrid 
instruments and limiting the eligibility of minority 
interests. 

The definition of prudential filters and deductions 
applied to the capital components in each tier. In 
this respect, the Regulation includes new deduc-
tions compared to Basel II (net tax assets, pension 
funds, etc.) and introduces changes to existing de-
ductions. Nevertheless, it establishes a phase-in 
schedule of between 5 and 10 years for full imple-
mentation. 

The specification of minimum requirements, with 
three levels of own funds: a Common Equity Tier 1 
capital ratio of 4.5%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of 6% and 
a total capital ratio of 8%.  

to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are di-
rected by means of contractual arrangements.  

At 31 December 2019 and 2018 the Group has no invest-
ments in structured entities. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the 
preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial state-
ments have been prepared as of the same reporting date as 
the consolidated financial statements. In the event financial 
statements at the same date are not available, the most re-
cent financial statements, dating back no more than three 
months, are used, adjusted where necessary for the effects 
of the most significant transactions carried out up to the 
date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. At 31 
December 2019, the financial statements of all of the Group 
companies at that date were available. 

Separate financial statements 

The separate financial statements of the Group’s Parent 
are prepared under Spanish accounting principles (Banco de 
España Circular 4/2017 and subsequent amendments there-
to, and other provisions of the financial reporting framework 
applicable to the Bank). Banco Caminos, S.A. accounts for its 
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
in its separate financial statements using the cost method, 
as envisaged in the aforementioned Circular 4/2017 and as 
permitted by IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements. 

The separate financial statements of Banco Caminos, S.A. 
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are presented in Appendix II. 

On 26 June 2013, Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and of the Council on prudential requi-

2.5. Capital management objectives, policies and processes 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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In addition, with regard to supervisory powers, Directive 
2013/36/EU provides that the competent authority may re-
quire credit institutions to maintain higher levels of capital 
than the minimum requirement specified in the Directive. 

To further strengthen the resilience of banks, on 23 No-
vember 2016 the European Commission presented a pac-
kage of banking reforms amending the existing legislation 
on capital requirements set forth in Regulation (EU) No 
575/2013 and Directive 2013/36/EU, and on the resolution 
of institutions (Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive or 
BRRD). The package of banking reforms was opened up to 
public consultation on that date, until it was submitted for 
consideration by the European Parliament and Council in 
November 2018 and subsequently endorsed by the ECOFIN 
on 4 December 2018. These measures ultimately came into 
force on 27 June 2019 through Regulation (EU) No 2019/876. 

   
Regarding Spanish regulations, the new legislation is es-

sentially aimed at transposing European rules at local level: 

Banco de España Circular 2/2014 of 31 January 2014, to 
credit institutions, on the exercise of various regulatory 
options contained in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013. The 
purpose is to establish, in accordance with the powers 
granted, which of the options attributed to national com-
petent authorities under Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 
will be mandatory as of 1 January 2014 for consolidable 
groups of credit institutions, and for credit institutions 
whether or not they form part of a consolidable group, 
and to what extent. To this end, in this Circular the Ban-
co de España provides some of the permanent regula-
tory options envisaged in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, 
so as to allow for continuity in the treatment applied to 
certain matters under Spanish legislation before the EU 
Regulation came into force, which in some cases stem-
med from the business model traditionally followed by 

The requirement for financial institutions to calcu-
late a leverage ratio, defined as the institution’s Tier 
1 capital measure divided by that institution’s total 
exposure measure, unadjusted for risk. The requi-
rement to publicly disclose the ratio applies from 
2015 onwards. 

The main objective and subject-matter of Directive 
2013/36/EU is to coordinate national provisions con-
cerning access to the activity of credit institutions and 
investment firms, the modalities for their governance, 
and their supervisory framework. This Directive must 
be transposed into national legislation by the Member 
States according to their criteria. Directive 2013/36/EU 
includes, inter alia, additional capital requirements to 
those laid down in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, which 
will be phased in progressively until 2019. Failure to 
meet these requirements will result in restrictions on 
discretionary distributions of profit. Such requirements 
specifically include: 

A capital conservation buffer and a countercycli-
cal capital buffer. Following on from the Basel III 
regulatory framework, and to mitigate pro-cyclical 
effects of financial regulation, all financial institu-
tions are required maintain a capital conservation 
buffer of 2.5% of Common Equity Tier 1 capital 
and an institution-specific countercyclical capital 
buffer based on Common Equity Tier 1 capital. 

A systemic risk buffer. For global systemically 
important institutions and other systemically im-
portant institutions, to mitigate systemic or ma-
croprudential risks; i.e. risks of disruption in the 
financial system with the potential to have serious 
negative consequences for the financial system 
and the real economy in a specific Member State. 
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for the national competent authorities to those inclu-
ded in Circular 2/2014. Specifically, and subject to prior 
authorisation by the Banco de España, it includes the 
possibility of treating certain exposures through public 
sector entities with the same weighting as the tier of 
government on which they rely. 
   
Banco de España Circular 3/2017 of 24 October 2017, 
amending certain aspects of Circular 2/2014 of 31 
January 2014. Its scope of application has been limited 
to less significant institutions, the contents of the Cir-
cular have been adapted to the ECB’s guidelines, and it 
eliminates the rules regarding the transitional arrange-
ments that were in force until 2017. 

Royal Decree-Law 22/2018 of 14 December 2018 in-
troducing macroprudential tools and limits on sector 
concentration, as well as conditions for lending and 
other exposures. In this respect, the Banco de España 
may require institutions to maintain a countercyclical 
capital buffer for all of their exposures or for exposu-
res through a specific sector. 

The Group uses the following methods when calculating 
its minimum capital requirements: 

To calculate capital requirements for risk-weighted ex-
posures in respect of credit, counterparty and dilution 
risk and for free deliveries: the standardised approach. 

To calculate its capital requirements in respect of ope-
rational risk: the basic indicator approach. 

To determine overall exposure to credit valuation ad-
justment risk: the standardised approach. 

The Group was not exposed to settlement-delivery risk, 

Spanish institutions. This does not rule out the possi-
bility of other options envisaged in Regulation (EU) No 
575/2013 for competent authorities being availed of in 
the future in many instances, particularly in the case of 
specific options applied directly under Regulation (EU) 
No 575/2013 without the need for their inclusion in a 
Banco de España circular. 

Law 10/2014 of 26 June 2014 on the regulation, supervi-
sion and solvency of credit institutions, the aim of which 
is to further the transposition of Directive 2013/36/EU 
initiated by Royal Decree-Law 14/2013 of 29 November 
2013, and to recast certain national provisions in force 
at the time regarding regulatory and disciplinary rules 
for credit institutions. Among other developments, this 
law introduces for the first time an express obligation 
for the Banco de España to present, at least annually, 
a supervisory programme setting out the content and 
how it will perform its supervisory activity, and the me-
asures to be adopted in view of the results obtained. 
Under this programme a stress test must be carried out 
at least once a year. 

Banco de España Circular 3/2014 of 30 July 2014. Among 
other measures, this Circular amends Circular 2/2014 
of 31 January 2014 on the exercise of various regula-
tory options contained in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 
on prudential requirements for credit institutions and 
investment firms, in order to unify the treatment of the 
deduction of intangible assets during the transitional 
period set out in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, equating 
the treatment of goodwill to that of all other intangible 
assets.

Banco de España Circular 2/2016 of 2 February 2016. 
This Circular completes the transposition of Directive 
2013/36/EU and includes additional regulatory options 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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ble in analyses associated with the Entity’s investment 
decision making. 

Reinforce the proportion of Tier 1 capital with respect 
to the Group’s capital as a whole. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, and during both years, 
the Bank complied with the minimum reserve ratio requi-
red by applicable Spanish legislation. 

position risk, currency risk, commodities risk or other 
significant risks at 31 December 2019 and 2018. 

Details of the Group’s capital levels at 31 December 2019 
and 2018 calculated in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 
575/2013 and Directive 2013/36/EU are as follows: 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Banco Caminos 
Group’s capital ratios were above the minimum thresholds 
stipulated by the Banco de España through article 68.2.a of 
Law 10/2014. 

Group management has set the following strategic objecti-
ves for capital management: 

Consistently comply with applicable legislation on mini-
mum capital requirements. 

Seek maximum capital management efficiency in order 
for capital consumption to be considered, alongside 
other return and risk variables, as a fundamental varia-

Essentially includes share capital, reserves, profit or loss for the year and temporary adjustments for minority interests that qualify for inclusion in Common Equity Tier 1 
capital; less treasury shares, goodwill and intangible assets, and other temporary adjustments to additional Tier1 capital. 

Includes general credit risk adjustments applying the standardised approach.

Tier 1 capital (1)  215,677 13.91 213,116 14.95

Tier 2 capital (2) -  - 

Total capital 215,677 13.91 213,116 14.95

Total risk exposure  1,550,893  1,425,181

Thousands 
of Euros

Thousands 
of Euros % %      

(1) 

(2) 

2019 2018

2.6. Minimum reserve ratio 
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of the Single Resolution Fund and calculation of the ex-ante 
contributions to be made by the different institutions has 
been the responsibility of the Single Resolution Board since 
1 January 2016. 

   
Each institution’s contribution is calculated according to 

its respective share of the total aggregate amount of the 
following items: the institution’s total liabilities, excluding 
own funds and the guaranteed amount of deposits, sub-
sequently adjusted for each institution’s risk profile. Based 
on the foregoing, the contribution to be made by the Group 
for 2019 was Euros 976 thousand (Euros 953 thousand for 
2018), which was recognised in the consolidated income 
statement for that year. 

The most significant principles and measurement criteria 
applied in the preparation of the consolidated annual ac-
counts have been as follows:  

The information disclosed in the accompanying consoli-
dated annual accounts has been prepared considering that 
the Group will continue operations in the future. Therefore, 
the aim when applying the accounting standards was not 
to determine the value of the net assets for their full or 

The Bank and Bancofar, S.A. contribute to the Credit Ins-
titution Deposit Guarantee Fund (“DGF”) created by Royal 
Decree-Law 16/2011 of 14 October 2011, the purpose of 
which is to guarantee deposits in cash, securities or other 
financial instruments at credit institutions, up to a maxi-
mum of Euros 100,000 for cash deposits or, for deposits 
in another currency, the equivalent amount applying the 
appropriate exchange rates, and Euros 100,000 for inves-
tors depositing their securities or other financial instru-
ments with a credit institution. These two guarantees pro-
vided by the Fund are different and mutually compatible. 

The contribution to the DGF is made each year pursuant 
to the agreements adopted annually by the DGF Manage-
ment Committee. In the case of cash deposits, it is based 
on the deposits existing at 30 June each year, the contribu-
tion of each institution being adjusted on the basis of its 
risk profile; and in the case of the securities guarantee, the 
deposits existing at 31 December. 

Accordingly, in 2019 the expense incurred by the Group 
for the contributions made to the DGF amounted to Euros 
1,774 thousand (Euros 1,627 thousand in 2018), which has 
been recognised under other operating expenses in the ac-
companying consolidated income statement (see note 24.3). 

Moreover, Law 11/2015 of 18 June 2015 and its imple-
menting legislation, namely Royal Decree 1012/2015 of 
6 November 2015, transposes into Spanish law Directi-
ve 2014/59/EU of 15 May 2014, establishing a framework 
for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and 
investment firms. This Law regulates the creation of the 
National Resolution Fund, which must be endowed with 
an amount equivalent to 1% of guaranteed deposits by 31 
December 2024, through contributions from credit institu-
tions and investment service firms in Spain. Administration 

2.7. Deposit Guarantee Fund – 
Single Resolution Fund 

3.1. Going concern and accruals principle  

III
PRINCIPLES AND 

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA 
APPLIED 
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Monetary assets and liabilities are translated to Euros 
using the exchange rates at each reporting date. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value are trans-
lated at the exchange rate on the date when the fair 
value was determined. 

Income and expenses are translated at the exchange 
rate on the transaction date. 

Exchange differences arising from the translation of fo-
reign currency balances into Euros are generally recognised 
at their net amount under exchange differences (gain or (-) 
loss), net in the consolidated income statement, except for 
exchange differences deriving from financial instruments at 
fair value through consolidated profit or loss, which are re-
cognised in the consolidated income statement under gains 
or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, 
net, gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets man-
datorily at fair value through profit or loss, net or gains or (-) 
losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair va-
lue through profit or loss, net, and not differentiating them 
from the rest of the changes in fair value. 

Nevertheless, exchange differences arising from non-mo-
netary items whose fair value is adjusted with the balancing 
entry in consolidated equity are recognised as accumulated 
other comprehensive income - items that may be reclassi-
fied to profit or loss - foreign currency translation on the 
consolidated balance sheet, until these are realised. 

As a general rule, income on ordinary activities are recog-
nised to the extent that goods are delivered and services 
committed contractually with customers are rendered. The 
Group recognises as income over the life of the contract, the 

partial transfer, or the amount that would be obtained in 
the event of liquidation. 

These consolidated annual accounts have been pre-
pared on an accruals basis, irrespective of collections 
and payments, except for the consolidated statement 
of cash flow. 

Receivables and payables may only be used to offset 
each other (and are therefore presented on the conso-
lidated balance sheet at the net amount) if they derive 
from transactions in which this possibility is specified in 
the contract or in compliance with a legal obligation, and 
provided that the balances will be settled on a net ba-
sis or the asset realised and the liability settled simulta-
neously. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018 the Group has not off-
set any financial assets or financial liabilities. At these 
dates, the Group does not have any offsetting rights as-
sociated with financial assets and financial liabilities sub-
ject to contractual offsetting agreements that have not 
been offset. 

The figures disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts 
are expressed in Euros, the functional and presentation cu-
rrency. Foreign currency is understood to be any currency 
other than the Euro. 

On initial recognition, the debit and credit balances in foreign 
currency are translated to Euros using the spot exchange rate at 
the recognition date. Foreign currency balances are subsequent-
ly translated into Euros using the following conversion rules: 

3.2. Offsetting of balances 

3.3. . Foreign currency transactions 

3.4. Recognition of income and expenses
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A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, defined 
as one in which the parties’ reciprocal obligations must be 
discharged within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace and that may not be settled 
net, such as stock market contracts or forward currency sale 
and purchase contacts, are recognised on the date from 
which the rewards, risks, rights and duties attaching to all 
owners are for the purchaser, which, depending on the type 
of financial asset purchased or sold, may be the trade date 
or the settlement or delivery date. In particular, transactions 
in currency markets and transactions with equity instru-
ments and debt instruments traded on secondary Spanish 
security markets are recognised at settlement date. 

A financial asset is derecognised from the consolidated ba-
lance sheet when any of the following circumstances arise: 

The contractual rights to the cash flows have expired; or 

The financial asset and substantially all the significant 
risks and rewards associated therewith are transferred, 
or although these are neither substantially transferred 
nor retained, control over the financial asset is transfe-
rred (see note 3.9).  

A financial liability is derecognised from the consolidated 
balance sheet when the obligations generated have been 
extinguished or when they are repurchased by the Group 
with the intention of selling them again or cancelling them. 

The fair value of a financial instrument at a certain date is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

amount of the consideration to which it expects to have the 
right in exchange for these goods or services. When the in-
flow of cash is deferred, the fair value is determined by dis-
counting future cash flows. 

However, when a debt security is considered to be impai-
red individually or is included in the category of those whose 
recovery is considered remote, except for purchased or ori-
ginated credit-impaired financial assets, the interest to be 
recognised in the consolidated income statement is the re-
sult of applying the effective interest rate to amortised cost 
(i.e. adjusted for any impairment losses), recognising impair-
ment for the same amount. 

   
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial as-

sets, interest income is calculated by applying a credit-ad-
justed effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
financial asset. 

Dividends are recognised when the shareholder’s right to 
receive payment is declared. Notwithstanding the above, the 
amount of interest or dividends accrued prior to the date of ac-
quisition of the instrument and receivable does not form part 
of the cost of acquisition and is not recognised as income. 

Financial instruments are initially recognised on the conso-
lidated balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the 
contract generating these financial instruments, in accor-
dance with the conditions of the contract. Specifically, debt 
instruments such as loans and cash deposits are recognised 
from the time that a legal right to receive or a legal obliga-
tion to pay cash arises, respectively. Derivatives are genera-
lly recognised from the trade date. 

3.5. Financial instruments 

3.5.1. Initial recognition of financial instruments 

3.5.2. Derecognition of financial instruments 

3.5.3. Fair value and amortised cost of financial instruments 
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The adoption of IFRS 9 has led to the amendment of ac-
counting policies and measurement criteria for financial as-
sets and financial liabilities. 

The standard requires that all financial assets, except for 
equity instruments and derivatives be measured on the ba-
sis of a combination of the entity’s business model and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instruments, de-
termining whether the instruments are measured systema-
tically at amortised cost or fair value 

   
Financial instruments are classified on the Group’s consoli-

dated balance sheet under the following categories: 

Financial assets at amortised cost: financial assets clas-
sified in this category present contractual terms that re-
sult in cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding and 
are managed within a business model whose objective 
is to hold assets to collect their contractual cash flows. 
This category includes debt securities, financing gran-
ted to third parties in connection with ordinary len-
ding activities and receivables from purchasers of the 
Group’s goods and users of its services, provided the 
assets are held within a business model whose objecti-
ve is to hold financial assets in order to collect contrac-
tual cash flows and the cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outs-
tanding. They also include finance leases in which the 
Group acts as the lessor. 

Financial assets included in this category are initially 
measured at fair value, adjusted to reflect transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset, which are taken to consolidated 

participants at the measurement date. The most objective 
and common reference for the fair value of a financial instru-
ment is the price that would be paid for it on an organised, 
transparent and deep market (quoted price or market price). 

The Group measures all the positions that must be recog-
nised at fair value, either based either on observable market 
prices for the same instrument, or on valuation techniques 
adapted to the circumstances and that maximise the use of 
observable market variables or, if appropriate, on the best 
available information, using assumptions that market partici-
pants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
that those market participants act in their best interest. 

Amortised cost is understood to be the acquisition cost 
of a financial asset or liability plus or minus, as appropriate, 
the principal and interest repayments, and plus or minus, 
as appropriate, the cumulative amortisation (as reflected in 
the income statement), using the effective interest method, 
of the difference between the initial cost and the redemption 
amount of these financial instruments. The amortised cost of 
financial assets also includes any impairment losses.  

The effective interest rate is the discount rate that exactly 
equates the initial value of a financial instrument at present 
value of all of its estimated cash flows for all items over its re-
maining life, without considering future credit risk losses For 
fixed rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate is 
the same as the contractual interest rate established on the 
acquisition date, adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the 
fees and transaction costs that should be included in the cal-
culation of the effective interest rate in accordance with IFRS 
9. For variable interest financial instruments, the effective in-
terest rate is calculated in a manner similar to that for fixed 
interest financial instruments, and is recalculated at each 
date of review of the contractual rate, taking into account any 
changes in future cash flows from the transaction. 

3.5.4. Classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities 
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whose contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the prin-
cipal amount outstanding, are held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold assets to collect their 
contractual cash flows, and give rise to cash flows from 
the sale of those assets. 

They also include equity instruments corresponding to 
entities that are not subsidiaries, joint ventures or as-
sociates, voluntarily and irrevocably designated initially 
in this category and that shall not be classified as held 
for trading. 

The instruments included in this category are initially 
measured at fair value adjusted by the transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the fi-
nancial asset, which are recognised, until maturity, in the 
consolidated income statement by the effective interest 
method, except for those financial assets with no fixed 
maturity, which are recognised in the consolidated inco-
me statement when they become impaired or are dere-
cognised.  After acquisition, the financial assets included 
in this category are measured at fair value. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets classified 
as at fair value through other comprehensive income 
are recognised with a balancing entry under accumula-
ted other comprehensive income on the consolidated 
balance sheet until the financial asset is derecognised, 
at the same time as being reclassified to the consolida-
ted income statement for the year in the case of debt 
instruments, and to an item of reserves, in the case of 
investments in equity instruments. Any impairment 
losses on these instruments are recognised as set out 
in section vii) of this note. Exchange differences on fi-
nancial assets denominated in currencies other than 
the Euro are recognised in accordance with the criteria 

profit or loss until maturity using the effective interest 
method. Unless there is evidence to the contrary, the 
fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price; 
i.e. the fair value of the consideration given. 

As an exception to the preceding paragraph, trade re-
ceivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component are measured initially at their transaction 
price. In addition, trade receivables that have a signifi-
cant financing component with an original maturity of 
less than one year may be recognised initially at their 
transaction price. 

Assets acquired at a discount are measured at the cash 
amount paid and the difference between their repay-
ment value and the amount paid is recognised as finan-
ce income using the effective interest method during 
the remaining term to maturity. 

Subsequently, all financial assets included in this cate-
gory are measured at their amortised cost, calculated 
using their effective interest rate. 

Interest accrued on these assets from their initial recog-
nition, calculated using the effective interest method, is 
recognised under interest income in the consolidated 
income statement. Exchange differences on assets de-
nominated in currencies other than the Euro that are 
included in this portfolio are recognised following the 
criteria described in note 3.3. Any impairment losses 
on these assets is recognised in accordance with the 
criteria described in note 3.7. Debt securities included 
in fair value hedges are recognised in accordance with 
the criteria described in note 3.8. 

Financial assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income: this category includes debt securities 
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ted from hybrid financial instruments pursuant to 
applicable regulations. 

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair va-
lue through profit or loss: includes debt instruments 
that cannot be classified as at amortised cost or fair 
value through changes in other comprehensive in-
come because, due to their contractual terms, they 
give rise to cash flows that are not solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 
 
This category also includes equity instruments co-
rresponding to entities that are not subsidiaries, 
joint ventures or associates that should not be clas-
sified as held for trading and have not been volun-
tarily and irrevocably designated initially as at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss: this includes, among others, 
financial assets designated voluntarily and irrevocably 
initially as at fair value through profit or loss if by doing 
so it eliminates or significantly reduces accounting mis-
matches, and hybrid instruments composed simulta-
neously of an embedded derivative and a host financial 
liability not held for trading that meets the requirements 
for accounting for the embedded derivative separately 
from the host financial instrument. 

Financial instruments classified under financial assets 
and liabilities held for trading, nontrading financial as-
sets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, and 
financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss are measured initially at fair 
value, with any subsequent changes in fair value recogni-
sed with a balancing entry in gains or losses on financial 

described in note 3.3. Changes in the fair value of finan-
cial assets subject to fair value hedges are measured in 
accordance with the criteria described in note 3.8.  

Interest accrued on debt securities, calculated using 
the effective interest method, is recognised under in-
terest income in the consolidated income statement. 
Dividends accrued on equity instruments classified in 
this category are recognised under dividend income in 
in the consolidated income statement. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities mandatorily me-
asured at fair value through profit or loss: this category 
includes financial instruments classified as held for tra-
ding and nontrading financial assets mandatorily mea-
sured at fair value through profit or loss: 

Financial assets held for trading: those acquired for 
the purpose of selling them in the near term or are 
part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments 
that are managed together and for which there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profittaking, and derivatives that have not been de-
signated as hedging instruments, including those 
separated from hybrid financial liabilities. 
   
Financial liabilities held for trading: those that 
have been issued for the purpose of repurcha-
sing them in the near term or that form part of a 
portfolio of identified financial instruments that 
are managed together and for which there is evi-
dence of a recent pattern of short-term profit ta-
king; short positions arising from financial asset 
sales under nonoptional repurchase agreements 
or borrowed securities received on loan or to se-
cure sales rights, and derivatives not designated 
as hedging instruments, including those separa-
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thod, is recognised under interest expense in the con-
solidated income statement. Exchange differences on 
liabilities included in this portfolio denominated in cu-
rrencies other than the Euro are recognised following 
the criteria set out in note 3.3. Financial liabilities inclu-
ded in fair value hedges are recognised following the 
criteria described in note 3.8. 

The business model refers to how the Group manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The assess-
ment of the business model of the various financial assets 
recognised on the balance sheet is performed at a level that 
best reflects how groups of financial assets are managed to-
gether to achieve a particular objective. 

Accordingly, the assessment is not carried out on an ins-
trument-by-instrument basis, but rather on a higher level of 
aggregation, based on the following factors: 

How the performance of the business model and the 
financial assets held within that business model are 
evaluated and reported to management. 

The risks that affect the performance of the business 
model and the way in which those risks are managed. 

How managers and management in charge of these bu-
sinesses models are compensated. 

Assessment of the business model, the grouping of the 
financial asset portfolios into the various business models 
and determination of the manner in which financial asset 
sales affect the business models all require the use of pro-
fessional judgment. 

The second step in the process carried out by the Group to 
classify financial assets is to assess whether the contractual 

assets and liabilities held for trading, net, gains or losses 
on nontrading financial assets mandatorily at fair value 
through profit or loss, net and gains or losses on finan-
cial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss, net in the consolidated income statement, 
except for fair value changes due to returns accrued on 
the financial instrument other than from trading, which 
are recognised under interest income, interest expen-
ses, and dividend income in the consolidated income 
statement, depending on their nature. Interest on debt 
instruments classified under this category is calculated 
using the effective interest method. 

The amount of change in the fair value attributable to 
changes in the credit risk of financial liabilities designa-
ted as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised 
under accumulated other comprehensive income on the 
consolidated balance sheet, unless it would create or en-
large an accounting mismatch, which must be appropria-
tely documented and justified. In this case, the Group 
may elect to recognise the full amount of the change in 
fair value initially and definitively in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: includes financial 
liabilities not included in any of the preceding categories. 

The financial liabilities included in this category are ini-
tially measured at fair value, adjusted to reflect transac-
tion costs that are directly attributable to the issue of 
the financial liability, which are taken to the consolida-
ted income statement until maturity using the effective 
interest method defined in prevailing regulations. The-
se liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost calculated using the effective interest method. 

Interest accrued on these liabilities since their initial 
recognition, calculated using the effective interest me-
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Hold assets for sale, whose objective is to manage the 
financial assets in order to collect cash flows by selling 
them, which normally involves frequent purchases and 
sales of the assets. These financial assets are measured 
at fair value through profit or loss. 

When, and only when, the Group changes its business mo-
del for managing financial assets, does it reclassify all affec-
ted debt instruments on the basis that a change in the bu-
siness model is considered to be exceptional or infrequent. 

There was no change in the Group’s business model du-
ring the period and, therefore, no reclassification of debt 
instrument portfolios took place. 

Financial guarantees are defined as contracts whereby an 
entity undertakes to make specific payments on behalf of a 
third party if the latter fails to do so, irrespective of the va-
rious legal forms they may take: deposits, financial guaran-
tees, irrevocable documentary credits issued or confirmed 
by the entity, etc. 

In accordance with IFRS-EU, the Group generally considers 
financial guarantees extended to third parties as financial 
instruments within the scope of IFRS 9. 

   
To determine whether a derivative sold is recognised as a 

financial guarantee or a trading derivative, a financial instru-
ment is considered a derivative financial instrument when it 
meets the following conditions: 

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding are consistent with a 
basic lending arrangement. 

In a basic lending arrangement, consideration for the time 
value of money and credit risk are typically the most signifi-
cant elements of interest, which also include the considera-
tion for other risks (for example liquidity risk) and costs. 

   
This assessment requires the use of professional judg-

ment when analysing how certain contractual characteristics 
could affect the instrument’s future cash flows. 

However, if a contractual cash flow characteristic could 
have an effect on the contractual cash flows that is more 
than de minimis or the cash flow characteristic is genuine, 
and introduces exposure to risks or volatility that is unrela-
ted to a basic lending arrangement, it does not give rise to 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

The Group has defined the following business models: 

Hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, 
whose objective is to hold financial assets to maturity in 
order to collect the contractual cash flows. Some sales 
are permitted, if those sales are infrequent or insigni-
ficant in value or when, irrespective of their frequency 
and value, they are carried out due to an increase in the 
assets’ credit risk.  

Hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 
and sell financial assets, whose objective is to hold fi-
nancial assets to maturity, but also to sell them in order 
to collect the contractual cash flows arising from their 
sale. These financial assets are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.  

3.5.5. Reclassifications between financial 
instrument portfolios 

3.6. Financial guarantees given 
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tributable transaction costs, which is generally equivalent to 
the premium received plus the present value of any fees and 
commissions and similar income to be received throughout 
the term of these contracts, with a balancing entry under 
assets in the amount of fees and commissions and similar 
income collected at the outset of the transactions and the 
present value of fees and commissions and similar income 
receivable. After initial recognition, these contracts are re-
cognised under liabilities at the higher of the following two 
amounts: 

The amount determined in accordance with IFRS 9, ta-
king into account that set forth in Annex IX of Banco de 
España Circular 4/2017 in this estimate. In this respect, 
financial guarantees, irrespective of the holder, arrange-
ment or any other circumstances, are analysed periodi-
cally to determine the credit risk to which they are ex-
posed and, where applicable, to estimate the provisions 
required. This amount is calculated by applying criteria 
similar to those used to quantify impairment losses ari-
sing on debt instruments measured at amortised cost, 
explained in note 3.7. 
   
The amount at which these instruments are initially re-
cognised, less amortisation which, in accordance with 
IFRS 15, is charged to the consolidated income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the term of these contracts. 

Provisions made for these instruments, are recorded as 
provisions – commitments and guarantees given under lia-
bilities on the consolidated balance sheet. Allowances and 
reversals of these provisions are recognised with a balan-
cing entry under provisions or (-) reversal of provisions in the 
consolidated income statement. 

In the event that provisions are required for these financial 
guarantees, based on the above, unaccrued commissions on 

Its value changes in response to the change in a varia-
ble, sometimes called the “underlying”, such as an in-
terest rate, financial instrument and commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, credit rating or credit index, pro-
vided that this involves non-financial variables that are 
not specific to one of the parties to the contract. 

It requires no initial investment or one that is much 
smaller than would be required for other financial ins-
truments that would be expected to have a similar res-
ponse to changes in market factors. 

It is settled at a future date, except where it relates to a regu-
lar way purchase or sale of financial assets, defined as one in 
which the parties’ reciprocal obligations must be discharged 
within a time frame established by regulation or convention 
in the market place and that may not be settled net. 

Financial guarantees are considered contracts that require 
or may require the Group to make specified payments to 
reimburse the creditor for a loss it incurs because a speci-
fied debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance 
with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument, re-
gardless of its legal form, which may be, inter alia, a deposit, 
financial guarantee, insurance contract or credit derivative. 

Specifically, guarantee contracts related to credit risk whe-
re execution of the guarantee does not, as a precondition 
for payment, require that the creditor is exposed to, and 
has incurred a loss, due to the failure of the debtor to make 
payments as required under the terms of the financial asset 
guaranteed, as well as in contracts where execution of the 
guarantee depends on changes in a specific credit rating or 
credit index, are considered derivative financial instruments. 

On initial recognition, the Group records financial guaran-
tees extended under liabilities at fair value plus directly at-
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consolidated income statement. For instruments measu-
red at fair value through other comprehensive income, the 
instrument is adjusted to fair value, with a balancing entry 
under accumulated other comprehensive income in conso-
lidated equity. 

a) Classification of transactions on the basis of credit 
risk attributable to insolvency 

Financial instruments – including off-balance sheet expo-
sures – are classified into the following categories conside-
ring whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition of the transaction or a default 
event has occurred: 

Stage 1 – Performing exposures: the risk of a de-
fault event has not increased significantly since ini-
tial recognition of the transaction. The amount of the 
loss allowance for this type of instrument is equal to 
12-month expected credit losses. 

Stage 2 – Performing exposures under special monito-
ring: the risk of a default event has increased signifi-
cantly since initial recognition of the transaction. The 
amount of the loss allowance for this type of instru-
ments is equal to lifetime expected credit losses. 

Stage 3 – Non-performing exposures: a default event in 
the transaction has occurred. The amount of the loss 
allowance for this type of instruments is equal to lifeti-
me expected credit losses. 

Total write-off: transactions in which the Group has no 
reasonable expectations of recovery. The amount of 
the loss allowance for this type of instrument is equal 
to its carrying amount and entails the full write-off of 
the asset. 

these transactions, which are recognised under financial lia-
bilities at amortised cost – other financial liabilities, are re-
classified to the corresponding provision. 

Debt instruments at amortised cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 

 
The entry into force of IFRS 9 has resulted in a substantial 

change to the impairment model, replacing the incurred loss 
approach included in IAS 39 with an expected loss approach. 

The new impairment model is applicable to debt instru-
ments at amortised cost, debt instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, and other exposures 
that give rise to credit risk, such as loan commitments given, 
financial guarantees given, and other commitments given. 

The criteria for the analysis and classification of transac-
tions in the consolidated financial statements according to 
their credit risk include both the credit risk attributable to 
insolvency and the country risk to which the transactions are 
exposed. Credit exposures that incur reasons to be rated in 
terms of credit risk due to both risk attributable to insolven-
cy and country risk, these transactions are classified in the 
category of the risk attributable to insolvency, unless a less 
favourable country-risk category applies, without prejudice 
to impairment losses for risk attributable to insolvency be-
ing calculated by the procedure for country risk when this 
implies stricter criteria. 

Impairment losses for the period are recognised as an 
expense in the consolidated income statement, with a ba-
lancing entry in the carrying amount of the asset. Subse-
quent reversals of previously recognised allowances and 
provisions for impairment are recognised as income in the 

3.7. Impairment of financial assets 
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More than 90 days past due. This includes all of a borrower’s 
transactions if the transactions with amounts more than 90 
days past due exceed 20% of outstandings. 

There are reasonable doubts about full payment of 
the asset. 

A financial instrument is considered credit-impaired when 
one or more events that have a detrimental impact on its 
estimated future cash flows have occurred. Evidence that 
a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data 
about the following events: 

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower. 

Breach of contract, such as a default or past-due event. 

The lender, for economic or contractual reasons rela-
ting to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having gran-
ted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender 
would not otherwise consider. Annex X includes the 
policies and criteria for classification and provisions 
and allowances applied by the Group in these kinds 
of transaction.  

It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 

The disappearance of an active market for that financial 
instrument because of the issuer’s financial difficulties. 

The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a 
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

It may be possible to identify a single discrete event or, ins-
tead, the combined effect of several events may have cau-
sed the financial asset to become credit-impaired. 

For financial instruments classified in Stage 1 – Perfor-
ming exposures, the Group assesses whether to continue 
recognising 12-month expected credit losses. The Group 
assesses whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. If so, it transfers the fi-
nancial instrument to Stage 2 – performing exposures un-
der special monitoring and recognises lifetime expected 
credit losses. This assessment is symmetrical, such that 
the financial instrument may return to Stage 1 – Perfor-
ming exposures. 

The Group’s credit risk management systems factor in 
quantitative and qualitative criteria which, when combined 
or considered alone, could indicate that there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk. Irrespective of the measu-
rements based on the probability of default and indicators 
of the deterioration of credit risk, to determine whether the-
re has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, the Bank uses the indicators set out in Annex 9 
of Banco de España Circular 4/2017. 

However, for assets with a counterparty of low credit risk, 
the Group applies the possibility included in the standard of 
considering that their credit risk has not increased signifi-
cantly. Such counterparties are primarily central banks, ge-
neral government, deposit guarantee funds and resolution 
funds, credit institutions, reciprocal guarantee companies, 
and non-financial corporations considered to belong to the 
public sector. 

To determine the risk of default, the Group applies a de-
finition that is consistent with the one used for internal cre-
dit risk management of financial instruments and considers 
quantitative and qualitative indicators. 

   
In this respect, the Group considers that default occurs in 

credit exposures in the following circumstances: 
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basis of its experience and on information on the banking 
sector, and which contemplate the type of collateral secu-
ring the exposure; the credit risk segment in question and 
the age of the amounts past due. 

c) Credit risk attributable to country risk 

Country risk is understood as the risk associated with coun-
terparties resident in a specific country due to circumstances 
other than normal commercial risk (sovereign risk, transfer risk 
or risks arising from international financial activity) or risk attri-
butable to insolvency. The Group classifies third-party transac-
tions into groups on the basis of their economic performance, 
political situation, regulatory and institutional framework, and 
payment capacity and record, allocating to each the percenta-
ges of allowances stipulated in prevailing regulations. 

Non-performing assets due to country risk are deemed 
to be those transactions with ultimate obligors resident in 
countries that have had long-standing difficulties in servi-
cing their debt, the possibility of recovering such debt being 
considered as doubtful; and off-balance sheet exposures, 
recovery of which is considered a remote possibility due to 
circumstances attributable to the country. 

The Group does not have any significant exposures to cre-
dit risk attributable to country risk, so the level of provisions 
in this connection are not significant in relation to total im-
pairment allowances set aside by the Group. 

The Group has opted to continue applying the recognition 
and measurement criteria for hedges included in IAS 39. 

The Group uses financial derivatives as part of its strategy 
to reduce its exposure to interest rate, credit, currency risk 

b) Methodologies for estimating expected credit losses 
attributable to insolvency 

In determining expected credit loss attributable to insol-
vency, the Group makes individual and collective estima-
tions in accordance with the following criteria: 

It makes the following individual estimates for the fo-
llowing kinds of transactions:

Non-performing exposures: transactions in arrears 
which the entity considers significant; transactions 
classified into this category for reasons other than 
borrower arrears; and transactions that do not be-
long to a homogeneous risk group. 

Performing exposures under special monitoring: 
transactions considered significant by the Entity; 
transactions classified into this category as a result 
of individual analysis other than the automated me-
thods; and transactions that do not belong to the 
homogeneous risk group. 

Collective estimation is applied to calculate all tran-
sactions for which an individualised estimate does not 
have to be made. 

Individually-assessed impairment allowances are measu-
red at the difference - negative - between the present values 
of the future cash flows expected during the remaining lives 
of the impaired financial instruments, discounted using the 
effective interest rate, and their respective credit exposure 
amounts at the date of calculation. 

Given that the Group has not developed internal methods 
for collective estimates, it uses the alternative solutions set 
out in Annex 9 of Banco de España Circular 4/2017, on the 

3.8. Hedge accounting 
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Fair value hedges: these hedge the exposure to changes 
in fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities or 
unrecognised firm commitments, or a component of 
these assets, liabilities or firm commitments, attributa-
ble to a particular risk and provided that these changes 
could affect consolidated profit or loss. 

The Group applies hedge accounting to reduce the risk 
that the fair value of fixed-rate assets and liabilities will 
fluctuate as if they were instruments indexed to a floa-
ting interest rate. The Group only hedges changes in 
the fair value of the hedged instrument attributed to 
changes in the reference rate, which constitutes the 
main element of the total fluctuation in the fair value of 
the hedged item. 
   
The Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to 
assess effectiveness, by comparing changes in the fair 
value of the hedging instruments and hedged items at-
tributable to the change in the benchmark rate, as ex-
plained for fair value hedges. This method implies mo-
delling a derivative instrument whose characteristics 
perfectly match those of the hedged risk, so that the 
change in the fair value of the hypothetical derivative 
should be equivalent to the change in the present value 
of the expected future cash flows of the hedged item. 
The measurement of hedge ineffectiveness is based on 
a comparison between the changes in the fair of the de-
rivative actually contracted as a hedge and the changes 
in the fair value of the hypothetical derivative. 

Specifically, for financial instruments designated as he-
dged items and hedged accounting, the differences in 
value are recognised as follows: 

The gains or losses arising on both the hedging ins-
truments and the hedged items (associated with 

and other risks. These operations are considered as hedging 
transactions when certain requirements stipulated in IAS 39 
are met. 

The Group designates operations as hedges on inception 
of the hedge or the hedged instruments, and duly docu-
ments the hedging transaction. Documentation on these he-
dging transactions should identify the hedged instrument or 
instruments and the hedging instrument or instruments, in 
addition to the nature of the risk to be hedged; as well as the 
criteria or methods followed by the Group to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the hedge throughout its duration, taking 
into account the risk it intends to hedge. 

The Group enters into hedges on a transaction-by-transac-
tion basis in accordance with criteria explained previously, 
continually monitoring the effectiveness of each hedge, to 
ensure symmetry in the values of both items. 

To measure the effectiveness of hedging transactions de-
fined as such, the Group analyses whether from inception 
to expiration of the hedge it can expect, prospectively, that 
the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item 
that are attributable to the hedged risk will be almost com-
pletely offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows, as 
applicable, of the hedging instrument or instruments and, 
retrospectively, whether gains or losses on the hedging tran-
saction are within a range of 80% to 125% of the results of 
the hedged item. 

The Group discontinues hedge accounting when the hed-
ging instrument expires or is sold, the hedge no longer meets 
the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group revokes the 
designation of a hedge. 

The hedging transactions carried out by the Group are 
classified under the following categories: 
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before the transfer. Income from the transferred financial 
asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability is 
recognised, without offsetting, in the consolidated income 
statement.  

   
If the risks and rewards of ownership of financial assets trans-

ferred are neither transferred nor substantially retained and 
the Group has retained control of the asset, a financial asset is 
recognised for an amount equal to its exposure to changes in 
the value of the transferred financial asset, and an associated 
financial liability which is measured in such a way that the net 
carrying amount of the two instruments is equal to: 

When the transferred financial asset is measured at 
amortised cost: the amortised cost of the rights and 
obligations retained by the Group. 

When the transferred asset is carried at fair value: the 
fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the 
Group when measured on a stand-alone basis. 

If the Group does not retain control of the financial instru-
ment transferred, it is derecognised and any right or obliga-
tion retained or created in the transfer is recognised. 

The assets (receivables from customers) transferred by 
the Parent in 2004 have not been derecognised given that all 
related risks and rewards of ownership have not been fully 
transferred. 

Tangible assets include buildings, land, furniture, vehicles, 
IT equipment and other installations owned by the Group or 
acquired under financial leases. Tangible assets are classi-
fied by concept as tangible assets for own use or subject to 
operating lease and investment property. 

hedged risk) are recognised directly in the conso-
lidated income statement. The balancing entry of 
changes in fair value of the hedged item attributa-
ble to hedged risk is recorded as an adjustment to 
fair value of the hedged instrument. 

When fair value hedging is discontinued, in the case 
of hedged items at amortised cost, the value adjust-
ments made as a result of the hedge accounting are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement 
until maturity of the hedged items, using the effecti-
ve interest rate recalculated at the date of disconti-
nuation of hedge accounting. 

Cash flow hedges: the Group had no cash flow he-
dges at 31 December 2019 or 31 December 2018. 

Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation: 
the Group had no hedges of this kind at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 or 31 December 2018. 

The Group derecognises a transferred financial asset when 
it transfers all contractual rights to receive related cash flows 
generated or when having retained these rights, it assumes 
the contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to the trans-
feree and the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset have been substantially transferred. 

If the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset 
transferred are retained substantially, the Group continues 
to recognise the transferred financial asset and recognises 
an associated financial liability for an amount equal to the 
consideration received. The financial liability is subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. The transferred financial as-
set shall continue to be measured by the same criteria used 

3.9. Transfers of financial assets  

3.10. Tangible assets 
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ing recorded for the amount yet to be paid. If the normal 
deferral period exceeds 90 days (180 days in the case of 
buildings), related expenses are discounted from the ac-
quisition cost and recognised as finance expenses in the 
consolidated income statement. 

Tangible assets are derecognised when they are disposed 
of, even when leased out under a finance lease, or when 
they are permanently retired from use and no future eco-
nomic benefits are expected from their disposal, assign-
ment or abandonment. The difference between the sales 
price and the carrying amount is recognised in the consoli-
dated income statement for the period in which the assets 
were derecognised. 

The Group periodically assesses whether there are any 
internal or external indications that a tangible asset may 
be impaired at the date of the financial statements. For tho-
se identified assets, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the tangible asset, understood to be the higher 
of: (i) its fair value less costs to sell and (ii) its value in use. If 
the recoverable amount, thus determined, is less than the 
carrying amount, the difference between the two amounts 
is recognised in the consolidated income statement as a 
decrease in the carrying amount of such assets. 

The accounting principles applied to assets leased out 
under operating leases and to non-current assets held for 
sale are included in notes 3.12 and 3.13. 

Goodwill is only recognised when acquired onerously and 
it represents payments made by the acquiring entity in an-
ticipation of the future economic benefits from assets of 

Tangible assets for own use include mainly offices and 
branches (constructed and under development) owned by 
the Group. These assets are measured at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

The cost of tangible assets includes the amounts paid, both 
initially on their acquisition or production and subsequently 
on any expansion, replacement or improvement, provided 
that in both cases it is considered probable that future eco-
nomic benefits will be obtained from their use.  

The acquisition or production cost of tangible assets, net 
of the residual value, is depreciated using the straight-line 
method over their useful lives, as follows: 

The costs of maintenance and repairs, that do not leng-
then the assets useful life are recognised as an expense of 
the period in which they are incurred. 

   
Finance costs incurred to finance the acquisition of tangi-

ble assets do not increase the related acquisition cost. They 
are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the 
year they are accrued.  

Assets acquired under deferred payment are recognised 
for an amount equal to their cash price, with a liability be-

Buildings for own use  50 2%

Installations 10 – 12.5 8% - 10%

Furniture  10 10%

Information technology equipment  4 25%

Years of 
useful life 

Depreciation 
rates used 

3.11. Goodwill and other intangible assets  

3.11.1. Goodwill
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The Group recognises any impairment loss on the carrying 
amount of these assets with a balancing entry under impair-
ment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets – in-
tangible assets in the consolidated income statement. The 
criteria for recognising impairment losses on these assets 
and, where applicable, the reversal of impairment losses re-
cognised in prior years are similar to those applied to tangi-
ble assets. 

On 1 January 2019 IFRS 9 entered into force and inclu-
des amendments to the accounting of leases. The single 
lessee accounting model requires a lessee to recognise as-
sets and liabilities for all leases. The standard sets out two 
exceptions to the recognition of lease assets and liabilities, 
that can be applied in the case of short-term contracts and 
those for which the underlying asset is of low value. The 
Group has decided to apply both exceptions. The lessee 
must recognise under assets a right to use that represents 
its right to use the leased asset and which is recognised un-
der tangible assets - property, plant and equipment on the 
consolidated balance sheet (see note 16) and a lease liabi-
lity that represents its obligation to make lease payments 
that are recognised under financial liabilities at amortised 
cost - other financial liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheet (see note 18). 

At the commencement date, the lease liability represents 
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at that date. Liabilities recognised in this consolidated ba-
lance sheet item are measured after initial recognition at 
amortised cost, which is determined using the effective in-
terest method. 

Right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost. The 
cost of the right-of-use asset should include the initial mea-

the acquired entity that are not capable of being individua-
lly identified and separately recognised.  

At least once a year or whenever there are indications of 
impairment, the Group tests goodwill for any impairment 
that has reduced the recoverable amount to below the ca-
rrying amount. In this event the carrying amount is written 
off against the consolidated income statement. 

Impairment losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 

The Group classifies non-monetary assets as other intangible 
assets when such assets are expected to provide probable eco-
nomic benefits and the cost of which may be reliably estimated. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and subse-
quently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses.  

   
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group has no intangible 

assets with indefinite useful lives. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised using si-
milar criteria to that used for the depreciation of tangible assets.  

The years of useful life and related amortisation percentages 
applied to intangible assets with finite useful lives are as follows: 

3.11.2. Other intangible assets 

Computer software  3 33.33%

Client portfolios  18.75 5.33%

Years of 
useful life 

Amortisation 
rates used 

3.12. Leases
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surement of the lease liability, any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date, less any lease incenti-
ves received, all initial direct costs incurred; and an estima-
te of costs to be incurred by the lessee such as costs rela-
ting to dismantling and removing the underlying asset. The 
assets recognised in this consolidated balance sheet item 
are measured after their initial recognition at cost less: 

Any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses; and

Any remeasurement of the corresponding lease liability.

Interest on the lease liability is recognised under interest 
expenses in the consolidated income statement. Variable 
lease payments not included in the initial measurement of 
the lease liability are recognised under administrative ex-
penses - other administrative expenses in the consolidated 
income statement. 

Depreciation is calculated, on a straight-line basis over the 
cost of the assets over the lease term. Depreciation of tan-
gible assets is recognised under depreciation and amortisa-
tion in the consolidated income statement. 

If the lessee elects one of the two exceptions to not recog-
nise the corresponding right-of-use asset and liability on the 
consolidated balance sheet, the lease payments associated 
with the corresponding leases are recognised in the conso-
lidated income statement over the lease term or on a strai-
ght-line basis or any other basis that is more representative 
of the pattern of the lessee’s benefit, under other operating 
expenses. 

Income from sub-leases and operating leases is recogni-
sed under other operating income in the consolidated inco-
me statement. 

The lessor accounting model requires that, from commen-
cement date, leases are classified as finance leases if they 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an underlying asset. Leases that are not finan-
ce leases are considered to be operating leases. 

In finance leases, when entities act as lessors of an asset, 
the sum of the present value of the lease payments recei-
vable from the lessee plus the guaranteed residual value, 
which is generally the exercise price of the purchase option 
available to the lessee at the end of the lease term, is recog-
nised as financing to third parties and is therefore included 
under financial assets at amortised cost on the consolidated 
balance sheet. 

In operating leases, if the entities act as lessors, they recog-
nise the acquisition cost of the leased assets under tangible 
assets - property, plant and equipment - leased out under 
operating leases on the consolidated balance sheet. The de-
preciation policy for these assets is consistent with that for 
similar tangible assets for own use and income and expen-
ses from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement on a straight-line basis under other ope-
rating income and other operating expenses, respectively. 

In the case of sale and leasebacks at fair value, profit or 
loss on the sale is recognised for the part effectively trans-
ferred, in the consolidated income statement at the transac-
tion date.  

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held 
for sale on the consolidated balance sheet reflect the carr-
ying amounts of the individual items (non-current assets) or 
items grouped into a single heading (saleable group of ele-

3.13. Non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale  
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and taxes paid may be added to the value initially recognised 
provided that, as a result, such value does not exceed the fair 
value less the estimated costs to sell mentioned in the para-
graph above. All expenses related to the administration and 
management of the assets are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement in the period in which they are accrued. 

These benefits are measured without discounting at the 
amount payable for services received and are generally re-
cognised as personnel expenses for the year and an accrual, 
reflecting the difference between the total expense and the 
amount already settled. 

In accordance with the collective labour agreements in for-
ce, the Bank undertakes to supplement, under certain condi-
tions, the Social Security benefits to its employees and benefi-
ciary right holders for retirement, permanent disability, death 
of spouse or death of parent. Furthermore, in 2019 a savings 
plan has been set up for the Bank’s directors, in line with the 
prevailing remuneration policy approved by the board of di-
rectors and, where applicable, by the shareholders at their 
general meeting, and the articles of association, in accordan-
ce with the sector legislation applicable to credit institutions. 
This plan is covered by a collective life and savings insurance 
policy. The plan is subject to Royal Legislative Decree 1/2002 
of 29 November 2002, which approves the amended Law on 
Pension Plans and Funds and to Royal Decree 1588/1999 of 
15 October 1999 enacting the Regulation on the Application 
of Firms’ Pension Obligations to Employees and Beneficiaries. 
As provided in Banco de España Circular 4/2017, these obliga-
tions are classified as defined benefit obligations. 

ments or disposal group) or which form part of a business 
unit that is to be sold (discontinued operations), whose sale 
is considered highly probable, in the assets’ present condi-
tion, within one year from the date of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements. Accordingly, the carrying amount of tho-
se assets and any directly associated liabilities, which may 
be financial or non-financial, is expected to be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use.  

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group only includes 
real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt 
in this line item. These assets are recognised initially at the 
lower of the following amounts: 

The carrying amount of the financial assets. 

The fair value at the date of foreclosure or receipt of the 
asset less the estimated costs to sell. 

After initial recognition, the Group updates the benchmark 
valuation used originally to estimate the fair value less esti-
mated costs to sell at least annually. 

Assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt that are 
classified as non-current assets held for sale, for which the 
Group has not attained sufficient sales volumes and thus 
does not have the sales experience required to substantiate 
its ability to sell them at their fair value, are measured by appl-
ying to their benchmark value the percentage haircuts esti-
mated by the Banco de España by way of alternative solution 
on the basis of its experience and its information about the 
banking sector, as set out in Banco de España Circular 4/2017.  

All court costs associated with the claims and foreclosure of 
these assets are recognised immediately in the consolidated 
income statement for the foreclosure period. Registry fees 

3.14. Personnel expenses and post-employment benefits 

3.14.1. Short-term employee benefits  

3.14.2. Pension obligations 
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Actuarial gains and losses are deemed to be those arising 
from differences between previous actuarial assumptions 
and what has actually occurred in the plan and from chan-
ges in the actuarial assumptions used. The Group recogni-
ses any actuarial gains and losses arising on post-employ-
ment commitments with employees in the period in which 
they are generated or incurred, with a debit or credit to the 
consolidated income statement. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018 and during those years 
Bancofar did not have any, nor has it had any, vested pen-
sion obligations. 

The premiums for obligations undertaken by the Group 
accrued each year, in respect of death and disability con-
tingencies affecting employees during their period of servi-
ce are covered by insurance policies arranged with Mapfre 
Vida, S.A. and are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. 

Accruals in relation to premiums for these insurance po-
licies in 2019 are recognised in administrative expenses – 
personnel expenses in the consolidated income statement 
and amount to Euros 571 thousand (Euros 420 thousand in 
2018) (see note 24.4). 

Termination benefits are recognised as a provision for pen-
sions and similar obligations and as a personnel expense only 
when the Group is demonstrably committed to severing its 
relationship with an employee or group of employees before 
the normal retirement date, or to paying termination benefits 
as a result of an offer made in order to encourage voluntary 
redundancy by employees. 

Pension obligations of Bancofar, S.A. 

The Group company Bancofar, S.A. has other obligations 
to current employees who joined the staff of Bancofar, S.A. 
from Acofar, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito as a result of a 
partial spin-off; specifically, the obligations are those set out 
in articles 26 and 40 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement 
for Credit Cooperatives (establishing a long-service bonus 
and benefits for widowhood and orphanhood). As provided 
in Banco de España Circular 4/2017, these obligations are 
classified as defined benefit obligations.  

At 31 December 2019 the present value of the commit-
ments for risks accrued for unvested pensions of current 
employees of the Bank amounts to Euros 192 thousand 
(Euros 202 thousand in 2018) and is covered by an inter-
nal fund (covering the obligations encompassed by Royal 
Decree 1588/1999) recognised under provisions - pensions 
and other postemployment defined benefit obligations on 
the consolidated balance sheet (see note 15). This figure was 
estimated on the basis of an actuarial study carried out by 
an independent actuary engaged by the Group, which consi-
ders the terms agreed in the prevailing collective bargaining 
agreement for credit cooperatives, as well as the following 
assumptions, among others: 

Technical interest rate  0.5% 1.75%

Mortality and survival tables  PERM 2000P (male) 
y PERF 2000P (female)

PERM 2000P (male) 
and PERF 2000P (female)

Annual growth rate 
of salaries   1.0% 1.5%

CPI   1.0% 1.5%

2019 2018

3.14.3. Death and disability 

3.14.4. Termination benefits 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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of these proceedings and claims will not have a significant 
effect on the annual accounts for the years in which these 
proceedings and claims are concluded. 

The Group classifies the fees and commissions that it re-
ceives or pays as follows: 

Financial fees and commissions 

These fees and commissions, that are an integral part of 
the effective cost of yield of a financial transaction and are 
collected or paid in advance, are recognised in the consoli-
dated income statement over the expected life of the finan-
cing as an adjustment to the effective yield or cost of the 
transaction, net of related direct costs. 

Non-financial fees and commissions 

These types of fees and commissions usually arise from 
services provided by the Group and are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement over the period of service. 
In the case of services rendered in a single act, the fees and 
commissions accrue when the single act is carried out. 

In exchanges of tangible and intangible assets, the Group 
measures the assets received at the fair value of the assets 
given up plus, where applicable, any monetary considera-
tion given up in exchange, unless there is clearer evidence 
of the fair value of the asset received. If neither of these fair 
values can be measured reliably, the assets received shall 
be recognised at the carrying amount of the assets given up 
plus, where applicable, any monetary consideration given 
up in exchange.  

The Group makes no share-based payment to its employees. 

The Group distinguishes between provisions and contin-
gent liabilities. Provisions are balances payable in respect of 
present obligations at the consolidated balance sheet date 
as a result of past events that could have a negative effect 
on the equity of the Group, occurrence of which is conside-
red probable and the nature of which is specific, although 
their amount and/or settlement date are uncertain. Contin-
gent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past 
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain fu-
ture events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include 
all significant provisions when the Group considers that 
it will more likely than not have to settle related obliga-
tions. Although contingent liabilities are not recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements, related informa-
tion is included under memorandum items. Provisions are 
quantified based on the best information available regar-
ding the consequences of the event for which they were 
made, and are re-estimated at each reporting date. They 
are used to settle the specific obligations for which they 
were originally recognised. Provisions are totally or par-
tially reversed when the obligations either cease to exist 
or diminish. 

Legal proceedings and/or claims underway   

At reporting date, there were no significant legal procee-
dings or claims underway which had been filed against the 
Group in its normal course of business. The Group’s legal ad-
visors and Parent’s directors consider that the final outcome 

3.16. Other provisions and contingencies 

3.15. Share-based payments to employees 

3.17. Fees and commissions 

3.18. Exchanges of tangible and intangible assets 
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The Group includes in memorandum accounts at fair va-
lue the amount of funds entrusted by third parties for in-
vestment in investment companies, mutual funds, pension 
funds, insurancecum-savings contracts and discretionary 
portfolio management contracts, differentiating between 
the funds managed by the Group and those marketed by 
the Group but managed by non-Group third parties.  

Additionally, assets acquired on behalf of the Group for 
third parties, debt securities, equity instruments, derivati-
ves and other financial instruments that are held on depo-
sit, as guarantees or on commission at the Group, for which 
it is liable to third parties, are recognised in memorandum 
items at fair value or at cost when no reliable estimate of 
fair value exists. 

The fees and commissions collected for these services are 
recognised under fee and commission income in the conso-
lidated income statement and are detailed in note 3.17. 

This statement comprises income and expenses genera-
ted or incurred by the Group during the year in the ordinary 
course of business, distinguishing between amounts recog-
nised in the income statement for the year and those re-
cognised directly in consolidated equity, in accordance with 
prevailing legislation. 

Accordingly, this statement presents: 

a) Profit or loss for the year. 

b) Net income and expenses recognised temporarily 
during the year as accumulated other comprehensive 
income in equity. 

Losses incurred on asset exchange transactions are im-
mediately recognised in the consolidated income statement, 
while related gains are only recognised if the exchange has 
commercial substance and the fair values of the assets can 
be reliably measured. 

Income tax expense is determined by the tax payable on 
the taxable profit of a period after taking account of any 
changes in that period due to temporary differences, tax 
credits for tax deductions and benefits, and tax losses. 

Income tax expense is recognised in the consolidated in-
come statement except when the transaction is recognised 
directly in equity, or when it arises on a business combina-
tion, in which case the deferred tax is recognised as one of 
its assets or liabilities. 

For tax deductions, benefits and tax credits for tax 
losses to be effective, they must meet the requirements 
stipulated in prevailing legislation provided that their 
recovery is probable given that there are sufficient avai-
lable deferred taxes or specific events have occurred 
due to which recovery is considered improbable in the 
future. 

   
The effects of temporary differences, where applicable, 

are included in deferred tax assets or liabilities under tax 
assets and tax liabilities in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet. 

At least at each reporting date the Group reviews recog-
nised deferred taxes and, as a result, both the related tax 
assets and liabilities, making the pertinent valuation adjust-
ments in the event that these deferred assets are not cu-
rrent or recoverable. 

3.20. Off-balance sheet customer funds 

3.19. Income tax 

3.21. Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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income during the year in accordance with criteria esta-
blished under prevailing legislation. 

The amounts disclosed in these items are presented gross, 
and the related tax effect is recognised under income tax. 

This statement presents all the changes in consolidated 
equity, including those arising from changes in accounting 
policies and from the correction of errors, if any. Accordin-
gly, this statement presents a reconciliation of the carrying 
amount of all of the Group’s equity line items at the begin-
ning and end of the year, the changes being grouped toge-
ther on the basis of their nature into the following items: 

a) Adjustments for changes in accounting criteria and 
errors: significant changes in equity due, where applica-
ble, to the retrospective restatement of balances in the 
financial statements as a result of changes in accoun-
ting criteria or the correction of errors. 

b) Recognised income and expenses: the aggregate 
amount of the aforementioned items recognised in the 
statement of recognised income and expense. 

c) Other changes in equity: the remaining items re-
cognised in equity, such as distribution of the Group’s 
profit or application of losses, transfers between equity 
items as a result of the distribution of profit/application 
of losses for the year and any other increase or decrea-
se in equity. 

The following terms are used in the cash flow statement 
with the meanings indicated below: 

c) Net income and expenses recognised, where appli-
cable during the year, definitively in equity, as well as 
other items, recognition of which is definitively made 
directly against equity. 

d) Accrued income tax payable or recoverable in res-
pect of the items listed in points b) and c) above. 

e) Total recognised income and expense calculated as 
the sum of the preceding points. 

Changes in income and expenses recognised in consolida-
ted equity during the year as accumulated other compre-
hensive income are disclosed as follows: 

a) Valuation gains (losses): income, net of expenses 
incurred during the year, recognised directly in equity. 
Amounts recognised during the year as accumulated 
other comprehensive income are recorded in this line 
item at the initial value of other assets or liabilities, 
even when they are transferred to the income state-
ment in the same year, or they are reclassified to ano-
ther line item. 

b) Amounts transferred to the income statement: va-
luation gains or losses previously recognised in equity, 
even in the same period, which are accounted for in the 
income statement for the year. 

c) Amounts transferred to the initial value of hedged 
items: include, where applicable, valuation gains or los-
ses previously recognised in equity, even in the same 
period, which are accounted for in the initial value of 
assets or liabilities as a result of cash flow hedges. 

d) Other reclassifications: include, where applicable, 
transfers between accumulated other comprehensive 

3.22. Consolidated statement of total changes in equity 

3.23. Consolidated statement of cash flows 



40

re in the consolidated annual accounts authorised for issue by 
the board of directors of Banco Caminos, S.A. as the Parent. 

The distribution of profit for 2019 that the board of di-
rectors of Banco Caminos, S.A. (the Parent) will propose for 
approval at the annual general meeting, and the distribution 
of profit for 2019 approved by the shareholders at their ge-
neral meeting held on 30 May 2019, are as follows: 

At 31 December 2019 the Parent’s legal reserve was equal 
to 20% of share capital.

The profit/loss of the consolidated subsidiaries will be dis-
tributed/applied as approved by the respective sharehol-
ders at their annual general meetings. 

Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equiva-
lents, which are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Operating activities: typical activities of credit institu-
tions and other activities that cannot be classified as 
investing or financing activities. 

Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or disposal of 
long-term assets and other investments not included in 
cash and cash equivalents. 

Financing activities: activities that result in changes in 
the size and composition of equity and liabilities and 
that are not operating activities. 

When preparing the consolidated cash flow statement, 
current highly-liquid investments with a low risk of change 
in value have been considered as cash and cash equiva-
lents. For purposes of preparing the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows, the Group considers cash, cash balan-
ces at central banks and other demand deposits to be cash 
and cash equivalents. 

In 2019 and up to the date of authorisation for issue of the 
consolidated annual accounts, there were no errors or changes 
to accounting estimates whose significance required disclosu-

IV
ERRORS AND CHANGES 

IN ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES 

V
DISTRIBUTION 

OF PROFIT 

 Distribution 

       To legal reserve  - -

       To voluntary reserves  8,433 8,200

Total distributed  8,433 8,200

Profit for the year  8,433 8,200

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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sentially through these institutions and does not, therefore, 
distinguish between other operating segments. 

The table below presents the information required under 
prevailing legislation at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (data 
shown is after consolidation adjustments and eliminations):  

Business segments 

At 31 December 2019, as 98.07% of the Group’s total as-
sets (98.01% in 2018) and 99.05% of Group profit (94.43% in 
2018) corresponded to the business activity carried out by 
the Group’s credit institutions (Banco Caminos, S.A. and Ban-
cofar, S.A.), and as all activities are undertaken within Spain, 
management of the Parent monitors the Group’s activity es-

VI
SEGMENT

REPORTING

Total assets  3,631,882 2,121,506 1,440,272 70,104

Of which: 

Total liabilities  3,384,919 2,634,097 744,982 5,840

Total profit or loss  12,205 8,433 3,657 115

Debt securities  1,297,930 1,297,213 - 717

Of which: 

Net interest income  48,254 28,565 19,685 4

Loans and advances to other debtors  1,892,181 561,392 1,323,952 6,837

Deposits from other creditors  2,783,000 2,066,879 716,121 -

BancofarTotal Group 2019 Banco Caminos Other

Thousands of Euros



42

Geographical segments 

The Group conducts its activity entirely in Spain. Its customers 
and the products offered are similar throughout the country, 
so the Group considers it a single geographical segment. 

Credit risk is understood as the possibility of incurring a loss due 
to financial weakness in one of the Group’s customers. In the case 
of repayable financing granted to third parties (in the form of cre-
dit facilities, loans, deposits, securities and other arrangements), 
credit risk arises as a result of failure to recover investments under 
the terms and conditions stipulated in the contracts. Off-balance 
sheet exposures derive from counterparties’ failure to fulfil their 
obligations to third parties, which requires the Group to assume 
these obligations, by virtue of the commitment undertaken. 

Total assets  3,400,499 2,083,199 1,249,757 67,543

Of which: 

Total liabilities  3,159,107 2,460,293 695,027 3,787

Total profit or loss  12,489 8,200 3,593 696

Debt securities  1,338,771 1,337,935 - 836

Of which: 

Net interest income  46,329 27,489 18,836 4

Loans and advances to other debtors  1,660,663 505,582 1,148,312 6,769

Deposits from other creditors  2,721,452 2,046,363 675,089 -

BancofarTotal Group 2018 Banco Caminos Other

Thousands of Euros

VII
FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT

7.1. Credit risk  

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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 Credit risk is the most significant risk to which the Group is 
exposed in the course of its banking activity, and it is unders-
tood as the risk that the counterparty will be unable to repay 
the amounts owed.  

The Parent defines and organises credit risk management 
following objective, professional criteria, the purpose of which 
is to streamline the process of providing customers with a fi-
nal decision. 

Credit risk management within the Group is a comprehen-
sive, homogeneous process that begins when the customer 
applies for financing and ends when all loaned funds have 
been repaid. In addition, the Group has established the 
basic criteria for the acceptance of credit risk and the mi-
nimum documentation required to comply with prevailing 
legislation at all times. These criteria are defined around 
fundamental aspects of liquidity, security, profitability and 
collateral business. 

When analysing loan transactions, the Group has the advan-
tage of knowing its individual customers personally. Further-
more, it has only two offices, which makes it easier to conduct 
continuous monitoring and recovery of customer arrears. 

When analysing and managing credit risk, the Group 
has tools to aid and support it in making its final deci-
sion. These tools consist of a reactive credit rating mo-
del and a comprehensive risk monitoring model for the 
retail customer segment (mortgages, consumer credit 
and cards). The aim of these is to reduce the customer 
response time and make the correct choice in the final 
decision so as to obtain a loan portfolio of the highest 
creditworthiness.  

   
The following table shows the total exposure to credit risk at 

the end of 2019 and 2018: 

        

Classification of debt securities and loans and advances by 
credit risk 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, debt securities and loans 
and advances classified by stage of insolvency risk as des-
cribed in note 3.7.a, and the allowances and provisions re-
cognised for impairment, are as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

Demand deposits at credit institutions (note 8)  74,813 27,408

Loan commitments given  264,113 225,645

Debt securities  1,297,930 1,338,771

Financial guarantees given  15,379 19,751

Derivatives  - 1,948

Loans and advances to other debtors (note 12.2)  1,892,181 1,660,663

Loans and advances to credit institutions (note 12.1)  21,622 17,130

Other commitments given  44,553 43,318

Total on-balance sheet exposures  3,286,546 3,045,920

Total off-balance sheet exposures  324,045 288,714

Total exposure    3,610,591 3,334,634

2019 2018
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In 2019 and 2018, movements between the different risk 
stages were as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Loans and advances Debt securities 

Stage 1 (performing exposures) 

   Risk  1,802,016 1,574,011 1,300,449 1,340,973

Stage 2 (performing exposures under special monitoring)     

Stage 3 (non-performing exposures)

Total

   Allowances and provisions  (11,698) (11,479) (2,519) (2,202)

   Allowances and provisions  (6,247) (6,692) - -

   Allowances and provisions  (42,136) (54,494) - -

   Allowances and provisions  (60,081) (72,665) (2,519) (2,202)

    Risk  62,606 59,431 - -

   Risk  87,640 99,885 - -

   Risk  1,952,262 1,733,328 1,300,449 1,340,973

 1,892,181 1,660,663 1,297,930 1,338,771

2019

2019 2018

2019 2018 2018

Transfers between Stage 1 and Stage 2   

     From Stage 3 to Stage 2  2,590 2,418

     From Stage 1 to Stage 2  23,008 13,226 

Transfers between Stage 1 and Stage 3  

Transfers between Stage 2 and Stage 3 

     From Stage 3 to Stage 1  2,289 1,690

     From Stage 2 to Stage 1  6,155 13,097

     From Stage 1 to Stage 3  5,226 3,528

     From Stage 2 to Stage 3  2,768 2,189

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Movements in impairment allowances recognised to cover 
credit risk related to financial assets included in this cate-
gory in 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

Balance at 31 December 2018  (13,681) (6,692) (54,494) (74,867)

Balance at 31 December 2019  (14,217) (6,247) (42,136) (62,600)

Of which: 

Decreases due to derecognition  1,727 1,824 12,932 16,483

Origination increases  (678) (38) (248) (964)

Of which: 

  Estimated individually  - (6,692) (54,494) (61,186)

Changes due to variations in credit risk  (2,407) (827) (7,536) (10,770)

  Estimated individually   - (6,247) (42,136) (48,383)

  Estimated collectively   (14,217) - - (14,217)

  Estimated collectively  (13,184) - - (13,681)

Changes due to modifications without derecognition  822 (514) (485) (177)

Other  - - 7,695 7,695

Stage3Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

Thousands of Euros

Balance at 31 December 2017  (12,775) (5,625) (66,542) (84,942)

Balance at 31 December 2018  (13,681) (6,692) (54,494) (74,867)

Of which: 

Decreases due to derecognition  2,494 3,608 23,761 29,863

Origination increases  (665) (54) (372) (1,091)

Of which: 

  Estimated individually  - (5,625) (66,542) (72,167)

Changes due to variations in credit risk  (2,666) (4,145) (14,958) (21,769)

  Estimated individually  - (6,692) (54,494) (61,186)

  Estimated collectively  (13,681) - - (13,681)

  Estimated collectively  (12,775) - - (12,775)

Changes due to modifications without derecognition (69) (476) (599) (1,144)

Other  - - 4,216 4,216
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Distribution of debt securities 

The distribution of debt securities by credit rating is as follows: 

Distribution of loans and advances to other debtors 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, risk classified as loans 
and advances to other debtors by Banco Caminos, S.A. and 
Bancofar, S.A. is shown in the following table, by customer 
activity sector:  

AAA 100,473 -

AA+ 117,647 120,864

BBB 123,833 147,574

AA 58,376 33,838

BBB- 193,156 217,823

AA- 68,773 30,498

BB+ 10,887 96,371

BBB+ 36,517 441,501

Total 1,297,930 1,338,771

A+ 44,651 52,282

BB  38,589 -

B 501 -

A 41,226 123,217

A- 373,768 22,338

N/A 89,533 52,465

2019 2018
Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The distribution of risks classified as loans and advances 
to other debtors by the Group in 2019 and 2018, by gross 
amount per customer, is as follows: 

Resident sector 

Agriculture, livestock, hunting, forestry and fishing  591 0.03 - 630 0.04 -

Transport and communications  8,088 0.41 38 6,274 0.36 144

Real estate and business activities  96,785 4.96 7,429 88,445 5.10 7,462

Construction  28,264 1.45 2,058 19,422 1.12 1,989

Other services  69,476 3.56 1,040 46,670 2.69 1,188

Unclassified  - - - - - -

Trade and hotels/restaurants  1,250,538 64.06 61,006 1,099,075 63.41 67,266

Consumer and other  75,395 3.86 2,647 69,420 4.01 5,777

Total 1,892,181  45,504 1,660,663  45,392

Industry  2,416 0.12 185 4,327 0.25 281

Financial intermediation  13,145 0.67 - 7,796 0.45 -

Services:  1,341,247 68.70 62,084 1,159,815 66.91 68,598

Housing  404,894 20.74 12.848 388,735 22.43 15,779

Impairment  (60,081)  (42,136) (72,665)  (54,494)

Energy  2,670 0.14 389 2,534 0,15 -

Loans and advances to individuals:  480,289 24.60 15,495 458,155 26.43 21,556

Total 1,952,262 100,00 87,640 1,733,328 100.00 99,886

Risk Risk
Distribution 

(%)
Distribution 

(%)

Of which:
Non-

performing
assets

Of which:
Non-

performing
assets

Thousands of Euros

2019 2018
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At 31 December 2019 and 2018, Group loans and credit 
facilities are segmented by type of collateral as follows:

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, details of exposure to cre-
dit risk (performing exposures and performing exposures un-
der special monitoring) secured by collateral are as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

2019

%

2018

Over 5,000 91,254 4.67 - 68,850 3.97 -

From 3,000 to 5,000 49,962 2.56 3,556 26,697 1.54 3,556

From 10 to 50 43,824 2.24 2,883 46,147 2.66 3,157

From 500 to 1,000 432,123 22.13 15,936 398,434 22.99 15,350

Total 1,952,262 100.00 87,640 1,733,328 100.00 99,886

From 50 to 100 91,339 4.68 4,342 88,899 5.13 5,144

From 1,000 to 3,000 665,679 34.11 37,002 530,930 30.63 44,435

Up to 10 10,652 0.55 716 10,763 0.62 640

From 100 to 300 363,917 18.64 15,736 362,066 20.89 18,052

From 300 to 500 203,512 10.42 7,469 200,542 11.57 9,552

Risk Risk
Distribution

(%)
Distribution

(%)

Of which:
Non-

performing
assets

Of which:
Non-

performing
assets

Mortgage collateral  86 82

Other collateral  2 2

Personal guarantees  10 14

Public sector  2 2

2019 2018

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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A breakdown of defaults by Group segment at 31 December 
2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Distribution of risk by type of activity and geographi-
cal area

The following table shows the distribution of loans and ad-
vances to other debtors by type of activity at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

At 31 December 2019, the value of collateral received excee-
ded that of loans secured. In the case of mortgage collateral, 
the average LTV of the portfolio is 60.91% (61.65% in 2018) 
(calculated as the ratio of capital outstanding to the appraisal 
value at the grant or novation date). 

Non-performing exposures and associated allowances and 
provisions 

The Group’s default rate and its allowances and provisions 
for non-performing exposures at 31 December 2019 and 
2018 are as follows: 

Mortgage collateral  

Multi-purpose real estate mortgage collateral  694,322 651,736 

Loans secured by cash collateral  9,362 11,897

Loans secured by other collateral  

Other collateralised loans  53,556 43,688

Total 1,634,598 1,467,535

Other mortgage collateral  863,185 751,750

Collateral in the form of pledged securities  14,173 8,464

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

%

%

Default rate  4.49 5.76

Coverage ratio for non-performing exposures  48.08 54.56

2019 2018

Companies 82 70

Individuals, housing purchases secured 
by mortgage collateral  15 16

Property developers  - 8

Individuals, other collateral and purposes  3 6

2019 2018
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General government  1 - - - - - - -

Construction of civil works  - - - - - - - -

Other purposes  143,873 61,568 10,939 29,036 19,304 15,892 7,364 911

Other household loans (f) 
(by purpose) (g) 517,541 423,223 13,699 126,875 135,812 150,291 15,421 8,523

Large corporations (e)  20,846 6,467 1,198 3,073 2,766 1,826 - -

MEMORANDUM ITEM 
Refinancing, refinanced and restructured 
transactions  106,195 55,791 47,143 59,782 17,114 11,511 9,522 5,005

Housing  366,817 361,066 2,509 97,244 116,407 134,386 7,949 7,589

Other purposes  1,346,397 325,161 844,298 389,384 264,003 472,974 33,117 9,981

TOTAL 1,892,181 757,076 857,997 518,616 404,811 624,257 48,538 18,851

SMEs and sole proprietorships (e)  1,325,551 318,694 843,100 386,311 261,237 471,148 33,117 9,981

Consumer loans  6,851 589 251 595 101 13 108 23

Other financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(financial business activities)  21,107 1,996 - 596 1,400 - - -

Non-financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(non-financial business activities)  1,353,532 331,857 844,298 391,145 267,599 473,966 33,117 10,328

Real estate construction and property 
development (including land) (d) 7,135 6,696 - 1,761 3,596 992 - 347

Total

More than 
40% and 
less than 
or equal 
to 60%

More than 
60% and 
less than 

or equal to 
80%

Less than 
or equal to 

40%
More than 

100%

Of which: 
Real estate 
collateral 

 (b)

Of which: 
Other co-

llateral 
(b)

More than 
80% and 
less than 
or equal 
to100%

(a) The definition of loans and advances to other debtors is the one used when drawing up the balance sheet. The table above includes all transactions of this nature, regardless of the heading under 
which they are presented on the balance sheet, other than non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale. The amounts shown reflect the carrying amounts of the transactions, i.e. 
they are presented net of impairment provisions and allowances. 
(b) Includes the carrying amount of all transactions secured by real estate or other collateral, regardless of their loan-to-value percentages or legal form (mortgage, finance lease, reverse repurchase 
agreements, etc.). 
(c) Loan to value is the ratio resulting from dividing the carrying amount of each loan transaction at the statement date by the latest available appraised or assessed value of the associated collateral. 
(d) This item comprises all activities related to real estate construction and property development, including financing of land for property development, irrespective of the counterparty’s sector and 
principal economic activity. 
(e) Non-financial corporations are classified as “Large corporations” and “SMEs” according to the definitions set forth in Commission Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 6 May 2003, concerning the defini-
tion of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. The activity of sole proprietorships is that performed by natural persons in the course of business. 
(f) Households, including non-profit institutions serving households but excluding the business activity of sole proprietorships. 
(g) Loans are classified by purpose using the criteria set forth in rule 69.2.e of Circular 4/2017. 

2019

Thousands of Euros

Secured loans. Loan to value (f) 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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General government  - - - - - - - -

Construction of civil works  - - - - - - - -

Other purposes  131,596 58,465 6,459 35,622 15,858 10,380 2,004 1,060

Other household loans (f) 
(by purpose) (g) 487,854 403,604 8,300 137,127 122,904 136,122 7,836 7,915

Large corporations (e)  22,121 9,454 1,390 791 5,419 4,634 - -

MEMORANDUM ITEM 
Refinancing, refinanced and restructured 
transactions  120,064 61,893 55,978 63,785 21,765 12,602 12,396 7,323

Housing  349,173 344,327 1,646 100,661 106,983 125,695 5,809 6,825

Other purposes  1,160,107 288,484 724,157 378,346 227,584 357,945 38,217 10,549

TOTAL 1,660,663 696,945 732,457 517,443 353,026 494,067 46,053 18,813

SMEs and sole proprietorships (e)  1,137,986 279,030 722,767 377,555 222,165 353,311 38,217 10,549

Consumer loans  7,085 812 195 844 63 47 23 30

Other financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(financial business activities)  7,777 - - - - - - -

Non-financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(non-financial business activities)  1,165,032 293,341 724,157 380,316 230,122 357,945 38,217 10,898

Real estate construction and property 
development (including land) (d) 4,925 4,857 - 1,970 2,538 - - 349

Total

More than 
40% and 
less than 

or equal to 
60%

More than 
60% and 
less than 

or equal to 
80%

Less than 
or equal to 

40%
More than 

100%

Of which: 
Real estate 
collateral 

 (b)

Of which: 
Other co-

llateral 
(b)

More than 
80% and 
less than 
or equal 
to100%

(a) The definition of loans and advances to other debtors is the one used when drawing up the balance sheet. The table above includes all transactions of this nature, regardless of the heading under 
which they are presented on the balance sheet, other than non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale. The amounts shown reflect the carrying amounts of the transactions, i.e. 
they are presented net of impairment provisions and allowances. 
(b) Includes the carrying amount of all transactions secured by real estate or other collateral, regardless of their loan-to-value percentages or legal form (mortgage, finance lease, reverse repurchase 
agreements, etc.). 
(c) Loan to value is the ratio resulting from dividing the carrying amount of each loan transaction at the statement date by the latest available appraised or assessed value of the associated collateral. 
(d) This item comprises all activities related to real estate construction and property development, including financing of land for property development, irrespective of the counterparty’s sector and 
principal economic activity. 
(e) Non-financial corporations are classified as “Large corporations” and “SMEs” according to the definitions set forth in Commission Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 6 May 2003, concerning the defini-
tion of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. The activity of sole proprietorships is that performed by natural persons in the course of business. 
(f) Households, including non-profit institutions serving households but excluding the business activity of sole proprietorships. 
(g) Loans are classified by purpose using the criteria set forth in rule 69.2.e of Circular 4/2017. 

2018

Thousands of Euros

Secured loans. Loan to value (f) 
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The following tables show risk concentration by activity 
and geographical area at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

52

Thousands of Euros

(a) In this table, the definition of risk includes loans and advances, debt securities, equity instruments, derivatives (trading and hedging), investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates and guarantees given, regardless of the heading under which they are presented on the balance sheet, except for non-current assets and 
disposal groups classified as held for sale. 
The amounts shown reflect the carrying amounts of the transactions, i.e. they are presented net of impairment provisions and allowances earmarked for specific 
transactions. Impairment of a group of assets that cannot be allocated to specific transactions is recognised under impairment not allocated to specific transactions.
The distribution of activity by geographical area is based on the country or autonomous region where the borrowers, securities issuers, and counterparties to deriva-
tives and contingent exposures are resident. 
(b) This item comprises all activities related to real estate construction and property development, including financing of land for property development.

Central banks and credit institutions  296,084 274,492 19,579 2,013 -

General government  690,153 520,570 169,583 - -

Construction of civil works  - - - - -

Other household loans (by purpose)  526,056 497,726 7,273 10,394 10,663

Other general government  148,457 148,457 - - -

Large corporations  111,181 111,181 - - -

Consumer loans  6,851 6,725 38 67 21

Central government  541,696 372,113 169,583 - -

Other purposes  1,507,973 1,468,378 39,595 - -

Non-financial corporations and sole proprietorships  
(non-financial business activities)  1,515,108 1,475,513 39,595 - -

Housing  366,816 341,589 6,585 8,568 10,074

Other financial corporations and sole proprietorships  
(financial business activities)  509,680 286,786 222,894 - -

SMEs and sole proprietorships  1,396,792 1,357,197 39,595 - -

Real estate construction and property development (including land) (b) 7,135 7,135 - - -

Other purposes  152,389 149,412 650 1,759 568

TOTAL 3,537,081 3,055,087 458,924 12,407 10,663

Rest of EUTotal (a)2019 Spain Americas Rest of the world

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Central banks and credit institutions  274,492 1,495 246 452 - 166 58 - 330 10,848

General government  520,570 - 3,066 - - - - - - 1

Construction of civil works  - - - - - - - - - -

Other household loans (by purpose)  497,726 40,371 1,852 3,311 5,379 10,026 41,990 6,611 8,938 40,927

Other general government  148,457 - 3,066 - - - - - - 1

Large corporations  111,181 1,043 4 - - 28 408 - - 4,171

Consumer loans  6,725 773 15 118 42 330 45 199 158 676

Central government  372,113 - - - - - - - - -

Other purposes  1,468,378 334,288 40,239 38,659 34,390 83,566 19,876 45,935 64,995 185,733

Non-financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(non-financial business activities)  1,475,513 334,288 40,239 38,659 34,390 83,566 19,876 45,935 64,995 186,640

Housing  341,589 29,406 1,482 2,004 4,872 7,771 2,278 5,599 6,516 28,166

Other financial corporations and sole proprietorships  
(financial business activities)  286,786 4,834 - - - - - - - 7,771

SMEs and sole proprietorships  1,357,197 333,245 40,235 38,659 34,390 83,538 19,468 45,935 64,995 181,562

Real estate construction and property development (including land) 7,135 - - - - - - - - 907

Other purposes  149,412 10,192 355 1,189 465 1,925 39,667 813 2,264 12,085

TOTAL 3,055,087 380,988 45,403 42,422 39,769 93,758 61,924 52,546 74,263 246,187

Aragon Total2019 Andalusia Asturias
Balearic 
Islands

Canary 
Islands Cantabria

Castile - 
La Mancha

Castile 
and Leon

Thousands of Euros

AUTONOMOUS REGIONS

Catalonia 



Informe de Gestión 201954

  

54

Thousands of Euros

AUTONOMOUS REGIONS

Central banks and credit institutions   57 273 249,699 1,281 - - 9,587 - -

General government   5,208 - 76,621 10,691 - 38,589 - 14,281 -

Construction of civil works   - - - - - - - - -

Other household loans (by purpose) (d)   3,904 7,667 309,728 3,491 51 8,919 4,285 275 1

Other general government   5,208 - 76,621 10,691 - 38,589 - 14,281 -

Large corporations (c)   1 - 105,526 - - - - - -

Consumer loans   185 55 3,788 91 28 78 143 - 1

Central government   - - - - - - - - -

Other purposes   35,433 29,730 430,324 29,113 2,500 63,822 29,732 - 43

Non-financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(non-financial business activities)   35,433 29,730 435,870 29,113 2,500 64,504 29,732 - 43

Housing   3,201 3,705 233,913 2,304 16 6,574 3,546 236 -

Other financial corporations and sole proprietorships  
(financial business activities)   - - 253,086 158 - 20,937 - - -

SMEs and sole proprietorships   35,432 29,730 324,798 29,113 2,500 63,822 29,732 - 43

Real estate construction and property development (including land)  - - 5,546 - - 682 - - -

Other purposes   518 3,907 72,027 1,096 7 2,267 596 39 -

TOTAL  44,602 37,670 1,325,004 44,734 2,551 132,949 43,604 14,556 44         

Galicia2019 Extremadura Madrid Murcia Navarre Valencia
Basque
Country La Rioja

Ceuta and 
Melilla

(c) Non-financial corporations are classified as large corporations” and “SMEs” according to the definition applicable to these two categories for purposes of calculating capital. The activity of sole proprie-
torships is that performed by natural persons in the course of business. 
(d) The activities of households and non-profit institutions serving households are classified by purpose using the criteria set forth in rule 69.2.e. of Circular 4/2017. 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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(a) In this table, the definition of risk includes loans and advances, debt securities, equity instruments, derivatives (trading and hedging), investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates and guarantees given, regardless of the heading under which they are presented on the balance sheet, except for non-current assets and 
disposal groups classified as held for sale. 
The amounts shown reflect the carrying amounts of the transactions, i.e. they are presented net of impairment provisions and allowances earmarked for specific 
transactions. Impairment of a group of assets that cannot be allocated to specific transactions is recognised under impairment not allocated to specific transactions.
The distribution of activity by geographical area is based on the country or autonomous region where the borrowers, securities issuers, and counterparties to deriva-
tives and contingent exposures are resident. 
(b) This item comprises all activities related to real estate construction and property development, including financing of land for property development.

Central banks and credit institutions  303,545 290,753 10,777 2,015 -

General government  782,755 593,391 189,364 - -

Construction of civil works  - - - - -

Other household loans (by purpose)  489,741 465,663 5,451 9,802 8,825

Other general government  175,341 175,341 - - -

Large corporations  122,816 106,205 16,611 - -

Consumer loans  7,094 6,972 21 73 28

Central government  607,414 418,050 189,364 - -

Other purposes 1,316,424 1,283,942 32,253 229 -

Non-financial corporations and sole proprietorships  
(non-financial business activities)  1,321,349 1,288,867 32,253 229 -

Housing  349,175 327,501 5,186 7,966 8,522

Other financial corporations and sole proprietorships  
(financial business activities)  416,480 311,585 104,895 - -

SMEs and sole proprietorships 1,193,608 1,177,737 15,642 229 -

Real estate construction and property development (including land) (b) 4,925 4,925 - - -

Other purposes  133,472 131,190 244 1,763 275

TOTAL 3,313,870 2,950,259 342,740 12,046 8,825

Rest of the EUTotal (a)2018 Spain Americas Rest of the world

Thousands of Euros
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Central banks and credit institutions  290,753 - - - - - 2,830 - - -

General government  593,391 - 5,109 - - - - - - -

Construction of civil works  - - - - - - - - - -

Other household loans (by purpose)  465,663 34,557 1,947 3,980 5,268 6,960 41,265 6,737 6,846 36,244

Other general government  175,341 - 5,109 - - - - - - -

Large corporations  106,205 971 - - - 28 - - 2,533 1,491

Consumer loans  6,972 790 12 170 151 243 38 188 130 595

Central government  418,050         

Other purposes  1,283,942 296,703 30,192 34,381 25,240 78,916 12,866 42,691 58,266 150,114

Non-financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(non-financial business activities)  1,288,867 296,703 30,192 34,381 25,240 78,916 12,866 42,691 58,266 150,463

Housing  327,501 25,690 1,567 1,745 4,727 5,590 2,323 5,741 5,869 23,852

Other financial corporations and sole proprietorships 
(financial business activities)  311,585 - - - - - - - - 4,468

SMEs and sole proprietorships  1,177,737 295,732 30,192 34,381 25,240 78,888 12,866 42,691 55,733 148,623

Real estate construction and property development  (including land) (b)  4,925 - - - - - - - - 349

Other purposes  131,190 8,077 368 2,065 390 1,127 38,904 808 847 11,797

TOTAL 2,950,259 331,260 37,248 38,361 30,508 85,876 56,961 49,428 65,112 191,175

AragonTotal2018 Andalusia Asturias
Balearic 
Islands

Canary 
Islands Cantabria

Castile - 
La Mancha

Castile 
and Leon Catalonia 

Thousands of Euros

AUTONOMOUS REGIONS

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Central banks and credit institutions   - - 256,581 - - 24,806 6,536 - -

General government   5,416 - 77,510 11,139 271 61,354 - 14,542 -

Construction of civil works   - - - - - - - - -

Other household loans (by purpose) (d)  3,090 5,345 294,496 3,440 31 9,335 3,536 2,586 -

Other general government   5,416 - 77,510 11,139 271 61,354 - 14,542 -

Large corporations (c)  1 - 101,181 - - - - - -

Consumer loans   246 49 4,034 77 6 74 168 1 -

Central government   - -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Other purposes   33,138 27,224 387,353 22,422 - 57,477 26,926 - 33

Non-financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (non-financial business activities)   33,138 27,224 391,929 22,422 - 57,477 26,926 - 33

Housing   2,193 2,889 230,760 1,812 22 7,327 2,850 2,544 -

Other financial corporations and sole
proprietorships (financial business activities)  - - 307,117 - - - - - -

SMEs and sole proprietorships   33,137 27,224 286,172 22,422 - 57,477 26,926 - 33

Real estate construction and property development (including land)  - - 4,576 - - - - - -

Other purposes   651 2,407 59,702 1,551 3 1,934 518 41 -

TOTAL  41,644 32,569 1,327,633 37,001 302 152,972 36,998 17,128 33

Galicia2018 Extremadura Madrid Murcia Navarre Valencia
Basque
Country La Rioja

Ceuta and 
Melilla

(c) This item comprises all activities related to real estate construction and property development, including financing of land for property development. (e) Non-financial corporations are classified as 
large corporations” and “SMEs” according to the definition applicable to these two categories for purposes of calculating capital. The activity of sole proprietorships is that performed by natural persons 
in the course of business. 
(d) The activities of households and non-profit institutions serving households are classified by purpose using the criteria set forth in rule 69.2.e. of Circular 4/2017. 

Thousands of Euros

AUTONOMOUS REGIONS
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Information on exposure to the property development and 
real estate construction sectors 

It is general Group policy to avoid entering into real estate 
financing, except in the case of small transactions which do 
not involve a large capital contribution. Nonetheless, certain 
transactions were financed for companies investing in pro-
perty developments; we have therefore considered them as 
being exposed to real estate risk. 

At 31 December 2019 land classed as performing exposu-
res amounts to Euros 1,768 thousand (Euros 1,740 thousand 
in 2018). 

With respect to the remaining risk, a large percentage re-
lates to loans secured by mortgage collateral and no signi-
ficant additional losses are foreseen. Regular meetings are 
held with borrowers to monitor their status. 

The following table shows accumulated financing granted 
by the Group at 31 December 2019 and 2018 to finance real 
estate construction and property development activities, 
along with the associated allowances and provisions for cre-
dit risk at those dates:  

58

Thousands of Euros

7.1.1. Information on exposure to the property development 
and real estate construction sectors 

Financing of real estate construction and property 
development (including land) (business in Spain)  7,366 1,403 (231)

Of which: in default/non-performing  555 208 (208)

Memorandum item: 
Total write-off  (2,949)  

Accumulated 
impairment

Gross carying 
amount   2019

Excess of gross exposure 
over the maximum 

recoverable amount of the 
effective collateral

MEMORANDUM ITEM
Loans and advances to other debtors, excluding general 
government (business in Spain) (carrying amount)   1,892,181

Impairment and allowances and provisions for 
performing exposures (total business)  20,464

Total assets (total business) (carrying amount)   3,631,882

Thousands 
of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Financing of real estate construction and property 
development (including land) (business in Spain)  7,620 1,030 (2,694)

Of which: in default/non-performing  3,017 206 (2,678)

Memorandum item: 
Total write-off  (158) 

Accumulated 
impairment

Gross carying 
amount   2018

Excess of gross exposure 
over the maximum 

recoverable amount of the 
effective collateral

MEMORANDUM ITEM
Loans and advances to other debtors, excluding general 
government (business in Spain) (carrying amount)   1,660,663

Impairment and allowances and provisions for 
performing exposures (total business)  11,479

Total assets (total business) (carrying amount)   3,400,499

Thousands of Euros

Thousands 
of Euros
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The following table shows a breakdown of financing tran-
sactions granted for real estate construction and property 
development recognised by the Group at 31 December 2019 
and 2018 (business in Spain): 

Financing: Gross amount 
Thousands of Euros 

Not secured by mortgage collateral 448 2,542

Secured by mortgage collateral (breakdown by class of pledged asset) (b)  6,918 5,078

Finished buildings and other finished structures (c)  555 555

Housing  - -

Land  1,686 1,659

Other  3,995 2,864

Other  555 555

Consolidated urban land  1,686 1,659

Buildings and other structures under construction (c)  4,677 2,864

Other land  - -

Housing  682 -

Total 7,366 7,620

2019 2018

a. Amount before deducting any accumulated impairment. 
b. Includes all transactions secured by mortgage collateral, irrespective of the legal form of the guarantee, or the amount as a percentage of the latest available 
appraised value (loan to value). 
c. If a building serves both residential (housing) and other purposes, the related financing is included in the category representing its main use.  

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Household loans for housing purchases (business in Spain) 

Details of home purchase loans granted by the Group at 31 
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows (business in Spain): 

    Loans for housing purchases  357,127 6,679 340,832 7,185

Not secured by mortgage collateral 3,718 327 3,292 298

Secured by mortgage collateral (b)  353,409 6,352 337,540 6,887

Gross carrying
amount

 (a)

Gross carrying 
amount

 (a)

Of which: 
in default/

non-performing

Of which: 
in default/

non-performing

a. Amount before deducting any accumulated impairment. 
b. Includes all transactions secured by mortgage collateral, irrespective of the amount as a percentage of the latest available appraised value. 

Thousands of Euros

20182019



62

The following table provides a breakdown of mortgage-bac-
ked home purchase loans granted to households at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018 based on total exposure as a percen-
tage of the latest available appraised value (business in Spain) 
of loans granted by Group credit 

Information on real estate assets foreclosed or received in pay-
ment of debt (business in Spain) 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, details of assets received in 
payment of debt and equity instruments, investments and fi-
nancing granted to companies holding these assets (business 
in Spain) are as follows: 

Loan to value (a) - Thousands of Euros

(a) LTV is the ratio resulting from dividing the gross carrying amount at the reporting date by the latest available appraised value. 

 Gross amount  96,764 113,649 131,380 5,879 5,737 353,409

 Gross amount  94,290 106,117 124,390 5,473 7,270 337,540

Of which: in default/non-performing  1,403 489 150                        2,334 1,976 6,352

Of which: in default/non-performing  456 - 555 1,408 4,468 6,887

LTV ≤ 40%2019

2018

80% < LTV 
≤ 100%

40% < LTV 
≤ 60% LTV > 100%

60% < LTV 
≤ 80% Total

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Real estate assets deriving from financing for real 
estate construction and property development (a)  1,062 (257) 444 (61)

Housing  618 (196) - -

Consolidated urban land  - - - -

Housing  - - - -

Equity instruments of entities holding real estate assets 
foreclosed or received in payment of debt - - - -

Finished buildings and other finished structures  1,062 (257) - -

Land  - - - -

Financing to entities holding real estate assets 
foreclosed or received in payment of debt  1,492 - 1,877 -

Buildings and other structures under construction  - - - -

Real estate assets deriving from mortgage financing to 
households for housing purchases  8,741 (5,465) 8,403 (630)

Equity instruments foreclosed or received in payment of debt 1,233 (425) 1,233 (425)

Other  444 (61) 444 (61)

Other land  - - - -

Other  - - - -

Other real estate assets received in payment of debt (b)  6,525 (2,041) 7,912 (2,494)

Gross 
carrying  amount

Accumulated
impairment

Accumulated
impairment

Gross 
carrying  amount

Thousands of Euros

20182019

(a) Includes assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt deriving from financing granted by the Entity in relation to its business in Spain, as well as equity invest-
ments and financing granted to entities holding these assets. 
(b) Includes real estate assets other than those deriving from financing of real estate construction and property development and mortgage financing to households 
for housing purchases. 
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As explained in note 14, most of the properties foreclo-
sed by Banco Caminos, S.A. are held by Maxlan, S.A.U. The 
foreclosed properties deriving from the write-off of loans 
granted by Bancofar, S.A. are recognised by that institu-
tion itself. 

The general policy is to try to sell these properties (a pro-
cess helped by the fact that there are no developments 
under construction) and, if their sale is not feasible, to rent 
them out. 

Practically all the homes are rented out, and thus consoli-
dated earnings are not undermined. 

In accordance with Banco de España Circular 4/2017, the 
Group uses the following definitions: 

Refinancing transaction: a transaction which, irrespec-
tive of the borrower or collateral/guarantees, is gran-
ted or used for economic or legal reasons relating to 
the borrower’s/s’ current or foreseeable financial di-
fficulties, either to repay one or several transactions 
granted by the institution itself or by others in its 
group to the borrower/s or to one or more other com-
panies in its/their group, or to bring these transactions 
wholly or partially up to date in payment, in order to 
facilitate debt payments by borrowers whose transac-
tions are repaid or refinanced (principal and interest) 
because they are, or will foreseeably become, unable 
to comply with the terms and conditions on time and 
in due form. 

Refinanced transaction: a transaction which is brought 
wholly or partially up to date in payment as a result of 

a refinancing transaction carried out by the institution 
itself or by another institution in its group. 

Restructured transaction: a transaction in which, for 
economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s/s’ 
current or foreseeable financial difficulties, the finan-
cial terms and conditions are changed in order to fa-
cilitate payment of the debt (principal and interest) 
because the borrower is or will foreseeably become 
unable to comply with those terms and conditions on 
time and in due form, even if that change was envi-
saged in the contract. In any event, transactions are 
considered to be restructured when a debt reduction 
takes place, assets are received to reduce the debt or 
their terms and conditions are changed to extend their 
maturity, change the repayment table to reduce ins-
talments in the short term or reduce their frequency, 
or establish or extend the principal repayment and/or 
interest grace period, except when it can be demons-
trated that the terms and conditions were changed for 
reasons other than the borrowers’ financial difficulties 
and are similar to those applying in the market on the 
date of change on transactions with borrowers of a 
similar risk profile. 

Rollover transaction: a transaction executed to re-
place another previously granted by the institution 
itself without the borrower having any financial di-
fficulties or foreseeably having any in the future, i.e. 
the transaction takes place for reasons other than 
refinancing. 

Renegotiated transaction: a transaction whose financial 
terms and conditions are changed without the borrower 
having any financial difficulties or foreseeably having any 
in the future, i.e. the terms and conditions are changed 
for reasons other than restructuring. 
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7.1.2. Refinancing and restructuring policy for loans
and credit facilities
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To classify a transaction as a rollover or a renegotiation, 
the borrowers must be able to obtain transactions on the 
market for an amount and under financial conditions ana-
logous to those applied by the institution at the time of the 
rollover or renegotiation. These conditions must also be in 
line with those granted at the time to other borrowers with 
a similar risk profile. 

   
The general guiding principle for the Group is not to carry 

out refinancing or restructuring transactions unless guaran-
tees are increased or the borrower settles at least the loan 
interest. 

When these new guarantees are provided, their effective-
ness must be taken into account. 

Decisions to refinance or restructure are based on a ca-
se-by-case analysis of the transaction and are submitted to 
the competent body for approval. 

These refinancing and restructuring decisions are periodi-
cally reviewed for monitoring purposes. 

  
The breakdown of refinanced and restructured transac-

tions at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 



66

Credit institutions  - - - - - - -

Credit institutions  - - - - - - -

Other financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (financial business activities) - - - - - - -

Other financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships  (financial business activities) - - - - - - -

Of which: financing of real estate construction 
and property development (including land)   - - - - - - -

Of which: financing of real estate construction 
and property development (including land)   - - - - - - -

Total 91 4,871 435 124,646 53,839 61,309 (23,322)

Total 56 2,064 129 43,097 15,424 23,663 (19,763)

Other household loans  61 1,191 204 28,357 26,573 - (2,269)

Other household loans  39 874 44 8,383 7,181 - (1,923)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
Financing classified as non-current assets 
and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale  - - - - - - -

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
Financing classified as non-current assets 
and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale - - - - - - -

General government   - - - - - - -

General government   - - - - - - -

Non-financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (non-financial business activities)  30 3,680 231 96,289 27,266 61,309 (21,053)

Non-financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (non-financial business activities)  17 1,190 85 34,714 8,243 23,663 (17,840)

Real estate
collateral

Accumulated impair-
ment or accumulated 
losses in fair value due 

to credit risk 
No. of 

transactions
No. of 

transactions

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount2019 (Thousands of Euros)

Other 
collateral

TOTAL

Of which: NON-PERFORMING

Secured

Maximum amount 
of eligible collateral 

Unsecured

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Credit institutions - - - - - - -

Credit institutions  - - - - - - -

Other financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (financial business activities) - - - - - - -

Other financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships  (financial business activities) - - - - - - -

Of which: financing of real estate construction 
and property development (including land)  1 2,472 - - - - (2,472)

Of which: financing of real estate construction 
and property development (including land)  1 2,472 - - - - (2,472)

Total 99 6,280 484 145,126 59,274 73,359 (31,341)

Total 60 5,275 152 47,678 15,798 26,613 (27,280)

Other household loans  65 1,623 228 34,184 30,903 157 (3,472)

Other household loans  39 1,149 52 9,031 6,678 157 (3,013)

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
Financing classified as non-current assets 
and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale  - - - - - - -

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
Financing classified as non-current assets 
and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale - - - - - - - -

General government - - - - - - -

General government   - - - - - - -

Non-financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (non-financial business activities) 34 4,657 256 110,942 28,371 73,202 (27,869)

Non-financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (non-financial business activities) 21 4,126 100 38,647 9,120 26,456 (24,267)

2018 (Thousands of Euros)

Of which: NON-PERFORMING

Real estate
collateral

Accumulated impair-
ment or accumulated 
losses in fair value due 

to credit risk 
No. of 

transactions
No. of 

transactions

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Other 
collateral

TOTAL

Secured

Maximum amount 
of eligible collateral 

Unsecured
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At 31 December 2019 and 2018, transactions classified as 
non-performing during the year, following refinancing or 

restructuring, are broken down as follows: 
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Fully secured by real estate 
mortgage collateral Other collateral Unsecured 

Credit institutions  - - - - - -

Credit institutions - - - - - -

Other household loans  10 2,683 - - 7 109

Other household loans  4 618 - - 5 112

General government  - - - - - -

General government  - - - - - -

Total 12 3,471 - - 9 247

Total 10 1,071 - - 8 236

Of which: financing of real estate construction 
and property development (including land) - - - - - -

Of which: financing of real estate construction 
and property development (including land) - - - - - -

Other financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (financial business activities)  - - - - - -

Other financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (financial business activities)  - - - - - -

Non-financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (non-financial business activities) 2 788 - - 2 138

Non-financial corporations and sole 
proprietorships (non-financial business activities) 6 453 - - 3 124

No. of
transactions

No. of
transactions

No. of
transactions2019

2018

Gross amount 
(thousands 

of Euros)

Gross amount 
(thousands 

of Euros)

Gross amount 
(thousands 

of Euros)

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The Group has a Credit Risk Policies Manual, the latest up-
date to which was approved by its board of directors on 26 
December 2019.  

This document is in line with Spanish Law 16/2011 on con-
sumer credit agreements, Ministry of Economy and Finance 
Order EHA/2899/2011 on banking service transparency and 
customer protection, and Banco de España Circular 5/2012 
of 27 June 2012, as amended by Banco de España Circular 
4/2015 of 29 July 2015, to credit institutions and payment 
service providers, on banking service transparency and res-
ponsible lending. 

The Risk Control Department is tasked with updating these 
policies and procedures as required by evolving circumstan-
ces and the needs unfolding in the course of the Group’s 
lending business and in light of the broader economic and 
financial situation, and in line with the applicable regulations 
at any given time. 

This risk arises from possible adverse variations in interest 
rates on assets and liabilities, the exchange rates at which 
assets and liabilities or off-balance sheet figures are transla-
ted, and market prices of marketable financial instruments. 

The sophistication of the monitoring and measuring 
processes is commensurate with the risk assumed by the 
Group and, therefore, market risk management is deemed 
to be good. 

None of the financial instruments traded in active mar-
kets had become relatively illiquid at 31 December 2019 
and 2018. 

This risk is understood as the sensitivity of the Group’s net 
interest margin to changes in market interest rates. 

In order to adequately measure interest rate risk, the Ban-
co Caminos Group assesses its main risk sources – repricing 
risk and rate curve risk, among other factors – from two 
complementary standpoints: impact on net interest income 
(short term) and on economic value (long term). 

The management objective is to promote stability in the 
net interest income and the equity value in the event of mo-
vements in market rates, while respecting the established 
solvency and other regulatory limits. 

The control and monitoring of structural interest rate risk 
management is based on a set of metrics and tools that ena-
ble the Group to monitor its risk profile appropriately. 

Sensitivity to interest rate risk 

The table below shows an internal analysis of the sensiti-
vity of consolidated economic value and net interest income 
to movements in interest rates at 31 December 2019: 

7.1.3. Practices for the responsible granting 
of consumer loans and credit facilities 

7.2. Market risk 

7.2.1. Interest rate risk 



70

At 31 December 2018, estimated sensitivity at consolida-
ted level was as follows: 

The above analysis was performed based on outstanding 
transactions at 31 December. Given the financial situation 
in the domestic and international markets, the sensitivity 
analysis was performed using the assumptions shown in the 
table above as it is not possible to estimate the probability of 
the various interest rate scenarios. 

This risk arises as a consequence of changes in market 
prices, on account of either factors specific to the indi-
vidual instrument or factors that affect all instruments 
traded on the market. 

The Group’s Treasury and Capital Markets areas take 
advantage of business opportunities which present 
themselves (trading portfolio), and provide services to 
carry out transactions defined by the bodies responsible 
for the overall management of interest rate and liquidity 
risk which make up the Entity’s remaining portfolios (fi-
nancial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, financial assets at amortised cost, and non-tra-
ding financial assets mandatorily at fair value through 
profit or loss).  

In order to carry out these functions, the financial ins-
truments authorised by the board of directors and/or 
the executive committee have been used, establishing 
internal limits and procedures for measuring risk on 
each product, the latter generally being liquid assets, wi-
thin current market trends. 

The Group’s trading portfolio is not subject to capital 
consumption from this type of risk as the average balan-
ce of all the Bank’s portfolios falls below the thresholds 
stipulated in capital adequacy legislation for measuring 
price risk. However, the Entity applies an objective, con-
sistent methodology to monitor invested financial ins-
truments based on a daily analysis of all prices, which 
is contrasted, also on a daily basis, by the Group’s Risk 
Control area. 

At all times the objective is to shorten the average life 
of the portfolio such that the impact on equity will not be 
significant compared to the excess capital. 

7.2.2. Price risk 

200 basis point increase 
in Euribor    (8,689) 2,772

200 basis point decrease 
in Euribor  22,637 (1,109)

Impact on 
economic value

Impact on net 
interest income

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Note: The scenarios include regulatory modifications by the European Banking Authority and 
the Banco de España applicable as of June/December 2019. The new scenarios include new 
minimum interest rates of between -1% and 0%. 

200 basis point increase 
in Euribor  (8,099) 11,884

200 basis point decrease 
in Euribor  5,226 (533)

Impact on 
economic value

Impact on net 
interest income 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The Risk Control department, which is tasked with mo-
nitoring and controlling the established limits and re-
porting periodically on the Group’s liquidity position. 

Decisions regarding liquidity and financing are based on 
an understanding of the current situation of the institutions 
that make up the Group (environment, strategy, balance 
sheet and liquidity statement), the future liquidity needs of 
their various businesses (liquidity projections) and on access 
to and the status of its sources of wholesale funding. 

The Group’s aim is to maintain levels of liquidity sufficient 
to cover its short- and long-term requirements from stable 
sources of funding while optimising the impact of finance 
costs on the income statement.  

Throughout 2019, the Group’s liquidity was characterised by: 

A high level of basic liquidity in order to achieve ba-
lanced exposure to liquidity risk, as regards the term 
(short and long term) and the various sources of 
funds (inflows and outflows).  

Compliance with regulatory ratios, including the liqui-
dity coverage ratio (LCR), which at year end was signi-
ficantly above the minimum threshold. 

Holding an ample liquidity buffer in the form of 
last-resort funds in the event of heightened market 
stress, meaning times when it is not possible to ob-
tain financing at satisfactory prices or maturities. 
   
The amount drawn down against the Banco de Es-
paña credit facility remains unchanged. At the 2019 
year end pledged securities stand at Euros 358 mi-
llion (Euros 383 million in 2018) and the credit facility 
has been drawn down by Euros 322 million (drawn 

At the 2019 year end, total Group assets denominated in 
foreign currency amount to Euros 11,110 thousand (Euros 
15,515 thousand in 2018) and total liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency stand at Euros 11,190 thousand (Euros 
15,466 thousand in 2018). 

This risk reflects the possible difficulty in availing of or ha-
ving access to sufficient liquid funds at an adequate cost to 
meet all payment obligations. 

Liquidity is a key factor in the Banco Caminos Group’s stra-
tegy and is managed through comprehensive daily monito-
ring of the Group’s liquidity.  

Liquidity risk management is rooted in: 

Senior management, with whom responsibility ultima-
tely lies. 

The Investment Committee, which continually analyses 
the target liquidity position and designs strategies to 
secure and/or anticipate the financing requirements 
deriving from the Group’s business activities, all of 
which are underpinned by guidelines set by senior ma-
nagement, with particular regard for the reports provi-
ded by the external expert engaged by the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee (ALCO). 

The Financial area, which is responsible for the day-
to-day management and for executing the measures 
adopted by the Investment Committee, while the Sales 
department must provide coordination between the 
different branches on the various management guide-
lines from a customer loan perspective.  

7.2.3. Currency risk 

7.3. Liquidity risk 



72

down by Euros 322 million in 2018). These are the 
amounts reported by the Banco de España (obtained 
after valuing the Eurocartera by ISIN and issuer cre-
dit rating) using different measurement criteria than 
those applied for accounting purposes. 

The breakdown of the Group’s basic liquidity position is as 
follows: 

A breakdown of the Group’s financial instruments by remai-
ning term to maturity at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is pro-
vided below. The maturity dates considered when preparing 
the breakdown below are the expected maturity dates as per 
contractual conditions. The breakdown depicts a short-term 
liquidity gap for the Group, a common feature of the retail 
banking business; however, historic experience with these 
deposits shows a very high level of recurrence:  

Liquidity Caminos Group  327,548 422,510

Securities available for lending  97,673 198,570

Funds Banco de España + credit institutions  40,128 64,005

Balance available at other financial institutions  70,788 13,299

Credit facility with credit institutions  - -

Fixed income (available for pledging)  11,393 31,702

Treasury bills, Group companies  - -

Total balance (with portfolio)  379,069 518,217

Banco de España treasury account balance (note 8)  159,087 210,641

Banco de España credit facility (Eurosystem)  40,128 64,005

Total balance  367,676 486,515

2019 2018
Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Assets 

Liabilities 

Cash, cash balances at central 
banks and other demand deposits  231,794 - 3,432 - - - - - 235,226

Deposits from central banks  - - - 238,556 - 79,104 - - 317,660

Loans and advances  81,148 26,219 16,936 20,530 15,035 156,115 1,597,755 65 1,913,803

Deposits from other creditors  1,413,735 344,859 164,561 175,493 199,054 359,510 56,548 69,240 2,783,000

Deposits from credit institutions  14,136 169,009 - 5,000 12,000 - - - 200,145

Debt securities  - 5,303 146,748 156,815 185,084 258,017 542,455 3,508 1,297,930

Other liabilities with specified maturity 2,021 - - - - - - 45,020 47,041

Other assets with specified maturity - - - - - - - - -

Total 1,429,892 513,868 164,561 419,049 211,054 438,614 56,548 114,260 3,347,846

Total 312,942 31,522 167,116 177,345 200,119 414,132 2,140,210 3,573 3,446,959

Gap -1,116,950 -482,346 2,555 -241,704 -10,935 -24,482 2,083,662 -110,687 99,113

Accumulated gap -1,116,950 -1,599,296 -1,596,741 -1,838,445 -1,849,380 -1,873,862 209,800 99,113 

Up to 1
month2019 On demand 

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Unspecified or 
unclassified 

maturity Total

Thousands of Euros
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Assets 

Liabilities 

Cash, cash balances at central 
banks and other demand deposits  239,451 - - - - - - - 239,451

Deposits from central banks  - - - - - 318,966 - - 318,966

Loans and advances  26,871 2,149 9,899 906 71,213 95,467 1,471,288 - 1,677,793

Deposits from other creditors 1,203,881 328,796 240,937 154,815 318,643 384,025 58,214 32,141 2,721,452

Deposits from credit institutions  7,054 - - -             8,500 - - 39,588 55,142

Debt securities  35,447        10,346 32,560 114,858 50,583 614,030 377,370 103,577 1,338,771

Other liabilities with specified maturity 15,346 - - - - 11,056 - 6,384 32,786

Other assets with specified maturity - - - - - - - - -

Total 1,226,281 328,796 240,937 154,815 327,143 714,047 58,214 78,113 3,128,346

Total 301,769 12,495 42,459 115,764 121,796 709,497 1,848,658 103,577 3,256,015

Gap (924,512) (316,301) (198,478) (39,051) (205,347) (4,550) 1,790,444 25,464 127,669

Accumulated gap (924,512) (1,240,813) (1,439,291) (1,478,342) (1,683,689) (1,688,239) 102,205 127,669

2018
Up to 1
monthOn demand 

1 to 3 
months

3 to 6 
months

6 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Unspecified or 
unclassified 

maturity Total

Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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In respect of the tables above, note that although custo-
mer current and savings accounts held by the Group have 
been classified as demand deposits based on their contrac-
tual terms, the actual settlement term for these balances is 
estimated to be longer. 

The tables below present the fair value of the Group’s fi-
nancial instruments, by class of financial asset and financial 
liability and level, at 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

Level 1: Financial instruments whose fair value is de-
termined based on their quoted prices in active mar-
kets with no modifications to these quoted prices. 

Level 2: Financial instruments whose fair value is esti-
mated on the basis of their quoted price in organised 
markets for similar instruments or through other va-
luation techniques in which all significant inputs are 
based on directly or indirectly observable market data. 

Level 3: Instruments whose fair value is estimated 
through valuation techniques in which a certain signi-
ficant input is not based on observable market data. 

For purposes of the above paragraphs, an input is conside-
red significant if it is important in determining the fair value 
as a whole. 

The following table summarises the carrying amounts of 
financial instruments based on their fair value hierarchy le-
vels at 31 December 2019 and 2018:  

7.4. Fair value of financial instruments 
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Thousands of Euros

ASSETS 

ASSETS 

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 
demand deposits  235,226 - - 235,226 235,226

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 
demand deposits 239,451 - - 239,451 239,451

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities  - - 47,041 47,041 47,041

Derivatives  - 10,319 - - -

Derivatives   - 1,641 - - -

Financial assets held for trading  1,915 - 2,147 4,062 4,062

Financial assets held for trading 881 - 341 1,222 1,222

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily 
at fair value through profit 
or loss 64,811 16,954 11,615 93,380 93,380

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily 
at fair value through profit 
or loss 44,441 16,803 8,635 69,879 69,879

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  789,883 171,281 158,050 1,119,214 1,119,214

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  845,447 318,605 - 1,164,052 1,164,052

Financial assets at amortised cost  - 160,979 1,913,803 2,074,782 2,059,761

Financial assets at amortised cost  - 149,031 1,677,793 1,826,824 1,819,309

Deposits from credit institutions  - - 200,145 200,145 200,145

Deposits from credit institutions - - 55,142 55,142 55,142

Deposits from central banks  - - 317,660 317,660 317,660

Deposits from central banks  - - 318,966 318,966 318,966

Deposits from other creditors  - - 2,783,000 2,783,000 2,783,000

Deposits from other creditors  - - 2,721,452 2,721,452 2,721,452

LIABILITIES 

Pasivo

Level 3Level 12019

2018

Level 2
Total fair 

value
Total 

balance sheet

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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whose fair value at those dates does not differ significantly 
from their carrying amount (see note 16). 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the breakdown of cash, 
cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 
on the accompanying balance sheet is as follows:  

The account held at the Banco de España must meet the 
minimum reserve ratio. 

The Group’s general criteria for estimating the fair value of 
its financial instruments are: 

If an active market publishes observable quoted prices 
and that market is considered sufficiently deep, those pri-
ces are used to obtain the instruments’ fair value. 

For instruments traded in an inactive market or for which 
there is no market, in most cases fair value is initially de-
termined using their acquisition cost. Subsequently, if 
their fair value cannot be reliably estimated by observing 
recent transactions in identical or similar instruments or 
on the basis of recent transaction prices, or using a valua-
tion model in which all the variables are taken exclusively 
from market-observable inputs, the fair values shown in 
the tables above are taken as their cost and are presented 
as “Level 3” for fair value hierarchy purposes. 

In the specific cases of financial assets classified as cash 
and deposits at central banks and as financial assets at 
amortised cost, and liabilities classified as financial lia-
bilities at amortised cost, in the tables above, the Bank’s 
management believes, on account of the nature of their 
interest rates, terms to maturity and counterparties, etc., 
that their carrying amounts (amortised cost) do not di-
ffer significantly from their fair values; accordingly, their 
amortised cost is used as a proxy for their fair value. 

No financial instruments at fair value held at the 2019 and 
2018 year ends have been transferred between levels 2 and 3.

At 31 December 2019, there are properties for own use 
with a carrying amount of Euros 41,432 thousand (Euros 
39,684 thousand in 2018) and other items of property, plant 
and equipment for own use at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

7.5. Fair value of property, plant and equipment  

VIII
CASH, CASH BALANCES 

AT CENTRAL BANKS AND 
OTHER DEMAND DEPOSITS 

Cash  1,326 1,402

Total 235,226 239,451

Other demand deposits  74,813 27,408

Cash balances at central banks (note 7.3)  159,087 210,641

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros
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In 2019 and 2018 accrued interest expenses on the ac-
count held at Banco de España amount to Euros 278 thou-
sand and Euros 394 thousand, respectively (see note 24.1). 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, other demand deposits de-
nominated in currencies other than the Euro amount to Euros 
2,291 thousand and Euros 6,594 thousand, respectively. 

The average annual interest rate on other demand depo-
sits in 2019 and 2018 was approximately 0.01% and 0.01%, 
respectively. 

For purposes of drawing up the consolidated statement of 
cash flows, the Group considers cash, cash balances at central 
banks and other demand deposits to be cash (see note 3.5.4). 

Details of this caption of the consolidated balance sheet 
are as follows: 

IX
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 

Debt securities  3,508 633 - -

Equity instruments  404 248 - -

Total 4,062 1,222 - -

Derivatives 

Derivative on securitisation bond cash flows  150 341 - -

20192019 2018 2018

Thousands of Euros

LiabilitiesAssets

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Details of debt securities classified by counterparty are as 
follows: 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the portfolio of non-tra-
ding financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit 
or loss does not include any debt securities denominated in 
a foreign currency.  

At 31 December 2019 there were no collateralised securi-
ties relating to monetary policy and intraday financing inclu-
ded in the portfolio of non-trading financial assets mandato-
rily at fair value through profit or loss (Euros 2,036 thousand 
in 2018). 

Details of this heading by remaining term to maturity are 
set forth in note 7.3 Liquidity risk. 

Interest accrued in 2019 on debt securities amounted 
to Euros 430 thousand (Euros 707 thousand in 2018) (see 
note 24.1). 

This heading on the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheet includes financial instruments issued by other entities, 
such as shares and non-voting equity units, which have the 

The expiry of the derivative contract written on securitisa-
tion bond cash flows is linked to the loans allocated by the 
Group to TDA 20 Mixto, F.T.A. (see note 12.3). The notional 
amount of the contract is linked to the outstanding balance 
of the loans allocated to the aforementioned securitisation 
fund by Banco Caminos. 

Details of this caption of the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet are as follows: 

X
NON-TRADING FINANCIAL 

ASSETS MANDATORILY 
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 

PROFIT OR LOSS 

Debt securities  29,282 33,381

Credit institutions  13,614 14,964

Equity instruments  64,098 36,498

Other resident sectors  15,668 18,417

Total 93,380 69,879

Total 29,282 33,381

2019

2019

2018

2018

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

10.1. Debt securities 

10.2. Equity instruments 
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Details of this caption of the consolidated balance sheet 
are as follows: 

Details of debt securities classified by counterparty are as 
follows: 

nature of equity instruments for the issuer, except for those 
companies over which control is exercised or in which an 
ownership interest of over 20% is held, or those over which 
the investor has significant influence while holding a lower 
percentage of ownership. This heading also includes units in 
collective investment undertakings. 

   
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the breakdown of the ba-

lance of this heading, by sector of activity of the issuer, is as 
follows: 

At 31 December 2019, equity instruments denominated 
in foreign currencies amount to Euros 237 thousand (Euros 
228 thousand in 2018). 

XI
FINANCIAL ASSETS 

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Thousands of Euros Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

11.1. Debt securities 

Units in collective investment undertakings  54,190 28,474

Units in venture capital entities  7,623 6,252

Other sectors  2,285 1,772

Total 64,098 36,498

2019 2018

Debt securities  1,119,182 1,163,241

Equity instruments  32 811

Total 1,119,214 1,164,052

2019 2018

Spanish general government  392,471 661,201

Non-resident general government  171,338 -

Credit institutions  16,803 32,000

Other non-resident sectors  273,794 49,549

Other resident sectors  267,196 422,593

Impairment  (2,420) (2,102)

Total 1,119,182 1,163,241

2019 2018

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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At 31 December 2019 and 2018, there are no equity 
instruments denominated in currencies other than the 
Euro. 

At the 2019 and 2018 year ends, details of impairment los-
ses recognised by the Group on the portfolio of financial as-
sets at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
as follows: 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, details of  accumulated 
other comprehensive income in consolidated equity, resul-
ting from changes in fair value of the portfolio assets, are 
as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros
Thousands of Euros

At 31 December 2019, debt securities denominated in fo-
reign currencies included in the portfolio of financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income amounted to 
Euros 5,262 thousand (Euros 0 thousand in 2018). 

Interest accrued in 2019 on debt securities amounted to 
Euros 14,003 thousand (Euros 16,652 thousand in 2018) (see 
note 24.1), with an average rate of return in 2019 and 2018 of 
approximately 1.25% and 1.45%, respectively. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the effective amount of 
these assets allocated to other creditors by the Group was Eu-
ros 305,931 thousand and Euros 290,195 thousand, respecti-
vely. The allocated securities are recognised as liabilities on 
the consolidated balance sheet for the amount agreed with 
the counterparty. 

At 31 December 2019, securities pledged as collateral for 
monetary policy and intraday financing transactions and inclu-
ded under financial assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income amounted to Euros 381,025 thousand (Euros 
410,554 thousand in 2018). 

Details of this heading by remaining term to maturity are set 
forth in note 7.3 Liquidity risk. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the breakdown of this 
heading by sector of activity of the issuer is as follows:  

11.2. Equity instruments 

11.4. Accumulated other comprehensive income 

11.3. Impairment losses and accumulated 
other comprehensive income

Units in collective investment undertakings  32 32

Units in venture capital entities  - -

Other resident sectors  - 779

Total 32 811

2019 2018

Opening balance  (2,102) (1,646)

Net charges to income for the year  (892) (456)

Other movements  574 -

Closing balance  (2,420) (2,102)

2019 2018

Debt securities  11,842 16,163

Equity instruments  - -

Total 11,842 16,163

2019 2018
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Thousands of EurosThousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, all securities allocated to 
this portfolio were denominated in Euros. 

Interest accrued in 2019 on debt securities recognised 
at amortised cost amounted to Euros 2,660 thousand (Eu-
ros 1,852 thousand in 2018) (see note 24.1). The average 
rate of interest accrued on the securities in this portfolio 
in 2019 and 2018 was approximately 2.39% and 2.34%, 
respectively. 

Of the securities included in the portfolio of debt secu-
rities recognised at amortised cost at 31 December 2019, 
the Group had temporarily allocated an effective amount 
of Euros 117,202 thousand (Euros 95,147 thousand in 
2018) and had securities pledged as collateral amoun-
ting to Euros 20,168 thousand (Euros 19,962 thousand in 
2018).  

Details of this heading by remaining term to maturity are 
set forth in note 7.3. 

Movement in impairment losses recognised by the Group 
on debt securities included in the portfolio of financial as-
sets at amortised cost at the 2019 and 2018 year ends is as 
follows: 

Details of this caption of the consolidated balance sheet 
are as follows: 

Details of this caption of the consolidated balance sheet 
are as follows:  

12.1. Debt securities 

XII
FINANCIAL ASSETS 

AT AMORTISED COST 

Debt securities  145,958 141,516

Loans and advances to credit institutions (note 7.1)  21,622 17,130

Loans and advances to other debtors (note 7.1)  1,892,181 1,660,663

Total 2,059,761 1,819,309

2019 2018

Bonds and debentures   

        Spanish general government  126,326 121,554

       Other resident sectors  19,731 20,062

Impairment  (99) (100)

Total 145,958 141,516

2019 2018

Opening balance  (100) (321)

Net charges to income for the year  1 221

Closing balance  (99) (100)

2019 2018

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Details of this heading are as follows: 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018 deposits at credit institu-
tions in currencies other than the Euro amounted to Euros 
3,432 thousand and Euros 8,546 thousand, respectively. De-
tails of this heading by remaining term to maturity are set 
forth in note 7.3. 

The breakdown of this heading of the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheet by type of transaction, credit status 
and counterparty sector is as follows: 

Secured loans include approximately Euros 694,322 thou-
sand in loans secured by mortgage collateral at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 (Euros 651,736 thousand at 31 December 2018).  

Details of this heading by remaining term to maturity 
are set forth in note 7.3. 

Interest accrued in 2019 on loans and advances to other 
creditors amounted to Euros 36,337 thousand (Euros 
32,717 thousand in 2018) (see note 24.1). The average 
annual interest rate on the assets recognised under this 
heading in 2019 and 2018 was approximately 2.34% and 
1.97%, respectively. 

12.2. Loans and advances to credit institutions 

12.3. Loans and advances to other debtors 

Time deposits  3,432 9,247

Valuation adjustments     

Other financial assets  18,190 7,883

       Accrued interest  - -

Total 21,622 17,130

Total 1,892,181 1,660,663

2019 2018

Type of transaction and credit status:   

      Other term loans  1,836,787 1,617,502

      Credit card receivables  5,021 5,031
      Trade receivables  16 48

      On demand, short notice  3,454  2,568

      Non-performing assets  87,640 99,886

      Other financial assets  20,950 9,959

      Valuation adjustments  (61,687) (74,331)

2019 2018

By sector: 

By currency:  

Type of interest rate:  

      Other resident sectors  1,863,853 1,636,616

      Foreign currency  - -

      Variable  1,708,721 1,511,585

      Spanish general government  - -

      Euros  1,892,181 1,660,663

      Fixed  183,460 149,078

      Other non-resident sectors  28,328 24,047

Total 1,892,181 1,660,663

Total 1,892,181 1,660,663

Total 1,892,181 1,660,663

Thousands of Euros

2019 2018
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Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

The above assets were transferred to the securitisation 
fund TDA 20 Mixto, F.T.A. As the Group substantially retained 
the risks (credit risk) associated with these assets, they were 
not derecognised. 

   
At 31 December 2019, the Parent held bonds issued by the 

securitisation fund to which these assets were transferred 
(which are secured by the assets securitised by the Bank) in 
an amount of Euros 4,083 thousand (Euros 5,003 thousand in 
2018). At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the amount of the afo-
rementioned bonds is presented by deducting funds received 
under financial asset transfers from deposits from other cre-
ditors on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet (see 
note 18.3). 

Details of liabilities recognised as a result of not having dere-
cognised the above assets are as follows: 

Details of valuation adjustments made to transactions clas-
sified as loans and advances to other debtors are as follows: 

In 2019 and 2018, the Group renegotiated the terms and 
conditions of certain transactions with borrowers, modifying 
the original terms and conditions of those transactions, spe-
cifically obtaining additional guarantees with respect to tho-
se originally provided, generating greater certainty for the 
Parent as to their repayment. A breakdown of transactions 
renegotiated by the Group in recent years and until 31 De-
cember 2019, and which would now presumably be in de-
fault or classified as non-performing (impaired) had they not 
been renegotiated, is provided below: 

In 2004, the Entity securitised loans to customers. At 31 
December 2019 and 2018, the outstanding balance amounts 
to Euros 5,345 thousand and Euros 6,532 thousand, respec-
tively. In accordance with the criterion described in note 3.9, 
these assets were not derecognised. 

Details of securitised assets that have not been derecogni-
sed, by type of asset, are as follows: 

 Loans and advances to other debtors 

      Secured by personal guarantees  3,684 2,038

      Secured by mortgage collateral  113,278 133,255

Total 116,962 135,293

2019 2018

Mortgage loans  5,346 6,532

2019 2018

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (note 18.3)  1,262 1,530

2019 2018

Valuation adjustments:   

       Accrued interest  3,222 3,478

       Impairment   (60,082) (72,665)

       Other  (4,827) (5,144)

Total (61,687) (74,331) 

2019 2018

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The classification of impaired assets pending collection, 
based on ageing, is as follows:  

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, non-performing assets 
are secured by the following guarantees or credit improve-
ments in addition to the collateral provided by the respecti-
ve borrowers (shown at fair value at the date the loan was 
granted): 

Unsecured transactions  3,580 680 854 6,001 11,114

Unsecured transactions  8,789 739 139 5,681 15,348

Transactions secured by 
completed houses  9,796 917 2,070 25,371 38,154

Transactions secured 
by completed houses  23,388 1,792 2,432 13,353 40,965

Other secured transactions  22,232 254 1,762 14,123 38,372

Other secured transactions  27,850 2,481 1,266 11,976 43,573

Total 35,608 1,851 4,686 45,495 87,640

Total 60,027 5,012 3,837 31,010 99,886

9 to 12 
months

Up to 
6 months31 December 2019 

31  December 2018 

6 to 9 
months

Over 12 
months Total

Thousands of Euros

2019  45,504

2018  45,391

Thousands 
of Euros
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During 2019 and 2018, movement in impaired financial as-
sets derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet (wri-
te-off assets) given that the likelihood of their recovery was 
considered remote, is as follows: 

Details of impairment losses recognised by the Group at 
the 2019 and 2018 year ends for assets from the portfolio of 
financial assets at amortised cost are as follows: 

Opening balance  37,948 33,920

       With a charge 
       to impairment  7,351 5,734

       Past-due receivables  598 12

       Collection in cash without additional financing  (189) (259)

Closing balance  42,751 37,948

Additions  8,071 5,797

Recoveries  (3,268) (1,769)

       With a direct charge to profit or loss  122 51

       Debt forgiveness  (2,999) (1,505)

       Other  (80) (5)

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

12.4. Impairment losses 

Consolidated Annual Accounts



87
BANCO CAMINOS

Details of impairment losses – financial assets at amorti-
sed cost recognised in the consolidated income statement 
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as 
follows: 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, impairment losses recog-
nised cover the minimum provisions required by the Banco 
de España, taking into account the situation and circumstan-
ces of transactions and borrowers. 

Defaulted balances written off against allowances 7,455 - - 7,455

Defaulted balances written off against allowances  5,648 - - 5,648

Balance at 31 December 2018  (54,494) (18,165) (6) (72,665)

Balance at 31 December 2017  (68,255) (17,156) (31) (85,442)

Net allowances for the year  8,010 (1,238) 25 6,797

Net allowances for the year  8,010 (1,238) 25 6,797

Other movements    241 - - 241

Other movements   103 229 - 332

Balance at 31 December 2019  (42,133) (17,945) (4) (60,082)

Balance at 31 December 2018  (54,494) (18,165) (6) (72,665)

Stage  3

Stage  3

2019

2018

Country risk

Country risk

Stage 1 and 2

Stage 1 and 2

 Total

 Total

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Net allowance for the year  4,887 6,797

Total (note 24.1)  5,034 6,952

Recovery of write-offs  147 206

Other - (51)

2019 2018
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The amount recognised within liabilities reflects the pre-
sent value of the derivatives at 31 December 2019 and 2018. 

The valuation methods used to determine the fair values 
of the derivatives are based on the present value of the es-
timated future cash flows, discounted using rates derived 
from observable interest rate curves. 

The breakdown by currency and maturity of the asset and 
liability headings corresponding to hedging derivatives at 31 
December 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

A breakdown of this caption of the accompanying conso-
lidated balance sheet at the 2019 and 2018 year ends is as 
follows: 

The hedging derivatives were arranged over the counter. 

All of the hedging derivatives are interest rate swaps; they 
hedge the fair value of the interest rates received on one 
debt security and two loan portfolios, all of which have been 
recognised by the Group within financial assets at amortised 
cost. 

XIII
DERIVATIVES – HEDGE 

ACCOUNTING 

Debt securities hedges  - 6,220 - 1,367

Loan portfolio hedges  - 4,099 - 274

Swaps 

Total - 10,319 - 1,641

Assets Assets Liabilities  Liabilities 

Thousands of Euros

20182019

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The breakdown of the asset and liability headings corres-
ponding to hedging derivatives at 31 December 2019 and 
2018 is as follows: 

    Euros - 10,319 - 1,641

    Less than 1 year  -  - 

    US Dollars  - - - -

     1 to 5 years  - - - -

    Over 5 years  - 10,319 - 1,641

By currency: 

By maturity: 

 - 10,319 - 1,641

 - 10,319 - 1,641

Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities 

Thousands of Euros

20182019

 Other interest rate transactions   

 Other interest rate transactions   

Swaps   131,912 - 10,319

Swaps   131,912 - 1,641

Notional
amount

Notional
amount

Assets 

Assets 

Liabilities 

Liabilities 

2019

2018

Fair value

Fair value
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ments in fair value hedge transactions at 31 December 2019 
and 2018 are as follows:

A breakdown of the fair value and notional amount, by 
type of hedged item, for transactions designated as hedges 
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

Details, by type of product, of the fair value and notional 
amount of the derivatives designated as hedging instru-

The notional amount of the contracts undertaken does not 
represent the actual risk assumed by the Group with regard 
to these instruments. 

Interest rate swaps (IRS)  - - 10,319 131,912

Debt securities   6,216 75,000 - -

Debt securities  1,371 75,000 - -

Loans and advances  4,062 56,101 - -

Loans and advances    236       17,444                     -                -

Interest rate swaps (IRS)  - - 1,641 92,601

Total 10,278 131,101 - -

Total            1,607       92,444                     -                -

Fair value 

Fair value (I)

2019

2019

2018

2018

Fair value 

Fair value

Notional
amount

Notional
amount

Notional
amount

Notional
amount

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Credit balances 

Credit balances 

Debit balances 

Debit balances 

 (1) Shows the change in fair value of the hedged item 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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At 31 December 2019 and 2018, a breakdown of gains or 
losses on derivatives designated as hedging instruments, by 
type of hedged item, is as follows: 

Debt securities       -  (123)      4,845 (4,853)      (7)

Debt securities             9 (21)      1,371 (1,367)        4

Loans and advances               (399) - 3,825 (3,825) -

Loans and advances              - - 236 (274) (38)

Rectification 
of income2019

2018

Gain/(loss) on 
hedged item

Gain/(loss) on 
hedging 

instruments
Total portion

ineffective
Rectification 
of expenses

Thousands of Euros

Gains or losses from 
hedge accounting, net 

Net interest margin 
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Details at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

The fair value of the foreclosed assets is in all cases greater 
than the corresponding carrying amount recognised. 

Movement in foreclosed assets during 2019 and 2018 is 
as follows: 

The breakdown of foreclosed assets by nature is as follows: 

Law 8/2012 of 30 October 2012, on the write-down and 
disposal of the real estate assets of the financial sector, sti-
pulates that credit institutions must transfer any assets fo-
reclosed or received in payment of debt related to land for 
real estate construction and property development, inclu-
ding both the existing debt at 31 December 2012 and that 
subsequently generated, to a corporation for the manage-
ment of these assets. In addition, it provides that transfers 
to the asset management company must take place before 
the deadline for making provisions applicable to the institu-
tion pursuant to articles 1 and 2 of Royal Decree-Law 2/2012.  

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, in addition to the Parent, 
the investees with non-current assets held for sale are as 
follows: 

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

XIV
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

HELD FOR SALE  

Foreclosed assets  17,561 17,632

Total 9,374 9,784

Impairment  (8,187) (7,848)

2019 2018

Balance at 31 December 2017  18,168 -

Balance at 31 December 2018  17,632 -

Additions  718 -

Additions  455 -

Derecognitions (1,254) -

Derecognitions (526) -
Balance at 31 December 2019  17,561 -

Assets Liabilities

Real estate assets  16,328 16,399

Total 17,561 17,632

Other  1,233 1,233

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Details of impairment losses on non-current assets held 
for sale recognised by the Group at the 2019 and 2018 year 
ends are as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

Bancofar, S.A. 82.62 - 81.38 -

Maxlan, S.A.U. 100.00 - 100.00 -

Direct Direct Indirect Indirect

% ownership

20182019

Opening balance  (7,848) (8,166)

Closing balance  (8,187) (7,848)

Net allowances/reversals charged to profit 
or loss for the year (note 24.1)  (68) 318
Other movements  (271) -

2019 2018
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Details of this consolidated balance sheet caption at 31 
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Details of this consolidated balance sheet item and move-
ment in 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

A summary of significant equity investments in Group 
companies acquired and divested during 2019 is as follows: 

In 2019 the investment in Bancofar, S.A. was increased 
by 1.24%. 

Sale of Corporación Banco Caminos, S.L.U. to Banco 
Caminos, S.A. and subsequent merger of Gefonsa, S.V., 
S.A.U. with Banco Caminos, S.A. (see note 1). 

As explained in note 1.2, at 31 December 2019 and 2018 
all Group companies are fully consolidated. At 31 December 
2019 and 2018, there are no interests in joint ventures or 
associates. 

In 2018, the main movement involving investees was the 
increase of Banco Caminos, S.A.’s interest in Bancofar, S.A. 
by 0.09% at a cost of Euros 68 thousand. 

XV XVI
EQUITY 

INVESTMENTS 
TANGIBLE 

ASSETS 

Own use  44,586 43,619

Right-of-use assets  1,379 

Total 50,967 49,132

Investment property  5,002 5,513

2019 2018
Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts



95
BANCO CAMINOS

Cost

Transfers   - - - - - -

Derecognitions  1,230 683 - - - 1,913

Derecognitions  (1,237) (2,672) - - (449) (4,358)

Additions  (6) (235) (610) (352) (119) (1,322)

Balance at 31/12/2017  2,318 7,444 47,396  10,961 68,119

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at 31/12/2019  1,091 5,058 49,615 1,731 8,150 65,645

Transfers   - - - - - -

Balance at 31/12/2019  (879) (2,116) (5,287) (352) (1,800) (10,434)

Additions  21 853 336  252 1,462

Balance at 31/12/2017  (2,001) (4,296) (4,059)  (1,562) (11,918)

Derecognitions  (11) (2,023) (381)  (2,614) (5,029)

Additions  (102) (546) (618)  (119) (1,385)

Transfers   - - - - - -

Derecognitions  - 2,278 -  - 2,278

Balance at 31/12/2018  2,328 6,274 47,351  8,599 64,552

Transfers   - - - - - -

Additions  - 1,456 2,264 - - 3,720

Primera aplicación NIIF 16 - - - 1,731 - 1,731

Balance at 31/12/2018  (2,103) (2,564) (4,677)  (1,681) (11,025)

IT
equipmentFor own use 

Right-of-use 
assets (*)

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

other
Investment 

propertyBuildings Total

Thousands of Euros

(*) Right-of-use assets were included following the entry into force of IFRS 16. Right-of-use assets mainly comprise leases on buildings and premises for the branch 
network. The clauses included in the lease agreements are essentially consistent with lease agreements under customary market conditions (see note 3.12). 
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At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had no firm 
commitments to buy or sell property and equipment for a 
significant amount. 

The Group has no tangible assets for significant amounts 
with use or ownership restrictions, that are idle, or which are 
pledged to secure repayment of debts. 

At 31 December 2019, fully depreciated assets amount to 
Euros 7,848 thousand (Euros 7,331 thousand in 2018). In-
vestment property mainly comprises buildings owned by the 
Group and leased to third parties (operating leases).  

In 2019 the Group received rental income from investment 
property and leases amounting to Euros 516 thousand (Eu-
ros 500 thousand in 2018) from assets classified as invest-
ment property (see note 24.3).  

Derecognitions - -             94 - 157 251

Additions  - - - - (100) (100)

Impairment 

Transfers - - - - - -

Carrying amount at 31/12/2018  225 3,710 39,684  5,513 49,132

Balance at 31/12/2019  - - (2,896) - (1,348) (4,244)

Carrying amount at 31/12/2019  212 2,942 41,432 1,379 5,002 50,967

Balance at 31/12/2017  - - (2,981)  (1,432) (4,413)

Additions  - - (90)  (220) (310)

Derecognitions - - 81  247 328

Transfers - - -  - -

Balance at 31/12/2018  - - (2,990)  (1,405) (4,395)

IT
equipment

Right-of-use 
assets (*)

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

other
Investment 

propertyBuildings Total

Thousands of Euros

(*) Right-of-use assets were included following the entry into force of IFRS 16. Right-of-use assets mainly comprise leases on buildings and premises for the branch 
network. The clauses included in the lease agreements are essentially consistent with lease agreements under customary market conditions (see note 3.12). 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The breakdown of this consolidated balance sheet caption 
is as follows: 

The goodwill associated with FAM Caminos, S.A. derives 
from the acquisition in 2011 of an 80% shareholding in this 
entity. As explained in note 3.11.1, goodwill has been tested 
for impairment, specifically by valuing this investee using the 
discounted cash flow methodology. The main assumptions 
underpinning the cash flow projections are as follows: 

The goodwill associated with Arcogest, S.G.C., S.A. (an en-
tity which merged into Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U. in 2015) derives 
from the investment acquired in 2014. In 2019 an impair-
ment loss was recognised for the full amount of this goodwill 
with a charge to consolidated profit or loss (see note 15). 

   
Intangible assets related to customer portfolios corres-

pond to the acquisition in 2012 by the Group company Ges-
pensión Caminos, E.G.F.P., S.A.U. from Mutualidad FAM of a 
customer portfolio comprising the account, unitholder and 
beneficiary units of the latter’s three pension funds. This 
transaction entailed the substitution of Gespensión Cami-
nos, E.G.F.P., S.A.U. as pension fund manager, for which the 
latter delivered consideration of Euros 6,100 thousand.  

Based on the estimates and projections used by the 
Group’s directors, the forecasts of attributable income su-
pport the recognised carrying amounts of goodwill and cus-
tomer portfolios.  

The remainder of the balance shown on the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet under other intangible assets 
essentially comprises investments in computer programs 
and other intangible assets. 

XVII
INTANGIBLE 

ASSETS 

Goodwill

Other intangible assets   

       FAM Caminos, S.A.  4,337 4,337

       Customer portfolios   3,607 3,932

       Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U. - 252

       Other intangible assets  2,805 1,289

2019 2018

Total 10,749 9,810

Thousands of Euros

Projection period  2020-2024 2019-2023

Growth of managed insurance premiums  1.5%-2% 1.5%-2%

Discount rate  8.59% 9.59%

Growth of revenue from the provision 
of services to insurers  1.5%-2% 1.5%-2%

2019 2018



98

Thousands of Euros

There are no intangible assets with use or ownership res-
trictions. In 2019 and 2018 it was not necessary to recognise 
any impairment losses for these assets 

Details of this caption under liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet are as follows:

Details of this heading under liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet, by type of instrument, are as follows: 

Details of intangible assets and movement during 2019 
and 2018 are as follows: 

XVIII
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

AT AMORTISED COST 
Cost 

Balance at 31/12/2017   4,589 6,124 4,252

Balance at 31/12/2019  4,337 6,124 6,430

Balance at 31/12/2018  4,589 6,124 4,560

Derecognitions   - - -

Derecognitions   - - -

Derecognitions   - - -

Balance at 31/12/2017  - (1,866) (2,919)

Derecognitions   (252) - -

Balance at 31/12/2018  - (2,192) (3,271)

Balance at 31/12/2019         - (2,517) (3,625)

Additions   - - 308

Accumulated amortisation 

Additions   - - 1,870

Transfers  - - -

Other   - - -

Transfers  - - -

Additions   - (326) (352)

Transfers  - - -

Additions                      (325) (354)

Carrying amount at 31/12/2018   4,589 3,932 1,289

Carrying amount at 31/12/2019   4,337 3,607 2,805

Customer 
portfolios Goodwill Other

Thousands of Euros

Other intangible assets 

Deposits from central banks  317,659 318,966

Other financial liabilities  47,042 32,786

Deposits from credit institutions  200,145 55,142

Deposits from other creditors  2,783,000 2,721,452

2019 2018

Total 3,347,846 3,128,346

18.1. Deposits from central banks 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Deposits from central banks accrued interest at an average 
annual rate of 0.41% in 2019 (0.41% in 2018). 

In 2019 interest income accrued on deposits held at the Ban-
co de España amounted to Euros 1,306 thousand (Euros 1,337 
thousand in 2018) (see note 24.1). 

Details of this item, by remaining term to maturity, are provi-
ded in note 7.3 Liquidity risk. 

Details of this heading under liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet, by type of instrument, are as follows: 

Interest accrued in 2019 on deposits from credit institu-
tions amounted to Euros 50 thousand (Euros 63 thousand 
in 2018) (see note 24.1). The average annual interest rate on 
deposits from credit institutions in 2019 was -0.04% (0.04% 
in 2018). 

Details of this item, by remaining term to maturity, are 
provided in note 7.3 Liquidity risk. 

Details of this heading under liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet at 31 December 2019 and 2018, by counter-
party and type of financial liability, are as follows: 

In 2019 and 2018 fixed-term deposits include covered 
bonds for a nominal amount of Euros 50,000 thousand in 
both years, with details as follows: 

Banco de España  322,000 322,000

Valuation adjustments:   

       Accrued interest  (4,341) (3,034)

2019 2018

Total 317,659 318,966

18.2. Deposits from credit institutions 

18.3. Deposits from other creditors

Time deposits  186,919 32,055

       Accrued interest  - -

Other deposits  13,226 23,087

Valuation adjustments:   

2019 2018

Total 200,145 55,142

Spanish general government  5,974 5,534

Fixed-term deposits  1,007,172 1,093,109

Valuation adjustments  1,247 1,452

Other private sectors   

By currency   

Total 2,783,000 2,721,452

Total 2,783,000 2,721,452

Funds received under financial asset transfers (note 12.3)  1,262 1,530

Current accounts  1,500,888 1,251,437

       Euros 2,771,823 2,705,989

       Foreign currency  11,177 15,463

Repurchase agreements   266,457 368,390

2019 2018
Thousands of Euros
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Thousands of EurosDetails of valuation adjustments applied to deposits from 
other creditors in other resident sectors are as follows: 

Interest accrued in 2019 on deposits from other creditors 
amounted to Euros 36,337 thousand (Euros 32,717 thou-
sand in 2018) (see note 24.1). The average annual interest 
rate on deposits from other creditors in 2019 was 0.22% 
(0.22% in 2018). 

Details of this item, by remaining term to maturity, are 
provided in note 7.3. 

All financial liabilities recognised in this line item on the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheet are classified as 
financial liabilities at amortised cost, and are therefore mea-
sured at amortised cost. This heading also includes payment 

18.4. Other financial liabilities 

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Carrying amount 

20/07/2007 20/07/2022 5.1353% 51,203 51,682

Issue
date

Maturity 
date 

Interest 
rate 2019 2018

Valuation adjustments 

       Accrued interest  1,247 1,452

       Liabilities at fair value  - -

2019 2018

Total 1,247 1,452

obligations having the nature of financial liabilities not inclu-
ded in other items. 

Details of other financial liabilities by type of financial ins-
trument are as follows: 

Financial liabilities arising from rights of use reflect the 
application of IFRS 16, whereby the Group, as lessee, is re-
quired to initially recognise a liability representing its pay-
ment commitments and an asset representing the right to 
use the underlying asset over the lease term (see note 16). 

Other items include balances to be reinstated to the fund 
TDA Mixto 20, F.T.A. amounting to Euros 101 thousand and 
Euros 128 thousand at 31 December 2019 and 2018, res-
pectively, for repayment of loans ceded to the fund. Other 
items also primarily include customer transfers pending se-
ttlement. 

Payment obligations  3,415 1,974

Tax collection accounts  6,094 5,177

Other items  24,186 21,573

Payment orders outstanding and traveller’s cheques  12,186 4,062
Financial liabilities arising from rights of use  1,160 

2019 2018

Total 47,041 32,786

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Banco Caminos, S.A., the Parent of the Group, is the only 
Group company that issues covered bonds. 

As the Parent directly issues mortgage-backed securities, 
it must disclose in its annual accounts the information on 
the special accounting register stipulated in Royal Decree 
716/2009 of 24 April 2009 implementing certain aspects of 
Law 2/1981 of 25 March 1981 on mortgage market regula-
tion and other mortgage and financial system rules, and in 
Banco de España Circular 7/2010 which modifies, inter alia, 
the information that institutions must disclose in their an-
nual accounts in relation to the special accounting register 
referred to in article 21 of abovementioned Royal Decree 
716/2009, and the specific representations of the board of 
directors to be included in the notes to the annual accounts 
in this regard. 

The members of the board of directors affirm that the Pa-
rent has specific policies and procedures that encompass 
all of its activities relating to mortgage market bond issues, 
guaranteeing strict compliance with applicable mortgage 
market regulations. The risk policies applicable to mortgage 
market transactions stipulate maximum financing limits on 
the loan to value (LTV) appraisal; there are also additional 
specific policies adapted to each mortgage product, which 
occasionally apply more stringent limits. The general poli-
cies establish a relationship between the amount of the loan 
and the income or repayment capacity of the borrower with 
which all transactions must comply. As regards verifying the 
client’s data and solvency, the Parent has the wherewithal to 
contrast documentation and carry out internal audits using 
procedures and tools that ensure the reliability of its corro-
borations. The Entity’s procedures envisage an individual 

valuation performed by an independent appraisal firm for 
each mortgage originating in the mortgage market.  

The following individual information at 31 December 2019 
and 2018 is relative to and included in the special accounting 
register referred to in article 21 of Royal Decree 716/2009 of 
24 April 2009. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the nominal amount of 
total mortgage loans and credit, and certain information on 
their eligibility with respect to the mortgage market, are as 
follows: 

18.5. Information required by Law 2/1981 
of 25 March 1981 on mortgage market regulation and 
by Royal Decree 716/2009 of 24 April 2009 
implementing certain aspects of that Law. 

18.5.1. Asset transactions 
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(a) Includes all transactions of this nature, irrespective of the heading under which they are presented on the balance sheet. 

(b) Receivable amount of principal drawn down on loans guaranteed by mortgages in the Bank’s favour (including those acquired through collateralised mortgage bonds and mortgage 
transfer certificates), even if they have been derecognised, irrespective of the percentage of the latest appraised value this amount represents (loan to value). 

(c) Amount of principal drawn down on loans transferred in the form of collateralised mortgage bonds or mortgage transfer certificates, even if they have been derecognised. 

(d) Amount of principal drawn down on loans transferred but not derecognised. 

(e) Total loans less the sum of collateralised mortgage bonds issued, mortgage transfer certificates issued and mortgage loans pledged as collateral to secure financing received. 

(f) Mortgage-backed loans not transferred to third parties or pledged as collateral to secure financing received, which do not meet the eligibility requirements of article 3 of Royal Decree 
716/2009 for issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds. 

(g) Loans eligible for issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds in accordance with article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009, without deducting the eligibility limits specified in article 12 of 
that Royal Decree. 

(h) Amount of eligible loans that, based on the criteria specified in article 12 of Royal Decree 716/2009, are not eligible to secure issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds. 

(i) Present value calculated in accordance with article 23 of Royal Decree 716/2009.   

Total loans (a) (b)  440,340 441,631

Loans covering mortgage bond issues (i)  -  - 

Memorandum item  

Other ineligible loans  103,108 94,512

Collateralised mortgage bonds issued (c)  3,065 3,713

Eligible loans (g)  315,074 309,891

     Of which: Loans recognised under assets (d)  3,065 3,713

Mortgage transfer certificates issued  2,280 2,819

Ineligible loans (f)  119,921 125,208

Loans meeting eligibility requirements except limit stipulated in article 5.1 of Royal Decree 716/2009 16,813 30,696

Eligible amounts  315,074 309,891

     Of which: Loans recognised under assets (d)  2,280 2,819

Loans covering mortgage bond issues  -  -

Mortgage loans pledged as collateral to secure financing received  -  -

Loans suitable for securing covered bond issues  315,074 309,891

Loans backing issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds (e)  434,995 435,099

Ineligible amounts (h)  -   -

2019

2019

2018

2018

Thousands of Euros
Nominal amount

Present value 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Thousands of Euros

20182019

The following table reflects the nominal amount of mort-
gage loans and credit at 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

SOURCE OF TRANSACTIONS  434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

Performing  416,254 315,074 411,643 309,891

Assumed from other institutions  2,678 1,316 4,530 1,248

AVERAGE REMAINING TERM TO MATURITY  434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

Euros 434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

20 to 30 years  200,502 137,645 182,441 122,656

Mixed    

TOTAL (a)  434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

Transacted by the Bank  432,317 313,758 430,569 308,643

Other status  18,741 - 23,456 -

CURRENCY  434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

10 to 20 years  182,664 139,394 180,733 134,934

Variable  414,478 296,801 424,365 299,932

Other  - - - -

Up to 10 years  44,902 36,248 59,461 43,407

Fixed  20,517 18,273 10,734 9,959

Other currencies  - - - -

More than 30 years  6,927 1,787 12,464 8,894

PAYMENT STATUS  434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

INTEREST RATE  434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

Loans backing 
issues of mortgage 
bonds and covered 

bonds (b)

Loans backing 
issues of mortgage 
bonds and covered 

bonds (b)

Of which:
Elegible
loans(c)

Of which:
Elegible
loans(c)
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Thousands of Euros

20182019

BORROWER 434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

TYPE OF COLLATERAL  434,995 315,074 435,099 309,891

Of which: Subsidised housing 5,531 4,885 4,983 4,204

Offices and commercial premises  - - - -

Assets/buildings under construction  - - - -

Developed land  1,947 - 3,214 -

Legal entities and sole proprietorships
 (business activities) 70,053 35,110 69,563 37,107

Housing  373,453 283,178 381,485 278,478

Of which: Subsidised housing  - - - -

Other buildings and structures  24,123 11,357 16,103 8,536

Land  7,176 1,205 3,705 491

Of which: Real estate construction and property development (including land) 3,808 1,205 3,976 1,271

Other households  364,942 279,964 365,536 272,784

Assets/finished buildings  427,819 313,869 431,394 309,400

Offices and commercial premises  30,243 19,334 33,806 22,386

Other buildings and structures  - - - -

Housing  - - - -

Other land  5,229 1,205 491 491

(a) Includes all transactions of this nature, irrespective of the heading under which they are presented on the balance sheet. 

(b) Receivable amount of principal drawn down on mortgage-backed loans, irrespective of the percentage of the latest appraised value this amount represents (loan 
to value), not transferred to third parties or pledged as collateral to secure financing received. 

(c) Loans eligible for issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds in accordance with article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009, without deducting the eligibility limits speci-
fied in article 12 of that Royal Decree. 

Loans backing 
issues of mortgage 
bonds and covered 

bonds (b)

Loans backing 
issues of mortgage 
bonds and covered 

bonds (b)

Of which:
Elegible
loans(c)

Of which:
Elegible
loans(c)

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The following table provides a breakdown of the no-
minal amount of mortgage loans and credit eligible for 
issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018, based on the risk as a percenta-
ge of the latest available appraised value for mortgage 
market purposes: 

Details at 31 December 2019 and 2018 of the nominal 
amount of undrawn mortgage loans and credit backing is-
sues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds are as follows: 

(a) Includes all transactions of this nature, irrespective of the heading under which they are presented on the balance sheet. 

(b) Loan to value is the ratio resulting from dividing the principal drawn down on each loan transaction by the latest available appraised value of the associated collateral. 

(c) Loans eligible for issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds in accordance with article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009, without deducting the eligibility limits specified in 
article 12 of that Royal Decree. 

Eligible loans (b) (c):  102,565 125,709 590 86,210  315,074

Eligible loans (b) (c):  95,951 126,855 497 86,588 - 309,891

Housing 89,449 108,493  86,210  284,152

Housing 85,468 106,422  86,588 - 278,478

Other real estate   13,116 17,216 590   30,922

Other real estate    10,483 20,433 497   31,413

LTV ≤ 40%

LTV ≤ 40%

Type of collateral 

Type of collateral 

60% < LTV 
≤ 80%

60% < LTV ≤ 
80%

40% < LTV 
≤ 60%

40% < LTV 
≤ 60%

LTV > 80%

LTV > 80%

LTV 
> 60%

LTV 
> 60%

Total

Total

2019 - Loan to value (b) - Thousands of Euros

2018 - Loan to value (b) - Thousands of Euros
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Changes in the nominal amount of mortgage loans and 
credit backing issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds 
in 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Mortgage loans backing issues 
of mortgage bonds and 
covered bonds (a) 5,411 4,610

       Potentially eligible (c)  98 98

       Ineligible  5,313 4,512

2019 2018 (a) Includes all transactions of this nature, irrespective of the heading under which they are pre-
sented on the balance sheet. 

(b) Committed amounts (limit) less drawdowns from all mortgage-backed loans, irrespective of 
the risk as a percentage of the most recent appraised value (loan to value), not transferred to 
third parties or pledged as collateral to secure financing received. The available balance also in-
cludes amounts that are only transferred to developers when homes are sold.  

(c) Loans that are potentially eligible for issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds according 
to article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009. 

Thousands of Euros
Undrawn principal (b)

Opening balance  309,891 125,208 296,519 123,044

Cancelled before maturity  (19,167) (24,257) (5,847) (9,432)

Other  7,642 1,846 16,325 12,230

Closing balance (a)  315,074 119,921 309,891 125,208

Additions during the period  45,843 27,905 41,476 17,669

Past-due principal collected in cash  (40) (286) (69) (433)

Assumed from other institutions  122 858 - 74

Other  (21,453) (8,649) (22,188) (5,640)

Derecognised during the period  (40,660) (33,192) (28,104) (15,505)

Assumed by other institutions  - - - -

Transacted by the Bank  38,079 25,201 25,151 5,365

Elegible 
loans 

(b)

Elegible 
loans

(b)

Inelegible 
loans 

c)

Inelegible
loans

(c)

(a) Includes all transactions of this nature, irrespective of the heading under which they are presented on the balance sheet. 

(b) Loans eligible for issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds in accordance with article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009, without deducting the eligibility limits speci-
fied in article 12 of that Royal Decree. 

(c) Mortgage-backed loans not transferred to third parties or pledged as collateral to secure financing received, which do not meet the eligibility requirements of 
article 3 of Royal Decree 716/2009 for issues of mortgage bonds and covered bonds. 

Thousands of Euros

20182019

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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In 2019 and 2018, the Entity had replacement assets linked 
to issues of covered bonds or mortgage bonds, for the fo-
llowing amounts: 

Details of the aggregate nominal amount of mortgage-bac-
ked securities issued at 31 December 2019 and 2018, by re-
maining term to maturity, are as follows: 

Covered bonds acquired  - - - -

Securities issued by asset securitisation funds - - - -

Total 51,203 - 51,682 -

Securities issued by mortgage securitisation funds  - - - -

Other financial assets  51,203 - 51,682 -

Mortgage bonds acquired  - - - -

Other debt securities  - - - -

Covered 
bonds 
issued

REPLACEMENT ASSETS 
(by nature) 

Covered 
bonds 
issued

Mortgage
bonds
issued

Mortgage
bonds
issued

Thousands of Euros

20182019

18.5.2. Liability transactions 
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20182019

Thousands of EurosThousands of Euros

Mortgage bonds issued (c)   -  -   -  -

Remaining term to maturity more than three years and less than five years   -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than ten years  -    -

Other issues  3,065  99 3,713  109

Remaining term to maturity more than two years and less than three years  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than five years and less than ten years  -    -

Issued by public offering  -   -  -   -

Of which: recognised under liabilities  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than ten years  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than one year and less than two years  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than five years and less than ten years  -    -

Deposits  51,203   51,682

Mortgage transfer certificates issued (d)  2,280  117 2,819  129

Other issues  2,280  117 2,819  129

Remaining term to maturity less than one year  -    -

Issued by public offering  -   -  -   -

Covered bonds issued (c)  51,203   51,682  

Debt securities. Other issues  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than two years and less than three years -    -

Of which: recognised under liabilities  -    -

Remaining term to maturity less than one year  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than three years and less than five years  51,203   51,682

Debt securities. Issued by public offering   -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than one year and less than two years -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than five years and less than ten years  -    -

Remaining term to maturity less than one year  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than two years and less than three years -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than ten years  -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than one year and less than two years -    -

Remaining term to maturity more than three years and less than five years  -    -

Collateralised mortgage bonds issued (d)   3,065  99 3,713  109

Nominal 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Present 
value (a)

Present 
value (a)

Average term 
to maturity 

(b)

Average term 
to maturity 

(b)

(a) Present value calculated in accordance with article 23 of Royal Decree 716/2009. 
(b) Weighted average remaining term to maturity by amounts, expressed in months rounded up. 
(c) Mortgage bonds and covered bonds include all instruments issued by the Bank and pending redemption, even if they have not been recognised under liabilities (because they have not been placed with 
third parties or have been repurchased). 
(d) The amount of collateralised mortgage bonds and mortgage transfer certificates issued that solely comprise mortgage loans recognised under assets (on the balance sheet).

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Details of this consolidated balance sheet caption at 31 
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Changes in these items in 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

XIX
PROVISIONS

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations  3,352 202

Other provisions  3,927 3,293

Pending legal issues and tax litigation  1,596 2,300

Total 12,893 11,084

Commitments and guarantees given  4,018 5,289

2019 2018

Balance at 31 December 2017 193 2,936 5,716 2,474 11,319

Allowances  46 268 98 2,350 2,762

Allowances  3,193 - 1,340 2,603 7,136

Applications and other changes (37) (904) -  (1,531) (2,472)

Transfers - - - - -

Reversals - - (525) - (525)

Transfers - - - - -

Reversals - - (2,611) (1,339) (3,950)

Balance at 31 December 2018 202 2,300 5,289 3,293 11,084

Applications and other changes (43) (704) -  (630) (1,377)

Balance at 31 December 2019             3,352 1,596 4,018 3,927 12,893

Commitments
and guaran-
tees given

Pensions and 
other post-

employment
defined 
benefit 

obligations 

Pending
legal issues

and tax
litigation

Other 
provisions Total
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This item mainly reflects the shares into which the Parent’s 
equity is divided among its shareholders. 

At 31 December 2019 the Group has treasury shares to-
talling Euros 1,392 thousand (Euros 604 thousand in 2018). 

On 26 June 2009, the Parent’s board of directors agreed to 
apply Euros 32 thousand of the Parent’s available reserves 
to the share capital, free of charge for the shareholders, with 
an increase in value of 9 cents per share, thus bringing the 
Parent’s share capital to Euros 21,163,490.06.  

Additionally, on 12 February 2010, the decision to split ca-
pital in the proportion of 10 new shares for each old share 
was raised to public deed. This was to be carried out by de-
creasing the par value of all of the shares from Euros 60.20 
to Euros 6.02, increasing the total number of shares compri-
sing the Entity’s share capital from 351,553 to 3,515,530, all 
subscribed and fully paid up.  

   
At their meeting held on 22 June 2011, availing of provi-

sion nine of Law 2/2011, the Parent’s shareholders resolved 
to request Euros 7,241 thousand of the mandatory reserve 
fund from Almagro, Sociedad Cooperativa de Consumidores 
y Usuarios. This amount had been transferred to the coope-
rative as a legal requirement when Caja Caminos was trans-
formed into a bank. A balance of Euros 9 thousand was left 

Pending legal issues and tax litigation, and other provi-
sions, reflect provisions recognised by the Group to cover 
probable or certain expenses, losses or liabilities arising 
from ongoing litigation related to the ordinary course of 
the Group’s business. They are recognised at the estima-
ted amount of the outflows of resources required to settle 
such liabilities.   

Details of other assets and other liabilities on the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheet for 2019 and 2018 are 
as follows: 
 

XX

XXI

OTHER ASSETS 
AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

CONSOLIDATED 
EQUITY 

Other assets: 

Other liabilities: 

       Other items  825 358

       Other liabilities  3,933 17

         Accrual of unmatured loans  7,735 1,340

        Insurance contracts linked to pensions  3,160 -

        Accrued expenses  - 92

Total 11,720 1,934

Total 6,279 6,001

       Prepaid expenses  - 236

       Other accruals    2,346 5,892

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

21.1. Capital 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Thousands of Euros

The share premium arose from the voluntary contributions 
approved by the General Assembly of Caja Caminos on 28 
June 2002 and the capital increase approved by the General 
Assembly on 29 June 2007 (see note 1). The share premium is 
freely distributable. At the reporting date, the share premium 
has been called up and therefore recognised. 

   
In addition, in 2008 the mandatory reserve fund of Euros 

7,250 thousand was transferred to Almagro Sociedad Coo-
perativa de Consumidores y Usuarios as approved at the Ex-
traordinary Assembly held on 29 June 2007 (see note 1). Of this 
amount, Euros 6,328 thousand was returned in 2011 to increa-
se capital as described in note 21.1, and Euros 913 thousand 
was returned in 2012 to settle corporate income tax. 

Reserves in consolidated companies 

Details by company, after considering consolidation ad-
justments, are as follows:  

on deposit in the cooperative (see notes 1 and 21.2). In addi-
tion, the shareholders agreed that once the aforementioned 
amount had been returned, the Bank would pay corporate 
income tax amounting to Euros 913 thousand and would 
use the remaining Euros 6,328 thousand to increase share 
capital, raising the par value of existing shares by Euros 1.80 
per share. 

At their meeting held on 29 November 2011, the Entity’s 
board of directors resolved to set 14 December 2011 as the 
date for the capital transfer referred to in the preceding pa-
ragraph. The share capital increase was executed in a public 
deed on 14 December 2011. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, following the capital in-
crease referred to above, the Bank’s share capital stood at 
Euros 27,491 thousand, consisting of 3,515,530 registered 
shares with a par value of Euros 7.82 per share, all of which 
are of the same type and series, and are subscribed and fully 
paid up. 

Changes in the share premium and in reserves, within sha-
reholders’ equity, are shown in the consolidated statement of 
total changes in equity for 2019 and 2018. 

A breakdown is as follows:  

21.2. Retained earnings and share premium 

Legal reserve of the Parent  5,518 5,518

Share premium  29,033 29,033

Voluntary reserves of the Parent  81,028 72,791

Total 178,780 167,391

Reserves of subsidiaries  63,201 60,049

2019 2018
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The contribution to consolidated profit for the year, by 
company, taking into account the effect of consolidation ad-
justments, is as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

Banco Caminos, S.A. 115,574 107,337

FAM Caminos, S.A. 3,530 3,030

Maxlan, S.A. 338 185

Gespensión Caminos, E.G.F.P., S.A.U. 2,743 2,451

Bancofar, S.A. 37,554 35,886

Gabinete de Estudios y Gestión Jurídica, S.A. 5,050 5,015

Servifonsa, A.I.E.  3 3

Total 178,779 167,391

Corporación Banco Caminos, S.L.U. 9,744 4,018

Gestifonsa, S.G.I.I.C., S.A.U. 3,559 3,317

Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U. - 5,156

Sistemcam, S.A.U. 684 993

2019Company 2018

21.3. Consolidated profit 

Banco Caminos, S.A. 7,168 7,974

FAM Caminos, S.A. 1,322 1,006

Maxlan, S.A. (268) 38

Gespensión Caminos, E.G.F.P., S.A.U. 1,458 1,626

Bancofar, S.A. 11,174 7,360

Gabinete de Estudios y Gestión Jurídica, S.A. (1,347) (958)

Servifonsa, A.I.E.  (1,000) (1,367)

Total 11,349 11,341

Corporación Banco Caminos, S.L.U.                  (514) (588)

Gestifonsa, S.G.I.I.C., S.A.U. 1,969 2,573

Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U. - 33

Sistemcam, S.A.U. (8,613) (6,356)

2019Company 2018

Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Thousands of Euros

This consolidated balance sheet heading reflects the net 
amount of changes in the fair value of assets classified as 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income which, as explained in note 3.5, should be classified 
as part of the Group’s equity. The related gains or losses are 
taken to the consolidated income statement when the asso-
ciated assets are sold. 

The consolidated statement of recognised income and ex-
pense for 2019 and 2018 reflects the variations in this hea-
ding during those years. 

Details of minority interests at 31 December 2019 and 
2018 are as follows: 

Loan commitments given are irrevocable commitments, or 
commitments that are revocable only in the event of a ma-
terial adverse change, to provide financing under specified 
terms and conditions, such as balances drawable by third 
parties within the Group’s pre-established limits. 

Details of loan commitments given, grouped by counter-
party, at the 2019 and 2018 year ends are shown in the fo-
llowing table: 

21.4. Accumulated other comprehensive income 

22.1. Loan commitments given 

21.5. Minority interests 

Bancofar, S.A. 17,562 18,466

FAM Caminos, S.A. 1,331 1,144

2019Company 2018

Total 18,893 19,610

XXII
OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES  

AND OTHER MEMORANDUM 
ACCOUNTS 

Thousands of Euros

Drawable by third parties 

          Credit cards  25,647 26,208

    Non-resident  1,200 1,350

     Spanish general government  - -

           Immediately drawable accounts  235,227 196,457

Total 264,113 225,645

    Other resident sectors 

          Conditional  2,039 1,630

2019 2018
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Details of the Group’s off-balance sheet customer funds at 
31 December 2019 and 2018, specifying whether or not they 
are managed by the Group, are as follows: 

At 31 December 2019 the Group had 446 portfolio mana-
gement contracts (504 contracts in 2018) with a market va-
lue of Euros 313,535 thousand (Euros 308,469 thousand in 
2018). The investments were made as follows: 

Details of financial guarantees given by the Group at the 
2019 and 2018 year ends are as follows: 

A significant portion of these guarantees will expire without 
any payment obligation arising for the Group. Therefore, the 
aggregate balance of these commitments cannot be conside-
red as an actual future need for financing or liquidity to be pro-
vided by the Group to third parties. 

The income generated on guarantee instruments is recog-
nised in the consolidated income statement under fee and 
commission income and is calculated by applying the pertinent 
contractual interest rate to the face value of the guarantee. 

The Parent did not hold any assets securing transactions per-
formed by itself or by third parties at 31 December 2019 or 
2018. 

Details of contingent commitments at 31 December 2019 
and 2018 are as follows: 

22.2. Financial guarantees given 

22.3. ther contingent commitments 

22.4. Trust and investment services activities 

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Guarantees given  15,379 17,267

Other bank guarantees and indemnities  19,242 18,364

Other bank guarantees and indemnities  - 2,484

Drawable guarantee facilities and portfolio  25,311 24,954

Total 15,379 19,751

Total 44,553 43,3182019

2019

2018

2018

Mutual funds and investment firms  455,687 368,294

Pension funds  272,163 267,372

Funds marketed and managed 
by the Banco Caminos Group  1,041,385 955,508

Discretionary portfolio management  313,535 319,842

Funds marketed but not managed 
by the Banco Caminos Group  234,940 172,175

2019 2018

Total 1,276,325 1,127,683

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Details of the Group’s net fee and commission income 
from the above activities in 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

The Group also provides securities custody and manage-
ment services to customers. Related commitments under-
taken by the Parent at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as 
follows: 

In accordance with current legislation, taxes cannot be 
considered definitive until they have been inspected by the 
taxation authorities or the corresponding inspection period 
has elapsed. The Parent has open to inspection by the taxa-
tion authorities all taxes on its activity for the last four years. 
All Group companies have all applicable taxes open to ins-
pection for the last four years. Group management consi-
ders that no significant contingencies would arise from the 
years and taxes open to inspection. 

Due to the different possible interpretations of the tax le-
gislation applicable to the operations of the Parent, certain 
contingent tax liabilities may exist for the years open to ins-
pection that cannot be objectively quantified. However, the 
Parent’s directors and its tax advisors consider the possibility 
of these contingencies materialising in future inspections to 

Investments in listed domestic shares 
and equity holdings  54,095 67,148

Investments in unlisted domestic shares 
and equity holdings  2,151 2,063

Investments in listed domestic fixed income securities  68,221 75,513

Investments in listed foreign securities  183,298 154,166

Cash with financial intermediaries  5,770 9,579

2019 2018

Total 313,535 308,469

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

Management fees  

       Investment firms and mutual funds  5,107 3,996

       Pension funds  3,002 2,801

2019 2018

Total (note 24.2) 8,109 6,797

Third-party securities  1,441,942 1,310,548

2019 2018
Thousands of Euros

XXIII
TAXATION 
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be remote and that, in any event, the tax liability that could 
arise therefrom would not have a significant impact on the 
accompanying annual accounts.  

In 2010, the Parent availed of the consolidated tax regi-
me for the Parent of the Group and for those subsidiaries 
that qualify for inclusion in the tax group according to tax 
legislation, in keeping with the established procedure. The 
subsidiary Bancofar, S.A. joined the tax group on 1 January 
2015. At 31 December 2019 the tax group comprised nine 
companies (10 companies in 2018). The balances receivable 
from and payable to the companies within the tax group are 
recognised under tax assets and tax liabilities, as appropria-
te. Amounts capitalised in respect of unused deductions are 
determined based on the calculation made for the consoli-
dated tax group. 

The reconciliation of profit for the year to taxable income 
for 2019 and 2018, without considering the income tax ex-
pense on transactions recognised directly in equity, is as fo-
llows:  

Profit for the year before tax  17,740 17,602

Increase (decrease) due to permanent differences  754 288

Increase (decrease) due to temporary differences   (3,604) (5,123)

Adjusted accounting profit  18,494 17,890

2019 2018

Taxable income  14,890 12,767

Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Other than the tax losses generated by Bancofar, S.A. be-
fore joining the tax group (Euros 18,510 thousand), at 31 De-
cember 2019 the tax group did not have any available tax 
loss carryforwards or unused deductions. 

The Parent has availed of the tax benefits relating to in-
come tax deductions and credits envisaged in current tax 
legislation. 

Tax assets include the amount of taxes recoverable in the 
next twelve months (current tax assets) and those recovera-
ble in future years, including available tax loss carryforwards, 
deductions and credits (deferred tax assets). Tax liabilities 
include current and deferred tax liabilities. However, the re-
lated tax provisions are recognised under provisions on the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 

Details of tax assets and tax liabilities at 31 December 2019 
and 2018 are as follows: 

 

Tax payable / (receivable) 

Deductions  (350) (350) (358) (358)

Other items  337 - 104 -

Tax payable / (receivable)  5,535  89 5,113  (1,192)

On taxable income  - 4,467 - 3,830

Withholdings and payments on account  -  (4,028) -  (4,664)

On adjusted accounting profit  5,548 - 5,367 -

Tax payable / (receivable) after deductions  5,198 4,117 5,009 3,472

Tax 
accrued

Tax 
accrued

Tax
payable

Tax
payable

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

2018

2018

2019

2019

Current 2,877 1,840 6,615 4,949

Deferred 24,274 5,742 27,704 7,086

Total 27,151 7,582 34,319 12,035

Assets AssetsLiabilities Liabilities
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Royal Decree-Law14/2013 of 29 December 2013 

Royal Decree-Law 14/2013 of 29 December 2013, on ur-
gent measures to adapt Spanish law to European Union 
legislation on the supervision and solvency of financial 
institutions, was published in the Official State Gazette 
(“BOE”) on 30 November 2013. With effect from 1 January 
2014, this Royal Decree-Law included additional provi-
sion twenty-two, “Conversion of deferred tax assets into 
a receivable from the taxation authorities”, in the Revised 
Corporate Income Tax Law (“TRLIS” as per the Spanish 
acronym) approved by Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004 
of 5 March 2004. 

Pursuant to this clause, deferred tax assets arising 
from impairment provisions for receivables or other as-
sets deriving from potential insolvency of debtors not 
related to the taxpayer, provided article 12.2.a) of the 
TRLIS does not apply, as well as those arising from the 
application of articles 13.1.b) and 14.1.f) of the same law 
in respect of provisions for or contributions to employee 
benefit schemes and, where applicable, early retirement 
schemes, are converted into a receivable from the taxa-
tion authorities when any of the following circumstances 
arise:  

a) The taxpayer recognises accounting losses in its an-
nual accounts (audited and approved by the correspon-
ding body). In this case, the amount of deferred tax as-
sets to be converted will be determined by applying to 
total deferred tax assets the percentage resulting from 
the ratio of accounting losses for the year to total capi-
tal and reserves. 

b) The entity is in liquidation or has been legally decla-
red insolvent. 

Deferred tax assets primarily reflect provisions recog-
nised and impairment losses on financial assets that 
the Entity considered non-deductible, and deferred ta-
xes arising from losses on financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. This heading also 
includes tax credits for loss carryforwards of Bancofar, 
S.A. (which was not part of the tax group at 31 December 
2014) amounting to Euros 5,553 thousand (Euros 6,192 
thousand in 2018). 

   
At 31 December 2019 and 2018, Euros 14,752 thousand 

and Euros 16,745 thousand, respectively, were still to be 
included in taxable income of future tax periods in res-
pect of deferred tax assets convertible into a receivable 
from the taxation authorities pursuant to article 130 of 
the Corporate Income Tax Law.  

The Group has estimated the taxable profit expected 
to be obtained by Bancofar, S.A. in the next 10 years (the 
period over which estimates are considered sufficiently 
reliable) on the basis of the budgets. The Group has also 
analysed the reversal period of its taxable temporary di-
fferences, identifying those that will revert in the periods 
in which Bancofar, S.A.’s available tax loss carryforwards 
can be utilised. On the basis of this analysis, the Group 
has recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the avai-
lable tax loss carryforwards of Bancofar, S.A. (which will 
be offset on an individual basis because they were gene-
rated before this company joined the tax group) and the 
deductible temporary differences of the Group for which 
it is considered probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be generated in the future. 

Deferred tax liabilities primarily comprise the deferred 
tax associated with the revaluation of financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income.

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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For conversion of deferred tax assets into a receivable 
from the taxation authorities in this case, the taxpayer 
may request a credit from the taxation authorities or 
offset the receivable against other tax liabilities to the 
state which the taxpayer itself generates at the time of 
conversion.  

In addition, these deferred tax assets may be exchan-
ged for government debt securities once the legal offset 
period for tax losses provided for in the law (currently 18 
years), computed as of the recognition of the tax assets, 
has elapsed. 

A new section 13 was added to article 19, “Timing of 
recognition”, of the TRLIS for the purpose of determining 
the tax base for income tax purposes, with retrospective 
effect for tax periods commenced on or after 1 January 
2011. 

Pursuant to the aforementioned section 13 of article 
19 of the TRLIS, impairment provisions for receivables or 
other assets deriving from potential insolvency of deb-
tors not related to the taxpayer, provided article 12.2.a) 
of the TRLIS does not apply, as well as those deriving 
from the application of articles 13.1.b) and 14.1.f) of the 
same law in respect of provisions for or contributions to 
employee benefit schemes and, as the case may be, early 
retirement schemes, which have generated deferred tax 
assets, are included in the tax base up to the limit of the 
taxable income before their inclusion and the offset of 
tax loss carryforwards. 

Law 27/2014 of 27 November 2014 

Corporate Income Tax Law 27/2014 of 27 November 2014 
(the CIT Law) was approved on 27 November 2014 and came 
into force on 1 January 2015, repealing the Revised Corpo-

rate Income Tax Law (TRLIS) approved by Royal Legislative 
Decree 4/2004 of 5 March 2004. Article 11.12 of the new CIT 
Law incorporates the text of the repealed Article 19.13 of the 
TRLIS, with effect from 1 January 2015, although the new CIT 
Law introduced, inter alia, certain restrictions and the appli-
cation of article 11.12. 

Meanwhile, Article 130 of the CIT Law incorporated the 
text of additional provision twentytwo of the TRLIS into the 
new law, stating that the aforementioned deferred tax as-
sets may be exchanged for government debt securities once 
a period of 18 years, computed from the last day of the tax 
period in which the assets were recognised, has elapsed. For 
assets recognised before the Law came into force, the calcu-
lation period begins from the date of entry into force. 

The new CIT Law approved a change in the corporate in-
come tax rate, setting a rate of 28% for 2015 and 25% from 
2016 onwards. However, pursuant to section 5 of article 58 
of the CIT Law, consolidated tax groups that include at least 
one credit institution will be subject to a tax rate of 30%. Ac-
cordingly, as the Bank is the parent of its tax group, this tax 
group continued to pay a CIT rate of 30% in 2015 and subse-
quent years. 

   
Article 26 of the CIT Law does not stipulate a time limit 

for the offset of tax loss carryforwards that were available 
in the period that began when the Law came into effect 
on 1 January 2015. Similarly, transitional provision twen-
ty-three of the CIT Law does not stipulate any time limit to 
avail of the deductions for double taxation provided for 
in articles 30, 31 and 32 of the TRLIS that had not been 
applied in the period commenced after the entry into for-
ce of the new law. 

Law 48/2015 of 29 October 2015 on the General State Budgets 
for 2016 
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Furthermore, for tax periods commenced on or after 1 
January 2017, article 3. Two of Royal Decree-Law 3/2016 
stipulates that losses incurred on transfers of equity invest-
ments are not deductible when the investments in question 
qualify for the exemption for profit obtained, both in respect 
of dividends and capital gains arising on the transfer of the 
investments. 

Royal Decree-Law 27/2018 of 28 December 2018 

Royal Decree-Law 27/2018 (the “RDL”), adapting the Cor-
porate Income Tax Law to the new Banco de España Circular 
4/2017 as regards first-time application of IFRS 9, was appro-
ved on 28 December 2018 with effect from 1 January 2018. 

   
The RDL includes, among others, the following measures:  

Impacts of first-time application (transitional provision 
thirty-nine) 

The preamble to the RDL states that to reduce the tax 
effects of this accounting requirement, transitional rules 
have been put into place whereby the aforementioned 
debits and credits to reserve accounts are to be included 
in the tax base, as soon as they have tax effects pursuant 
to the tax regulations, in equal parts in each of the first 
three tax periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  

Thus, debits and credits to reserve accounts arising from 
adjustments for the first-time application of IFRS 9, when 
due to the application of the tax regulations, shall have tax 
effects, i.e. they must be taken into consideration when 
determining the tax base for the 2018 tax period. The le-
gislation concerns debits and credits having tax effects 
and which are therefore deductible/taxable, and due to 
their integration in three equal parts the provisions of ar-
ticle 130 on monetisation of deferred tax assets do not 

Law 48/2015 of 29 October 2015 on the General Sta-
te Budgets for 2016 was approved on 30 October 2015. 
Effective for tax periods commenced on or after 1 January 
2016, this law amended the tax regime to establish the 
aforementioned conversion, set new conditions for avai-
ling of the regime and introduced certain reporting obli-
gations with respect to the deferred tax assets affected 
by the regulation. It also provided for a transitional regi-
me applicable to deferred tax assets generated before 1 
January 2016, whereby the right to conversion could be 
retained provided certain conditions were met, although 
to do so a financial contribution had to be paid, which was 
regulated by the new additional provision thirteen of the 
CIT Law. 

Royal Decree-Law 3/2016 of 2 December 2016 

Lastly, Royal Decree-Law 3/2016 of 2 December 2016, 
adopting tax measures to consolidate public finances 
and other urgent social measures, must be considered. 
This legislation provides that impairment losses on in-
vestments that were tax deductible for tax periods up to 
2013 but not thereafter must be reversed at a minimum 
annual amount on a straight-line basis over a five-year 
period. 

Regarding tax periods commenced on or after 1 January 
2016, this legislation places a limit of 25% on the offset of 
taxable income against prior years’ tax loss carryforwards 
for companies with revenue of at least Euros 60 million. The 
same restrictions apply to the reversal of deferred tax assets 
provided for in article 11.12 of the CIT Law. In addition, this 
Royal Decree-Law places a new limit on the application of 
deductions for double taxation, specifically 50% of the full 
income tax charge, and any unused portion may be applied 
in future tax periods under the same terms and conditions 
and with no time limit. 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Adaptation of corporate income tax regulations to Circular 4/2017 

With regard to Circular 4/2017 and the terminology and 
credit risk loss model adopted therein, notably the deducti-
bility criteria are set out in the corporate income tax regula-
tions, which thus far have not been adapted. 

However, the introduction to the RDL states the following: 
“Lastly, until approval is given for adaptation of the regula-
tory provisions for credit risk allowances and provisions of 
financial institutions, the provisions currently in force are 
considered to be applicable, albeit under the terms used in 
the new Circular.” 

Details of these consolidated income statement headings 
are as follows: 

apply, thus the deferral in three equal parts does not give 
rise to monetisable deferred tax assets.  

Such inclusion in equal parts shall continue to apply even 
if the element in question is derecognised. Only if the tax-
payer is dissolved during the aforementioned three-year 
period shall the remaining amount be included in the tax 
base of the last tax period, unless it is dissolved as a result 
of a restructuring operation eligible for the tax neutrality 
regime.  

In accordance with this legislation, the Group included an 
amount of Euros 328 thousand during the year (Euros 328 
thousand in 2018). A further Euros 328 thousand have yet 
to be included.  

Accounting for equity instruments under IFRS 9 (article 17.1 
of the TRLIS) 

Under the new regulations, investments in equity instru-
ments must be measured at fair value through profit or 
loss unless the entity elects irrevocably at inception to 
present these fair value changes in other comprehensive 
income. If this option is elected, a major change in IFRS 9 
is that gains or losses accumulated in other comprehen-
sive income are not reclassified to consolidated profit or 
loss on disposal (as was the case previously with availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets), but rather to reserves.  

Accordingly, to guarantee their inclusion in the tax 
base upon disposal, the RDL amends article 17.1 of the 
Corporate Income Tax Law, such that changes in value 
arising from the application of the fair value criterion 
are not only included when they are to be taken to con-
solidated profit or loss, but also when they should be 
recognised in a reserve account where stipulated by a 
legal or regulatory standard.  

XXIV
INCOME 

STATEMENT 

24.1. Interest income, Interest expenses, 
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities
(net) and Impairment losses (net) 
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Fee and commission income and fee and commission 
expenses in the accompanying consolidated income state-
ment reflect the amount of all fees and commissions recei-
ved, paid and payable by the Group accrued during the year, 
except those forming an integral part of the effective inte-
rest rate on financial instruments. The recognition criteria 
for these items are set forth in note 3.17. 

Details of fee and commission income or expenses in 2019 
and 2018, by concept, are as follows: 

Details for 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
La composición del saldo de este epígrafe de la cuenta de 

pérdidas y ganancias consolidada de los ejercicios 2019 y 
2018, es la siguiente:

Interest income  

Interest expenses 

       Loans and advances to other debtors (note 12.3)  36,337 32,717

       Deposits from other creditors (note 18.3)  (5,940) (7,133)

       Other interest  338 17

       Deposits at central banks (note 8.1)  1,306 1,330

       Deposits from central banks (note 18.1)  (278) (394)

        Debt securities (notes 10.1, 11.1 and 12.1)  17,078 19,176

        Rectification of expenses as a result of hedging transactions  (521) (188)

Total 55,443 54,081

Total (7,189) (7,752)

       Deposits at credit institutions (note 12.2)                      136 171

       Deposits from credit institutions (note 18.2)  (355) (34)

       Non-performing assets  248 670

       Other interest  (95) (3)

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities (net) 

Impairment losses (net) 

       Other  1,633 (559)

        Financial assets held for trading  625 288

        Financial assets at amortised cost (note 12.4)             5,034 6,952

        Financial assets and financial liabilities not measured  
        at fair value through profit or loss, net 1,503 (273)

       Non-current assets held for sale (note 14)                  (68) 318

Total 3,761 (544)

Total 4,074 6,763

       Other instruments at fair value through 
       profit or loss                         -            -

       Financial assets at fair value through other 
       comprehensive income (note 11.3) (892) (507)

24.2. Fees and commissions 

Thousands of Euros

Fee and commission income 

Fees and commissions assigned to other entities and correspondents  (1,661) (1,864)
Fee and commission expenses 

Securities services  2,502 4,411

Other fees and commissions  106 530

Contingent exposures and commitments  511 552

Fee and commission expenses on securities transactions  (877) (1,082)

Asset management 
(note 22.4)  8,109 6,797

Total 13,132 14,395

Total (4,318) (4,367)

Collection and payment service  1,904 2,105

Other fees and commissions  (1,780) (1,421)

2019 2018

24.3. Other operating income and expenses 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Thousands of Euros

Details of this consolidated income statement heading in 
2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

The number of employees in the Group in 2019 and 2018 
and their distribution by professional category and gender 
are as follows: 

Thousands of Euros

24.4. Personnel expenses 

Income from investment property (see note 16)  516 500

Other operating income  4,969 4,040

Total 5,485 4,540

2019Other operating income 

Other operating expenses 

2018

Contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund 
(note 2.6)  (1,775) (1,627)

Other items  (375) (278)

Contribution to the Single Resolution Fund (note 2.6)  (975) (953)

Total (3,125) (2,858)

Salaries and bonuses of serving personnel  (19,585) (17,233)

Termination benefits                                (752)            (1,647)

Social Security contributions  (4,215) (3,949)

Training expenses  (146) (130)

Total (25,912) (23,813)

Contributions to pension funds  (482) (193)

Other personnel expenses   (732) (661)

2019 2018
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In 2019 the Group had one employee with a disability ra-
ting of 33% or more. 

Details of this consolidated income statement heading are 
as follows: 

20182019

No. at year end No. at year end

Senior management  7  2 9 8 2 10

Management and qualified personnel  110 73  183 105  70  175

 202 151 353 198 143 341
Other administrative and sales personnel  85  76 161 85 71 156

Male MaleFemale FemaleTotal Total

24.5. Other administrative expenses 

Property, fixtures and materials  (2,843) (2,460)

Advertising and publicity  (1,094) (666)

Governing and control bodies  (422) (432)

       Other  (1,568) (641)

Information technology  (7,679) (6,899)

Surveillance and security carriage services  (1,036) (666)

Contributions and taxes      

Legal and lawyer expenses  (424) (455)

Entertainment and staff travel expenses  (473) (424)

Other expenses  (1,331) (1,394)

Total (21,441) (18,939)

Communications   (679) (1,616)

Insurance and self-insurance premiums  (896) (334)

       Property  (111) (177)

Technical reports  (2,237) (2,127)

Outsourced administrative services  (438) (520)

Association membership fees  (210) (128)

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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The Group’s balances and transactions with related parties 
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

In 2019, loans and credit facilities extended to members of 
the board of directors and their related parties accrued an-
nual interest ranging from 0.13% to 5.25% (annual interest 
ranging from 0.23% to 5% in 2018).  

The members of the board of directors of the Parent recei-
ved the following allowances in their capacity as directors in 
2019 and 2018: 

XXV

XXVI

RELATED
PARTIES 

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND KEY 

MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL, 
PENSION OBLIGATIONS TO 

SERVING AND FORMER 
MEMBERS OF THE BANK’S 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS 

ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS 

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT OR LOSS 

Loans and advances  8,278 7,174

Deposits  62,097 47,843

Guarantees given  737 180

Income:  

Expenses:   

Contingent commitments  1 1

Interest, similar income and other  280 47

Interest expenses and fee and commission expenses  271 255

(*) Includes balances receivable from and payable to members of the board of directors and com-
panies related thereto.    

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros

Other related parties  (*)

26.1. Remuneration of the board of directors 
and senior management 
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In 2019 and 2018, the members of the board of directors did 
not receive any other form of remuneration from the Bank, ex-
cept that received by the chairman and the managing director as 
employees of the Parent. 

In addition, the Entity or the natural persons who represent 
it received remuneration of Euros 83 thousand in 2019 for 
their management of other companies (Euros 103 thousand 
in 2018). 

The Parent considers key management personnel to be the 
steering committee, comprising the managing director, six ge-
neral managers, a general secretary and a general management 
equivalent, the general manager of internal control, corporate 
governance and supervisor relations, six of whom are registered 
with the Banco de España, and whose combined total remune-
ration amounted to Euros 1,580 thousand in 2019 (in 2018 the 
Entity considered key management personnel to consist of the 
executive chairman, the managing director, three general ma-
nagers registered with the Banco de España, and an equivalent, 
whose combined total remuneration amounted to Euros 1,162 
thousand). 

In addition, premiums totalling Euros 960 thousand were paid 
to insurance companies in respect of pension obligations (group 
life insurance policy) in 2019 (Euros 132 thousand in 2018). A cor-
porate employee benefits plan is also in place for key personnel, 
which has been endowed in an amount of Euros 3,160 thousand 
to date (Euros 2 thousand in 2018). 

Public liability insurance premiums of Euros 59 thousand were 
paid in 2019 on behalf of the Parent’s directors to cover potential 
damage or loss caused in the performance of their duties (Euros 
53 thousand in 2018). 

The Parent has no commitments to pay termination benefits 
over and above the statutory amount in the event of dismissals. 

Euros

Mateo Velasco Arranz  23,100 1,403 24,503

José Polimón López  47,300 1,403 48,703

Luis Maria Ortega Basagoiti  21,100 1,403 22,503

Enrique Serra González  7,200 1,403 8,603

TOTAL  199,777 11,381 211,158

Socorro Fernández Larrea  16,500 1,403 17,903

Francisco Gil Fernandez  34,000 1,403 35,403

Ana Villacañas Beades  32,300 1,403 33,703

Alfonso Costa Cuadrench  6,400 - 6,400

Manuel Jodar Casanova  11,877 1,560 13,437

Remunera-
tion in kind 

Remunera-
tion in cash 2019

Total remu-
neration 

Mateo Velasco Arranz  18,300 1,440 19,740

José Polimón López  39,000 1,440 40,440

Juan Luis López Cardenete  17,800 - 17,800

Luis Maria Ortega Basagoiti  14,200 1,440 15,640

Enrique Serra González  29,100 1,440 30,540

TOTAL  211,500 11,520 223,020

Socorro Fernández Larrea  2,000 1,440 3,440

Francisco Gil Fernandez  42,400 1,440 43,840

Ana Villacañas Beades  15,500 1,440 16,940

Alfonso Costa Cuadrench  11,100 1,440 12,540

José Manuel Oñoro Perez  22,100 - 22,100

2018

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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Pursuant to Ministry of Economy Order ECO/734/2004 
of 11 March 2004 on customer service departments and 
the financial institution ombudsman, and article 25 of 
the Parent’s Customer Ombudsman Regulations, the fo-
llowing is stated:  

A total of four complaints and 51 claims were received in 
2019, all of which were answered by the Customer Service 
Department and the Customer Ombudsman, in keeping 
with the Regulations. Of the total number of claims, 13 
were not accepted for processing. Of the total number of 
complaints, three were not resolved in favour of the cus-
tomer. Of the total number of claims accepted for proces-
sing, five were resolved in favour of the customer and 33 
were not resolved in favour of the customer. Moreover, 
three claims required a total payment of Euros 33,547.05 
to be made to customers. In 2019, one decision was re-
viewed by the Spanish National Securities Market Com-
mission (CNMV), which ruled in favour of Banco Caminos, 
S.A., inasmuch as the latter indicated in its reply that the 
customer claim had been resolved. 

A total of 117 complaints and claims (four complaints 
and 113 claims) were received in 2018, all of which were 
processed and reported on by the Customer Service De-
partment; 96 were ruled on and answered directly by the 
Customer Service Department and 21 were handled by 

As required by article 229 of the Spanish Companies Act, 
the directors have informed the Bank that in 2019 they or 
their related parties as defined in 231 of the Spanish Com-
panies Act: 

Did not carry out transactions with the Entity other 
than those conducted in the ordinary course of busi-
ness under standard client terms and for insignificant 
amounts, understood as transactions for which repor-
ting is not necessary to give a true and fair view of the 
equity, financial position and financial performance of 
the Entity. 

Did not use the name of the Entity or refer to their offi-
ce as directors to bring undue influence to bear on pri-
vate transactions. 

Did not use the Entity’s assets, including confidential in-
formation of the Entity, for personal purposes. 
   
Did not take advantage of the Entity’s business oppor-
tunities. 

Did not obtain advantages or remuneration from third 
parties other than the Entity and its Group in connec-
tion with the discharge of their duties, other than mere 
courtesy items. 

Did not carry out activities, on their own behalf or on 
behalf of third parties, that would effectively entail en-
tering into one-off or potential competition with the En-
tity or that would in any way give rise to a permanent 
conflict of interest with the Entity. 

26.2. Conflicts of interest concerning 
the directors of the Entity XXVII

OTHER 
INFORMATION 

27.1. Customer services 
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The Group does not have any greenhouse gas emission 
allowances. 

The Group paid the following fees for the audit of its ac-
counts, irrespective of the invoice date, and for other ser-
vices during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

The services commissioned from its auditor by the Group 
meet the independence requirements stipulated in current 
legislation on the audit of accounts and do not include the 
performance of work not deemed compatible with the audit 
function. 

the Customer Ombudsman, in keeping with the Regula-
tions. One claim required the Group to pay a total sum of 
Euros 6,849.38 to customers. Five claims were brought by 
customers to the Banco de España, which duly ruled on 
them. 

The Group did not have any “agency agreements”, as defi-
ned in article 22 of Royal Decree 1245/1995 of 14 July 1995, 
at either the 2019 or 2018 reporting date or at any time du-
ring those years. 

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank held 5% or more 
of the equity or voting rights of the following domestic or 
foreign credit institutions: 

Given the activity in which the Group engages, it has no en-
vironmental liabilities, expenses, assets, provisions or con-
tingencies that could have a significant effect on its equity, 
financial position or results. Therefore, no specific disclosu-
res relating to environmental matters are included in these 
notes to the consolidated annual accounts.  

27.2. Agency agreements 

27.3. Equity investments in credit institutions 

27.5. Audit fees  

Bancofar, S.A. 82.62 81.38

2019 2018
%

Thousands of Euros

Thousands of Euros

KPMG Auditores, S.L.  107 - 107

Ernst & Young  105 49 154

Other firms   38 32 70

Other firms   50 - 50

Total  145 32 177

Total  155 49 204

Other 
services

Other 
services

Audit of 
the annual
accounts 

Audit of 
the annual
accounts 

2019

2018

Total

Total

27.4. Environmental impact and greenhouse 
gas emission allowances 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had no com-
mitments other than those disclosed in the preceding notes. 

The most significant operations conducted by the Group 
are fundamentally the activities typically befitting financial 
institutions. Therefore, its operations are not substantially 
affected by seasonal factors. 

In 2019 and 2018, Banco Caminos, S.A. had 3,515,530 
shares. Individual earnings of the Parent were approxima-
tely Euros 2.40 per share in 2019 and Euros 2.33 per share 
in 2018. Group profit attributable to owners of the Parent 
amounts to approximately Euros 3.17 and Euros 3.23 per 
share in 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

These amounts reflect both basic and diluted earnings per 
share, as there are no instruments that could potentially be 
considered ordinary shares. 

The Group has no unclaimed balances as described in article 
18 of Law 33/2003 of 3 November 2003 on the assets of public 
administrations.  

Law 15/2010, amending Law 3/2004 of 29 December 2004 
introducing measures to combat late payment in commer-
cial transactions, was published on 5 July 2010.  

Among other matters, this legislation eliminates scope 
for “agreements between the parties”, which allowed the 
supplier payment period to be extended. It comes in res-
ponse to the financial ramifications of the economic crisis 
on all sectors, which was leading to an increase in payment 
defaults, delays and deferrals in the settlement of invoices, 
with an especially severe impact for small and medium-si-
zed companies due to their high dependence on short-term 
credit, all compounded by the liquidity crunch. In addition, in 
order to address these issues, the law sets a maximum pay-
ment period between companies of 60 calendar days from 
the date the goods are delivered or the services rendered, 
which took effect on 1 January 2013. 

The table below provides the disclosures required under 
additional provision three of Law 15/2010 using the tem-
plates provided in the Resolution issued by the Spanish Ac-
counting and Auditing Institute (ICAC) on 29 January 2016 
regarding the information to be disclosed in the notes to the 
annual accounts in relation to the average supplier payment 
period in commercial transactions: 

27.6. Unclaimed balances and deposits 

27.8. Other commitments 

27.9. Seasonal nature of operations 

27.10. Earnings per share 

27.7. Average supplier payment period  

Average supplier payment period  27.30 17.81

Total payments made  32,897 20,701

Transactions paid ratio  28 18

Total payments outstanding  762 661

Transactions payable ratio  17 111

2019 2018
Days

Thousands of Euros
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On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation decla-
red the outbreak of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) 
to be a pandemic, due to its rapid spread across the glo-
be, having affected over 150 countries. The majority of go-
vernments are taking restrictive measures to contain the 
spread, including: isolation, confinement, quarantine and 
restrictions on the free movement of people, the closure 
of public and private premises (except for basic necessities 
and health services), border closures and a drastic reduc-
tion in air, sea, rail and land transport. In Spain, the gover-
nment enacted Royal Decree 463/2020 of 14 March 2020, 
declaring a state of emergency to manage the health crisis 
triggered by COVID-19, which, a priori, will remain in force 
for 15 calendar days. 

   
This situation is having a significant impact on the global 

economy due to the interruption or slowdown of supply 
chains and the substantial increase in economic uncertain-
ty, evidenced by greater volatility in asset prices and ex-
change rates, and a drop in long-term interest rates. 

To mitigate the economic impacts of this crisis, on Wed-
nesday 18 March 2020, Royal Decreelaw 8/2020 of 17 
March 2020 on extraordinary urgent measures to address 
the economic and social impact of COVID-19 was published 
in Spain. 

The consequences derived from COVID-19 are conside-
red an event after the reporting period that does not re-

The other consolidated public disclosures required under 
Banco de España Circular 4/2017 are provided below: 

The Group’s balances at 31 December 2019 and 2018 
in respect of refinancing and restructuring transactions 
are provided in note 7.1.3. 

Note 7.1.2 includes the disclosures regarding loans ex-
tended by credit institutions for the financing of real 
estate construction and property development and for 
housing purchases (business in Spain) at 31 December 
2019 and 2018. 

Note 7.1.2 also provides the disclosures regarding as-
sets foreclosed or received in payment of debt by the 
group of credit institutions (business in Spain) at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018. 

The breakdown of loans to other debtors by activity at 
31 December 2019 and 2018 is provided in note 7.1.1. 

The concentration of exposures by activity and geogra-
phical area at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is disclosed 
in note 7.1.1. 

27.11. Other consolidated public disclosures required 
under Banco de España Circular 4/2017 XXVIII

EVENTS AFTER 
THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Consolidated Annual Accounts
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quire an adjustment in the consolidated annual accounts 
for 2019, but must be disclosed in the consolidated annual 
accounts for 2020. 

While there have been no consequences at the date on 
which the consolidated annual accounts were authorised 
for issue, the Group considers that significant events may 
occur in the future, essentially stemming from a potential 
decline in the solvency and liquidity of its customers and, 
thus, in their payment capacity. This could have an adver-
se impact on the Group’s interest income and impairment 
of its financial assets, and therefore on its pre-tax profit, 
which cannot be reliably estimated at present. 

However, the Group considers that the measures recent-
ly implemented through Royal DecreeLaw 8/2020 and by 
the European Central Bank will serve to mitigate the impact 
of COVID-19 on households and companies. Therefore, the 
Group’s medium- and long-term solvency and liquidity is 
not expected to be significantly affected. 

Between the reporting date and the date on which these 
consolidated annual accounts were authorised for issue no 
other events having a significant effect hereon took place 
that have not been disclosed herein.  



APPENDIX I

Appendix I forms an integral part of note 15 to the 
consolidated annual accounts of the Banco Caminos 
Group for 2019. 

APPENDIX I
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Gespensión Caminos, 
E.G.F.P., S.A. U.  C/ Fernando el Santo, 3 - 100.00 9,203 499 11,692 254 - 

Gestifonsa, S.G.I.I.C., S.A.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 - 100.00 694 501 3,874 379 -  CIU management 

Servifonsa, A.I.E.  C/ Almagro, 8 87.27 12.73 250 - 250 - - Administrative, financial 
         and accounting services 

Maxlan, S.A.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 100.00 - 14,522 (178) 18,859 - - Land development, management, 
         purchase and sale 

Sistemcam, S.A.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 - 100.00 602 127 1,285 - - IT services 

2019
SUBSIDIARIES 

Gabinete de Estudio y Gestión 
Jurídica, S.A.  C/ Almagro, 8 64.76 35.24 16,099 50 29,924  -

Bancofar, S.A.  C/ Fortuny, 51 82.62 - 44,352 3,657 97,371 1,462 - Credit institution

Corporación Banco Caminos, S.L.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 100.00 - 30,000 5,241 34,742 - - Asset acquisition and 
holding

Investment fund 
management 

Asset acquisition, 
management and sale 

FAM Caminos, S.A.  C/ Almagro, 42 - 80.00 5,382 1,102 5,551 131 - Related insurance 
         broker 

DirectCompany 
Registered 

office Indirect
Carrying 
amount

Profit/(loss) 
for 2019

Other
equity

Supple-
mentary Interim Activity

% Thousands of Euros

DividendsPercentage ownership 
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2018
SUBSIDIARIES 

Gabinete de Estudio y Gestión 
Jurídica, S.A.  C/ Almagro, 8 64.76 35.24 24,874 15 29,888  -

Bancofar, S.A.  C/ Fortuny, 51 81.38 - 43,150 3,593 95,574 1,259 - Credit institution

Gefonsa, S.V., S.A.U.  C/ Fernando el Santo, 3 - 100.00 3,585 61 8,526 202 - Securities company 

Corporación Banco Caminos, S.L.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 100.00 - 30,000 725 34,017 - - Asset acquisition and 
holding

Asset acquisition, 
management and sale 

Gespensión Caminos, 
E.G.F.P., S.A. U.  C/ Fernando el Santo, 3 - 100.00 9,203 635 11,311 369 - 

FAM Caminos, S.A.  C/ Almagro, 42 - 80.00 5,384 817 4,903 153 - Related insurance 
         broker 

Gestifonsa, S.G.I.I.C., S.A.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 - 100.00 694 758 3,495 582 - CIU 
         management 

Servifonsa, A.I.E.  C/ Almagro, 8 87.27 12.73 250 - 250 - -  Administrative, financial  
         and accounting services 

Maxlan, S.A.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 100.00 - 14,522 161 14,698 - -  Land development, management, 
         purchase and sale 

Sistemcam, S.A.U.  C/ Almagro, 8 - 100.00 602 89 1,196 - - IT services 

DirectCompany 
Registered 

office Indirect
Carrying 
amount

Profit/(loss) 
for 2018

Other
equity

Supple-
mentary Interim Activity

% Thousands of Euros

DividendsPercentage ownership 

Investment fund 
management 
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Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits  160,774 170,483

Financial liabilities at amortised cost  2,669,967 2,485,180

Shareholders’ equity  150,106 142,424

Loan commitments given  62,741 58,454

Financial assets held for trading  3,759 974

Derivatives - hedge accounting  7,530 1,641

Accumulated other comprehensive income  11,849 16,179

Financial guarantees given  13,462 17,267

Other commitments given  44,079 43,318

TOTAL ASSETS   2,858,752 2,666,712

Other assets   4,112 585

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale  413 391

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss  92,874 69,879

Provisions  9,343 7,497

TOTAL EQUITY  161,955 158,603

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income   1,118,465 1,162,405

Tax liabilities  5,392 9,979

Other liabilities  4,565 3,812

TOTAL EQUITY AND TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,858,752 2,666,712

Financial assets at amortised cost   1,347,428 1,148,527

TOTAL LIABILITIES   2,696,797 2,508,109

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk   7,488 1,607

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates   100,291 98,843

Tangible assets   14,862 1,161

Intangible assets  1,225 -

Tax assets   7,061 11,857

2019ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 

EQUITY 

MEMORANDUM ITEM: OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 

2018

Balance sheets at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

The summary separate balance sheets of Banco Caminos, S.A. 
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Thousands of Euros
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Thousands of Euros

Interest income  33,136 33,375

(Interest expenses) (4,190) (5,487)

(Other operating expenses)  (2,262) (2,052)

 Other operating income  1,362 763

Exchange differences [gain or (-) loss], net  195 233

Gains or (-) losses from hedge accounting, net  (7) -

(Tax expense or (-) income related to profit or loss from continuing operations)  (2,784) (2,578)

Gains or (-) losses on non-trading financial assets mandatorily 
at fair value through profit or loss, net 1,624 (551)

C) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  11,217 10,778

A) NET INTEREST INCOME  28,946 27,888

B) GROSS INCOME  38,265 30,679

Dividend income  1,542 1,488

(Administrative expenses)  (27,202) (22,937)

Fee and commission income  6,856 4,975

(Depreciation and amortisation)  (2,029) (228)

D) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  8,433 8,200

(Fee and commission expenses)  (2,116) (2,162)

(Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions)  986 139

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates) 73 (243)

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on non-financial assets)  - -

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of non-financial assets, net  (133) (21)

Negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss  - -

Profit or (-) loss after tax from discontinued operations  - -

Gains or (-) losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, net 1,503 (255)

Gains or (-) losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net  622 352

(Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss and modification losses or (-) gains, net) 1,236 3,389

Profit or (-) loss from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying 
as discontinued operations  22 -

E) PROFIT OR (-) LOSS FOR THE YEAR  8,433 8,200

2019 2018

Balance sheets at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

The summary separate income statements of Banco Caminos, S.A. for the 
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

137
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Thousands of Euros

Balance sheets at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

The summary statements of recognised income and expense of Banco Caminos, 
S.A. for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Profit for the year  8,433 8,200

Other comprehensive income  (4,331) (7,603)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - -

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss  (4,331) (7,603)

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income  (6,185) (10,861)

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or (-) loss  1,856 3,258

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,103 597

2019 2018

138
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Balance sheets at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

The summary statements of total changes in equity of Banco Caminos, S.A. for 
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Opening balance 2018  27,491 29,028 - - 70,415 - - (368) 7,867 - 23,782 158,215

Opening balance 2019  27,491 29,028 - - 78,309 - - (604) 8,200 - 16,179 158,603

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - - - - - - 8,200 - (7,603) 597

Other changes in equity  - - - - 7,894 - - (236) (7,867) - - (209)

Purchase of treasury shares  - - - - - - - (4,865) - - - (4,865)

Effects of changes in accounting policies  - - - - - - - - - - - -

Other changes in equity  - - - - 8,237 - - (788) (8,200) - - (751)

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - - - - - - 8,433 - (4,330) 4,103

Purchase of treasury shares  - - - - - - - (829) - - - (829)

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares  - - - - 37 - - 41 - - - 78

Sale or cancellation of treasury shares  - - - - 27 - - 4,629 - - - 4,656

Transfers among components of equity  - - - - 8,200 - - - (8,200) - - -

Transfers among components of equity  - - - - 7,867 - - - (7,867) - - -

Closing balance 2019  27,491 29,028 - - 86,546 - - (1,392) 8,433 - 11,848 161,955

Closing balance 2018  27,491 29,028 - - 78,309 - - (604) 8,200 - 16,179 158,603
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Balance sheets at 31 December 2019 and 2018 

The summary statements of cash flows of Banco Caminos, S.A. for the years en-
ded 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Appendix II forms an integral part of note 2.4 to the consolidated annual accounts of the Banco Caminos 
Group for 2019. 

A) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  10,625 8,049

Profit for the year  8,433 8,200

Cash  962 1,074

Adjustments to obtain cash flows from operating activities  2,029 (3,892)

Cash equivalents at central banks  96,929 145,637

B) CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (18,417) (1,033)

C) CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (1,917) (209)

D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS  - -

E) NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D)  (9,709) 6,807

F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD  170,483 163,676

G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD  160,774 170,483

MEMORANDUM ITEM: COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 

Net increase/decrease in operating assets  (186,126) (132,904)

Other financial assets  62,883 23,772

Less: bank overdrafts repayable on demand  - -

Payments  (25,912) (1,195)

Payments  (1,954) (4,865)

Net increase/decrease in operating liabilities  186,289 139,749

Receipts 7,495 162

Receipts 37 4,656

Income tax received/paid  - (3,104)

2019 2018

Thousands of Euros
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c) Number of full-time employees 

The return on assets, calculated as net profit divided by the 
Group’s total consolidated balance sheet, was 0.34% at 31 De-
cember 2019 (0.37% in 2018).

Thousands of Euros

Number of employees

The information required to comply with the provisions of 
article 87.1 of Law 10/2014 of 26 June 2014, on the regula-
tion, supervision and solvency of credit institutions, is provi-
ded below. 

a) Name, nature of activities and geographical location 
of the Group 

The standard and regular business activity of Banco Ca-
minos, S.A. is to receive funds from the public in the 
form of deposits, loans, financial assets temporarily 
transferred under repurchase agreements or other si-
milar instruments that entail repayment obligations, 
and uses such funds to grant loans, credit facilities and 
other similar operations to serve the financial needs 
of customers. Thus, it may carry out all types of asset, 
liability and service transactions that credit institutions 
are entitled to perform. Although the Entity primarily 
conducts its operations throughout Spain, it may also 
perform abroad such operations as are legally permi-
tted. The Bank carries out its activities through three 
offices located in Madrid and Barcelona.  

The statutory activity of Bancofar, S.A. is banking, to 
which end it has 29 branches located throughout Spain 
at 31 December 2019. 

b) Turnover, profit before tax, tax on profit and public 
subsidies received (data for the consolidated Group) 

BANCO CAMINOS, S.A. AND ITS CONSOLIDATED GROUP 
ANNUAL BANKING REPORT 

Interest and similar income  55,443 54,081

Profit before tax  17,740 17,602

Tax on profit  (5,535) (5,113)

Public subsidies received  - -

2019 2018

Number of full-time employees  353 341

2019 2018
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Rising global uncertainty was the trademark of 2019, 
stemming not only from the possible Brexit outcome and 
the intense trade war between the US and China (and 
the EU, albeit to a lesser extent), but also due to growing 
political and social instability in many countries worldwi-
de, particularly in the Middle East (Iran, Iraq, Lebanon) 
and Latin America, while not overlooking the situation in 
Hong Kong.  

This scenario has been detrimental to trade and global 
economic activity, prompting a continuous downward revi-
sion of growth prospects throughout 2019.  

Within this environment, central banks opted to put off 
normalising their monetary policy in 2019, even backtrac-
king in some cases. The Fed cut interest rates again, on three 
occasions, and the ECB is holding off on rate increases until 
at least 2021, even reviving the asset purchase programme. 
At their last meetings in December, however, neither institu-
tion had made any changes to their monetary policy. Central 
banks put their ultra-expansive monetary policy decisions 
down to the economic scenario, with loss of momentum, 
an absence of inflationary pressure and the risk of declining 
global growth setting the tone.    

Meanwhile, the Spanish economy continued to slack off, 
closing 2019 at a growth rate of 2%.   

Benchmark interest rates were highly volatile in 2019, dro-
pping most notably in July and August, with year-end rates 
ultimately lower than those posted at the start of the year. 
Amidst this interest rate scenario, credit institutions are fa-
ced with the difficult challenge of preserving their operating 
margins.  

In the current setting, the Banco Caminos-Bancofar Group 
has to compete not only with other credit institutions, but 
also with non-financial players. We must therefore whole-
heartedly turn to innovation and digitalisation in order to 
address our customers’ needs. 

The persistence of ultra-low or zero interest rates spelled 
another challenging year for the banks. While sustained eco-
nomic recovery has paved the way for a pick-up in demand 
and consumption and a gradual reduction in asset non-per-
formance, in contrast, interest margins remain at quasi-mi-
nimum levels, forcing banks to eke out efficiency gains at 
multiple levels, specifically including digital transformation.    

The Banco Caminos-Bancofar Group has navigated this 
scenario, producing positive results in terms of growth while 
continuing to successfully execute its Strategic Plan, marked 
by technological advancement and personnel development, 
in a bid to broaden its spectrum of recurring banking busi-
ness lines, adapted to the needs of our customers.  

  
Profit before tax for 2019 amounted to Euros 17,740 thou-

sand, up 0.8% on the prior year, and down 2.27% in terms of 
post-tax profit. 

Balance sheet assets continued to increase at a rate simi-
lar to that posted in 2018 to stand at Euros 3,631,882 thou-
sand, denoting growth of Euros 231,383 thousand in abso-
lute terms.   

Liabilities also grew at a very similar rate in absolute ter-
ms, climbing Euros 225,812 thousand (7.15%) from Euros 
3,159,107 thousand in the prior year to close 2019 at Euros 
3,384,919 thousand.  

CONSOLIDATED DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2019 
BANCO CAMINOS, S.A. AND ITS CONSOLIDATED GROUP 
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At their meeting held on 3 April 2020, the members of the 
board of directors of Banco Caminos, S.A. authorised the 
issuance of the annual accounts and directors’ report for 
2019, wherein it is stated that the aforementioned docu-
ments were prepared in accordance with the financial prin-
ciples applicable to the Entity and that they give a true and 
fair view of the equity, financial position and financial perfor-
mance of Banco Caminos, S.A. and its consolidated Group. 

The greatest advancement was seen in deposits from cre-
dit institutions, which were up Euros 145,003 thousand in 
2019 compared to 2018, followed by demand deposits from 
other creditors, which contributed Euros 71,490 thousand 
that served to offset the Euros 10,798 thousand decline in 
fixed-term deposits.  

Lastly, profit after tax amounted to Euros 12,205 thou-
sand, and equity climbed 5.16% to Euros 216,228 thousand 
as a result.  

The Group’s continuous effort to manage and monitor its 
non-performing loans, which represent 4.46%, should also 
be highlighted; this effort is expected to remain one of the 
Entity’s key drivers in 2020. The coverage ratio, meanwhile, 
stands at a similar level to the sector average.   

The healthy trend in the above indicators helped to conso-
lidate the substantial climb in the Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 
1) capital ratio seen in the previous year at a rate of around 
14%. This satisfactory high level in absolute terms provides 
the Entity with reasonable assurance regarding its ability to 
consolidate the foundations for higher growth in the years 
to come.  

Details of transactions involving Banco Caminos, S.A. tre-
asury shares are provided in the accompanying statement 
of changes in equity for 2019. The disclosures regarding 
risk management through financial instruments are presen-
ted in note 7 to the accompanying consolidated annual ac-
counts, while details of the average supplier payment period 
are provided in note 27.7. The Bank did not conduct any re-
search and development work in 2019 or 2018. 



145
BANCO CAMINOS

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared 
the outbreak of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) to be 
a pandemic, due to its rapid spread across the globe, having 
affected over 150 countries. The majority of governments are 
taking restrictive measures to contain the spread, including: 
isolation, confinement, quarantine and restrictions on the 
free movement of people, the closure of public and private 
premises (except for basic necessities and health services), 
border closures and a drastic reduction in air, sea, rail and 
land transport. In Spain, the government enacted Royal De-
cree 463/2020 of 14 March 2020, declaring a state of emer-
gency to manage the health crisis triggered by COVID-19, 
which, a priori, will remain in force for 15 calendar days. 

This situation is having a significant impact on the global 
economy due to the interruption or slowdown of supply 
chains and the substantial increase in economic uncertainty, 
evidenced by greater volatility in asset prices and exchange 
rates, and a drop in long-term interest rates. 

To mitigate the economic impacts of this crisis, on Wednes-
day 18 March 2020, Royal Decreelaw 8/2020 of 17 March 2020 
on extraordinary urgent measures to address the economic 
and social impact of COVID-19 was published in Spain. 

The consequences derived from COVID-19 are considered 
an event after the reporting period that does not require an 
adjustment in the consolidated annual accounts for 2019, but 
must be disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts for 
2020. 

While there have been no consequences at the date on 
which the consolidated annual accounts were authorised for 
issue, the Group considers that significant events may occur 

in the future, essentially stemming from a potential decline in 
the solvency and liquidity of its customers and, thus, in their 
payment capacity. This could have an adverse impact on the 
Group’s interest income and impairment of its financial as-
sets, and therefore on its pre-tax profit, which cannot be relia-
bly estimated at present. 

Between the reporting date and the date on which these 
consolidated annual accounts were authorised for issue no 
other events having a significant effect hereon took place that 
have not been disclosed herein. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 
AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
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